SLEEP: A CORE PILLAR OF HEALTH AND WELLBEING

Improving population sleep health to reduce preventable illness and injury – **Policy Evidence Review**

October 2023

Stella McNamara, Tyler Nichols, Sarah Dash, Maximilian de Courten, Rosemary Calder





About us

The Mitchell Institute for Education and Health Policy at Victoria University is one of the country's leading education and health policy think tanks and trusted thought leaders. Our focus is on improving our education and health systems so more Australians can engage with and benefit from these services, supporting a healthier, fairer and more productive society.

The Australian Health Policy Collaboration (AHPC) is led by the Mitchell Institute at Victoria University and brings together leading health organisations and chronic disease experts to translate rigorous research into good policy. The national collaboration has developed health targets and indicators for preventable chronic diseases designed to contribute to reducing the health impacts of chronic conditions on the Australian population.

Acknowledgements

The Mitchell Institute wishes to acknowledge the collaboration with the Sleep Health Foundation and its members and with members of the Australasian Sleep Association that has supported this project. We particularly acknowledge the contributions of members of the project expert working group (EWG) who gave generously of their expertise and time to guide and inform the development of the document:

- **Dr Moira Junge,** CEO, Sleep Health Foundation; Adjunct Clinical Associate Professor, Monash University
- **Professor Shantha Rajaratnam,** Chair, Sleep Health Foundation; Professor of Sleep and Circadian Medicine, Monash University; Head, Monash School of Psychological Sciences; Deputy Director, Turner Institute for Brain and Mental Health
- **Professor Robert Adams,** Professor of Respiratory and Sleep Medicine and Medical Director, Adelaide Institute for Sleep Health, Flinders University; Consultant Physician, Respiratory and Sleep Service, Southern Adelaide Local Health Network
- **Professor Sean P.A. Drummond,** Professor of Clinical Neuroscience and Director, Research Programs and Infrastructure, School of Psychological Sciences and Turner Institute for Brain and Mental Health, Monash University
- **Professor Peter Cistulli**, Professor of Sleep Medicine, Charles Perkins Centre and Northern Clinical School, University of Sydney; and Department of Respiratory and Sleep Medicine, Royal North Shore Hospital, Sydney
- **Dr Melissa Ree,** Senior Lecturer and Clinical Psychologist, School of Psychological Science, The University of Western Australia
- **Professor Nick Zwar,** General Practitioner, Fellow, Royal Australian College of General Practitioners, Executive Dean, Health Sciences & Medicine, Bond University
- Associate Professor Yaqoot Fatima, Principal Research Fellow, Poche Centre for Indigenous Health, University of Queensland
- **Dr Nicholas Saner,** Post-doctoral Research Fellow, Institute for Health and Sport, Victoria University
- **Dr Alexandra Metse,** Lecturer and Clinical Psychologist, School of Health, University of the Sunshine Coast, Honorary Clinical Senior Lecturer, School of Psychological Sciences, University of Newcastle

2

Sleep: a core pillar of health and wellbeing.

- **Dr Alexander Sweetman,** Senior Program Manager, Australasian Sleep Association; Academic Status, Adelaide Institute for Sleep Health, Flinders University
- Dr Yu Sun Bin, Senior Lecturer and Research Fellow, Charles Perkins Centre, University of Sydney
- **Dr Sam Manger,** General Practitioner; Vice President, Australasian Society of Lifestyle Medicine; Academic Lead/Senior Lecturer, Lifestyle Medicine, James Cook University College of Medicine and Dentistry; Advisor, RACGP Shaping a Healthy Australia Project

This project has been partially supported through grant funding from the Australian Government Department of Health and Aged Care to Victoria University to support the work program of the Australian Health Policy Collaboration.

Suggested citation

McNamara, S, Nichols, T, Dash, S, de Courten, M & Calder, RV. Sleep: A Core Pillar of Health and Wellbeing. Improving Population Sleep Health to Reduce Preventable Illness and Injury – A Policy Evidence Review. Australian Health Policy Collaboration: Melbourne, Victoria University, October 2023.

ISBN: 978-0-6452000-6-5 DOI: 10.26196/46p5-zm72

Cover image

Photo by That Ning on Unsplash

Table of contents

1	Glo	Glossary				
2	Exe	Executive summary				
3	A co	A confusion of terms and those used in this paper12				
4	Wh	at is s	leep?	12		
	4.1	Circa	adian rhythms	13		
5	Slee	Sleep health				
	5.1	Why	<i>i</i> sleep health matters	15		
	5.2	A co	nceptual framework for sleep health	16		
	5.2.	1	Domain 1: Quantity	18		
	5.2.	2	Domain 2: Quality	19		
	5.2.	3	Domain 3: Consistency	20		
	5.2.	4	Outcomes of sleep	21		
	5.3	The	Sleep Health Spectrum	21		
	5.3.	1	Healthy sleep	24		
	5.3.	2	Transient sleep disturbances	24		
	5.3.	3	Persistent and/or episodic sleep disturbances	24		
	5.3.	4	Sleep disorders	24		
6	Slee	ep hea	alth in Australia: prevalence and burden of poor sleep and sleep disorders	27		
7	Risk	facto	ors for and potential consequences of poor sleep health	29		
	7.1	Hea	Ith behaviours impacting sleep	29		
	7.1.	1	Bedtime behaviours and sleep hygiene	30		
	7.1.	2	Screen time	30		
	7.1.	3	Dietary factors	30		
	7.1.	4	Alcohol	31		
	7.1.	5	Caffeine consumption	31		
	7.1.	6	Smoking	31		
	7.1.	7	Physical inactivity and sedentary behaviour	31		
	7.1.	8	The interconnected relationships between sleep, physical activity and diet	32		
	7.1.	9	Clustering of behaviours	33		
	7.2	Hea	Ith conditions and outcomes associated with poor sleep	33		
	7.2.	1	Chronic diseases and chronic pain	33		
	7.2.	2	Obesity	33		

4

Sleep: a core pillar of health and wellbeing.

	7.2.3		Mental health	34
	7.2.	4	Suicidal ideation and behaviour risk	34
	7.2.	5	Injury and accident risk	35
	7.3	Soci	al and environmental factors affecting sleep health	35
	7.3.	1	Education and employment	35
	7.3.	2	Health literacy	36
	7.3.	3	Environmental factors	36
7.3.4		4	Insomnogenic environment	36
	7.3.	5	Psychological factors	36
	7.3.	6	Equity factors	37
	7.4	Рор	ulation groups and individuals at risk of poor sleep	37
	7.4.	1	Workforce – physically and/or mentally demanding occupations	37
	7.4.	2	Shift workers	38
	7.4.	3	Children and young people	39
	7.4.	4	Indigenous Australians	40
	7.4.	5	Women	40
	7.4.	6	Older people	41
8	Slee	ep in ł	nealth information, policy and practice in Australia	42
	8.1	Mov	ement guidelines for children and young people	42
	8.2	Slee	p in preventive health policy	44
	8.3	Slee	p in health practice	44
	8.4	Slee	p in other public policy	45
	8.4.	1	Employment/work hours	45
	8.4.	2	High-risk industries	45
	8.4.3 8.4.4		Road safety	48
			Daylight savings	48
	8.4.	5	Education	48
	8.4.	6	Urban planning/light pollution	49
9	Me	asurir	g and monitoring sleep health	50
	9.1	Slee	p health indicators and assessment	51
	9.2	Slee	p health data in Australia	52
	9.2.	1	Existing data sources	52
	9.2.	2	Population health data for public health information and planning	53

5

Sleep: a core pillar of health and wellbeing.

	9.2	.3	Consumer devices and wearables – biometric data	. 54
	9.2	.4	Sleep health data in primary care	. 54
9	.3	Exis	ting recommendations for sleep data	. 55
10	I	mprov	ving sleep health: population health and primary care approaches	. 56
1	0.1	Mak	king sleep a population health priority	. 56
	10.	1.1	Public awareness, information and education	. 57
	10.	1.2	Sleep health guidelines for individuals	. 58
	10.	1.3	Sleep hygiene information and public education	. 60
	10.	1.4	Population sleep health surveillance and data requirements	. 61
1	0.2	Imp	roving sleep health through primary health care	. 62
	10.	2.1	Sleep as a health issue in primary care	. 63
	10.	2.2	Prevention and early intervention in primary care	. 63
1	0.3	Asse	essment for sleep health risks and for at-risk population groups	. 64
	10.	3.1	Sleep health risk factors	. 65
	10.	3.2	Sub-clinical sleep concerns and risk factors – options for intervention	. 65
	10.	3.3	Sleep disorders	. 68
1	0.4	Prin	nary care pressures and capacity to improve sleep health	. 72
1	0.5	Prin	nary care data requirements	. 73
11	F	Policy	recommendations	. 74
1	1.1	Reco	ommendation 1: Establish a 10-year National Sleep Health Strategy	. 75
1	1.2	Reco	ommendation 2: Establish National Sleep Guidelines	. 77
1	1.3	Reco	ommendation 3: Improve public awareness	. 77
1	1.4	Reco	ommendation 4: Monitor population sleep health	. 78
1	1.5	Reco 78	ommendation 5: Support primary care capacity for early intervention and risk reduct	ion
1	1.6	Reco	ommendation 6: Assess and improve attention to sleep health in other public policy	. 80
12	A	Appen	dices	. 82
1	2.1	Арр	endix 1: Prevalence	. 82
1	2.2	Арр	endix 2: Sources of sleep data: Australia	. 83
	2.3 ygiei		endix 3: Summary of key findings and future directions for the application of sle the general population (Irish et al., 2015)	-
1	2.4	Арр	endix 4: risk factors and influences for sleep health	. 89
13	F	Refere	nces	. 90

6

Sleep: a core pillar of health and wellbeing.

Glossary

Chronic insomnia: a clinical sleep disorder defined by frequent self-reported difficulty initiating and/or maintaining sleep, despite adequate opportunity, with associated distress and daytime impairment, over a time period of greater than 3 months. (Grima NA et al, 2019)

Chronotype: a person's natural inclination regarding the time/s during the 24-hour daily cycle when they prefer to sleep or when they are most alert or energetic. An early morning chronotype is commonly referred to as being an 'early bird' or 'lark' and a later night chronotype is often referred to as being a 'night owl' (1,2).

Circadian rhythms: physiological processes and functions that follow an approximate 24-hour cycle, controlled by an internal biological clock, including the sleep-wake cycle (3).

Dose-response relationship: describes the magnitude of the response, as a function of exposure to a quantity of a stimulus or stressor (4). An increase in exposure e.g., sleep deprivation is associated with increased or decreased risk of an outcome.

Fatigue: feeling of constant tiredness or weakness which can be physical, mental or both (5).

Healthy sleep: refers to sleep that is considered adequate across key metrics (e.g. quantity, quality and consistency) and is associated with avoiding the consequences of poor sleep (6).

Inadequate sleep: insufficient sleep duration and/or quality of sleep (7).

Non-rapid eye movement (NREM) sleep: a state of sleep also known as quiescent sleep. It is collectively, sleep stages 1–3 (N1, N2 and N3) (8).

N1 sleep: Stage 1 of NREM sleep, also called transitional sleep. It makes up approximately 5% of sleep (8).

N2 sleep: stage 2 of NREM sleep. It makes up approximately 45% of sleep and is important in memory consolidation (8).

N3 sleep: stage 3 of NREM sleep, also known as slow wave sleep or deep sleep. It makes up approximately 25% of sleep. Muscle tone, breathing rate and pulse slow during this stage (9).

Obstructive Sleep Apnoea (OSA): a sleep disorder characterised by intermittent airway blockage during sleep resulting in brief episodes of no breathing (10).

Polysomnography (PSG): a comprehensive sleep study conducted in a sleep laboratory or specialised clinic, or set up in a laboratory and used at home. It involves monitoring various physiological parameters during sleep, including brain activity (electroencephalography), eye movements (electrooculography), muscle tone, heart rate, and respiratory activity. PSG is considered the gold standard for diagnosing most sleep disorders and provides detailed information about sleep architecture and disturbances (11).

Poor sleep: refers to sleep that is not adequate across the key measures of quantity, quality and/or consistency, resulting in tiredness or lack of wakefulness, or other subjective measures and that can affect a person's health and wellbeing (12).

Rapid eye movement (REM) sleep: a state of sleep characterised by muscle atonia (temporary muscle paralysis) and rapid eye movement. Also known as dream sleep or active sleep. It makes up 20-25% of sleep (8).

7

Sleep: a core pillar of health and wellbeing.

Restless Legs Syndrome (RLS): a neurological disorder that causes unpleasant or uncomfortable sensations in your legs and an irresistible urge to move them. Symptoms are often worse at night and disrupt or prevent sleep (13).

Sleep architecture: is the basic structural arrangement of *normal sleep* – consisting of the two types of sleep known as non-rapid eye movement (NREM) sleep and rapid-eye-movement (REM) sleep (14).

Sleep deficiency: is a broad concept caused by not getting enough sleep (sleep deprivation); sleeping at the wrong time of day; not sleeping well or getting all the different types of sleep the body requires or having a sleep disorder that prevents adequate sleep or causes poor quality sleep (15).

Sleep disorders: conditions that interrupt and affect sleep on a regular basis - these include Obstructive Sleep Apnoea (OSA), chronic insomnia, Restless Legs Syndrome (RLS), circadian rhythm disorders and central disorders of hyper-somnolence (16,17).

Sleep efficiency: refers to the percentage of time in bed that is spent asleep (either objectively or self-report (18).

Sleep health: a multidimensional concept encompassing the various aspects of sleep that have been shown to contribute to health and wellbeing outcomes (19). Sleep health in individuals exists across a spectrum, from optimal sleep health to clinical sleep disorders.

Sleep Health Spectrum: is used in this paper to describe the overall range of sleep experience, that is - healthy sleep, transient or persistent sleep problems (poor sleep) and sleep disorders.

Sleep homeostasis: is a regulated balance between sleep and waking, for example, the longer we are without sleep, the stronger our propensity to fall asleep (20).

Sleep hygiene: describes behaviours, environmental factors and sleep-specific factors (e.g., sleep timing) that can improve sleep quality and quantity (21).

Sleep latency: the length of time, in minutes, it takes to transition from wake to sleep (22).

Sleep medicine: is the clinical care and treatment of sleep health. A range of health disciplines are involved in sleep medicine, including neurology, clinical neurophysiology, internal medicine (particularly pulmonology and cardiology), psychology, psychiatry, sleep technology, paediatrics, neurosurgery, otorhinolaryngology, and dentistry (23).

Sleep propensity: 'the readiness to transit from wakefulness to sleep, or the ability to stay asleep if already sleeping" (24).

Sleep quality: is described as an individual's "satisfaction with the sleep experience, integrating aspects of sleep initiation, sleep maintenance, sleep quantity, and refreshment upon awakening" (25) or in short, sleep quality refers to how well an individual slept.

Slow wave sleep: that portion of non-rapid eye movement (NREM) sleep characterized by high-amplitude, low-frequency (delta) brain waves, usually during stages 3 (N3) (8).

Social jetlag: a form of circadian misalignment when the sleep schedule on school/work days is different from free days, mainly due to obligations such as school, work or social commitments (26).

1 Executive summary

Sleep has been described as one of the three pillars of good health, alongside nutrition and physical activity. It is a "fundamental building block" for achieving and maintaining good health (17). Yet, sleep has been impacted by economic and social developments in the last century, such as the advent of night-time social and work activity and by the recent, pervasive 24/7 nature of digital communication and social media in daily life.

Sleep is a complex process affecting the whole body and is well known as an important biological function essential for life. While asleep, the body engages in physical recovery and repair including cardiovascular health, immunity, metabolism and brain development.

Sleep health can be described as a multidimensional concept encompassing the various aspects of sleep that have been shown to contribute to health and wellbeing outcomes. This paper identifies three principal domains of sleep health; sleep quantity (i.e. duration of sleep in a 24-hour period), sleep quality (i.e. ease of falling asleep, staying asleep through the night and feeling refreshed after sleep episode) and sleep consistency (i.e. the timing and regularity of sleep in the day-night cycle over time). When one or more of these domains are insufficient or compromised, an individual's sleep health will be poor or suboptimal, and they are more likely to experience the negative health and wellbeing consequences associated with poor sleep.

Sleep health for individuals can span a spectrum from healthy sleep to clinical sleep disorders. Sleep disorders are clinically diagnosed health conditions that interrupt and affect sleep on a regular basis. They are a highly prevalent, significant health issue for Australians across the lifespan and demand for health care and treatment for sleep disorders is increasing. Varying degrees of suboptimal sleep exist between healthy sleep and clinical sleep disorders, with a significant proportion of Australians thought to experience poor sleep without meeting the diagnostic threshold for a sleep disorder. A 2016 Sleep Health Foundation survey, which included a nationally representative sample of over 1,000 Australian adults, found that nearly two-thirds of those surveyed (65.9%) reported one or more sleep problems and almost half (48%) reported at least two sleep-related problems (27).

Sleep health is a significant contributor to health and wellbeing for individuals at all ages, and there is growing evidence of the broader population health, societal and economic benefits associated with healthy sleep. Healthy sleep is essential in children and young people for brain and body development and is associated with improved learning outcomes. In adults, it plays an important role in supporting physical and mental health, social and economic participation, and occupational health and safety. Healthy sleep is also a significant contributor to healthy ageing.

There is considerable evidence of the negative health outcomes associated with poor sleep. Poor sleep can negatively affect mood, mental health, cognitive functioning, concentration and productivity and is a significant risk factor for accidents and injury, including motor vehicle accidents (MVAs). In Australia in 2016-17, 23% of all MVAs, and 25.8% of workplace injuries were attributable to inadequate sleep (28). Furthermore, poor sleep health is associated with a range of chronic health conditions such as Type 2 diabetes, hypertension, obesity, cardiovascular disease, dementia, depression and all-cause mortality. Sleep disturbances are also an under-recognised and potentially significant risk factor for suicidal ideation and behaviour. Injuries, accidents and sequelae of chronic

Sleep: a core pillar of health and wellbeing. Policy Evidence Review. Mitchell Institute, October 2023.

9

diseases directly attributable to poor or inadequate sleep were estimated to result in 3017 deaths in Australia in 2016-2017 (29).

In addition to the substantial health and wellbeing impacts, poor sleep health also incurs significant economic costs in Australia each year. Based on a 2016-17 economic analysis of inadequate sleep in Australia, the direct financial costs (e.g. health system costs, productivity losses) of poor sleep health were estimated to be in excess of \$26 billion annually. A further \$40 billion of non-financial costs (e.g. years of life lost due to premature death and years of healthy life lost to disability) were estimated for the same one-year period (30).

The Australian Parliament House of Representatives Standing Committee on Health, Aged Care and Sport undertook an inquiry into sleep health awareness in Australia in 2019. The Inquiry report, *Bedtime Reading* (17), considered that sleep has not received the "attention it deserves within our community and in the health programs run by state and federal governments" (17). The National Mental Health Commission (NMHC), in a submission to the Parliamentary Inquiry (31) said there is evidence of a close link between sleep health and mental health and that sleep should be a primary factor considered in all mental health assessments and treatment. Importantly, these indicate increasing concern about the lack of national awareness of the importance of sleep health to health and wellbeing outcomes.

Current health information, policy and practice approaches to sleep health focus on sleep disorders and on specific instances in which disrupted or poor sleep is an occupational health and safety risk, such as in high-risk and shift work industries. However, sleep is a universal experience and biological necessity and the evident prevalence of poor sleep and sleep disorders warrants a whole-ofpopulation focus on the importance of sleep to health and wellbeing.

This policy evidence review has drawn together the available evidence on sleep health relevant to the Australian policy context and has identified policy approaches that would enable a nationally consistent approach to improving sleep health in Australia. In particular, it focusses on how policy can best support the prevention and treatment of poor sleep in the Australian population. The role of population health policy in improving public awareness, understanding and engagement in improved sleep health is considered together with the potential for primary care services, particularly general practice, to identify, prevent and treat poor sleep and sleep disorders. The clinical treatment and management of sleep disorders within specialist sleep health services are beyond the scope of this paper.

The recommended policy options for improving sleep health in Australia included in this paper, have been informed and endorsed by an expert working group of leading Australian sleep health experts through a collaboration between the Mitchell Institute, Victoria University and the Sleep Health Foundation of Australia.

2 A confusion of terms and those used in this paper

Across scientific and public health literature, sleep health is a term that is infrequently defined and there is not one universally agreed upon definition or description of sleep health in common use. In this paper, 'sleep health' can be best described as a multidimensional concept encompassing the various aspects of sleep that have been shown to contribute to health and wellbeing outcomes (19). Sleep health in individuals exists across a spectrum, ranging from healthy sleep to clinical sleep disorders. 'Healthy sleep' refers to sleep that is considered adequate across key metrics (particularly the quantity, quality and consistency of a person's sleep) and is associated with improved health and wellbeing outcomes.

In contrast, there is a multiplicity of terms used (often interchangeably) to describe issues with sleep, including sleep problems, poor sleep, sleep disturbances and inadequate or insufficient sleep (32–34). The term *sleep problems* is widely used and refers to problems with the quantity, quality or consistency of sleep which impact functioning and wellbeing. The National Heart, Lung and Blood Institute (NHLBI, USA) describes sleep problems as including *sleep deprivation* (i.e. a short-term lack of sleep) or *sleep deficiency* – which can be characterised by ongoing sleep deprivation, frequently sleeping at the wrong time of day or not getting good quality sleep that includes all the different types of sleep *problems*' without referencing either sleep deprivation or sleep deficiency (35). More recent NHLBI publications advise that sleep deficiency can "interfere with work, school, driving and social functioning" and is linked to many chronic health problems including heart disease, kidney disease, high blood pressure, diabetes, stroke, obesity, depression, mood and social functioning and to accidents and associated injuries (15).

A Parliamentary Inquiry into Sleep Health Awareness in Australia was undertaken through 2018-19 at the request of the then-national Health Minister. The Inquiry Report, 'Bedtime Reading', considers the common causes and impacts of *insufficient sleep* on the health and wellbeing of the Australian population (17). The report also refers to *inadequate sleep* estimated to be regularly experienced by four in every ten Australians. The report describes *inadequate sleep* as caused by sleep disorders or by *insufficient sleep* due to lifestyle factors, such as work patterns, or the use of electronic media. Environmental factors such as noise or light may also contribute to insufficient sleep. The Australian Epidemiological Association, in a submission to the parliamentary inquiry, referred to *inadequate sleep* and to *poor habitual sleep* and sleep disorders in the community (36).

For clarity, the term '*poor sleep*' is used in this paper to refer to sleep that is 'not good enough' in terms of quality, quantity and/or consistency, encompassing the varying degrees of suboptimal sleep health (i.e. transient sleep disturbances through to persistent sleep disturbances and sleep disorders).

3 What is sleep?

Sleep is a state that is characterized by changes in brain wave activity, breathing, heart rate, body temperature, and other physiological functions (37).

Sleep is a complex process affecting the whole body and is an essential part of physical and mental health and wellbeing (38). Definitions describing sleep as "A recurring, reversible neuro-behavioural state of relative perceptual disengagement from and unresponsiveness to the environment" by Mary Carskadon and William Dement (39) underplay its restorative power for the body, affecting nearly every tissue in the body.

The physiological sleeping process comprises two alternating states – rapid eye movement (often called 'REM sleep') and non-rapid eye movement (NREM). With the help of an electroencephalogram (EEG) electrical brain activity during sleep can be measured and the states and stages of sleep identified in more detail (39,40). In adults, NREM sleep is broken down into 3 stages – N1, N2 and N3. The two states, NREM and REM, cycle approximately every 90 minutes throughout the sleep episode. The states and stages of sleep will show as different patterns on an EEG (39,40).

In adults, a sleep episode usually begins with the individual attempting to go to sleep. The time between this and sleep onset, that is, commencing N1 sleep, is called sleep latency. Once asleep, an individual progresses through NREM N1 (light sleep), through N2 sleep and into N3 (deep sleep/slow-wave sleep), before progressing back up through the stages to light sleep and REM sleep, hence completing the first sleep cycle. Over the course of 4-6 sleep cycles throughout the night, an individual typically experiences progressively less deep sleep and more light sleep, awakenings, and REM sleep. Brief awakenings/arousals from sleep are completely normal. The cumulative time an adult spends awake between first falling asleep and subsequently getting out of bed the next morning is referred to as 'wake after sleep onset' (WASO). The amount of time an individual is actually sleeping is the sleep duration. Time asleep divided by the time spent in bed during the sleep episode is referred to as sleep efficiency (39,40).

Figure 1 gives an example of the typical sleep architecture of a healthy young adult. In this age group, sleep typically occurs in 4-6 cycles each lasting for approximately 90 minutes. Most deep sleep occurs in the first half of the sleep period (pink N3), and most light sleep, awakenings and REM sleep occurs more in the second half of the sleep period. This sleep architecture varies across the lifespan and especially in older age when the time spent in slow-wave sleep reduces.



FIGURE 1: TYPICAL SLEEP ARCHITECTURE OF HEALTHY YOUNG ADULT (41)

Successfully cycling through all the sleep stages multiple times each night allows sleep to perform the critical function of restoration and recovery for the body and mind. Sleep is well known as an important biological function essential for life (42). While asleep, the body engages in physical recovery and repair including for cardiac health, body metabolism and brain development. Sleep supports learning, memory and mood and is particularly important for healthy growth and development in babies and children. Sleep also affects various other physiological processes and functions and how they interact with the body's biological clock (43).

3.1 Circadian rhythms

Sleep is regulated by the interaction of two processes – sleep homeostasis and the sleep circadian rhythm. Sleep homeostasis is a regulated balance between sleep and waking. Homeostatic mechanisms counteract deviations from an average reference level of sleep. The sleep homeostatic process can be described as a rise of sleep pressure during wakefulness – or propensity to sleep – and its dissipation during sleep (24). The longer we are without sleep, the stronger our propensity to fall asleep (20).

Circadian rhythms are physiological processes that follow an approximate 24-hour cycle, controlled by an internal biological clock (44). This master circadian clock is located in a small brain structure called the suprachiasmatic nucleus, which sends signals to different parts of the body to regulate a wide range of physiological functions and processes in repeating 24-hour cycles. Circadian rhythms coordinate mental and physical systems throughout the body to ensure that the body's processes are optimised at various points during a 24-hour period (45).

While it is common to refer to one, singular "circadian rhythm", there are actually several interconnected circadian rhythms occurring in the human body, with the most prominent being the sleep-wake cycle (45). Other physiological processes and functions that are influenced or regulated by circadian rhythms include hormone secretion, metabolism and energy production, appetite and feeding, body temperature regulation and immune function (46).

Circadian rhythms are internal physiological processes that run independently of external stimuli. However, they are still influenced by and can be synchronised to environmental cues, particularly 13

Sleep: a core pillar of health and wellbeing.

exposure to light and the day-night cycle (47). Circadian rhythms have evolved to synchronise biology and behaviour to external time (i.e. the day-night cycle) and therefore exposure to light can advance or delay circadian rhythm timing (46,48).

Circadian rhythm disruptions refer to disruptions of internal biological timing mechanisms (which can increase the risk of several adverse health outcomes), or a mismatch between internal and behavioural or environmental (e.g., night-day) cycles (47). Night shift work and jetlag are common examples of circadian disruption. Individuals experiencing circadian rhythm disruptions may sleep or be awake at times that are 'out of sync' with their regular sleep-wake cycle and external environment time of day. This can also disrupt other physiological processes that are regulated by the circadian clock, highlighting the importance of circadian consistency to physical and mental health (47–49).

Despite being closely aligned with the day-night cycle, the precise timing of circadian rhythms and sleep-wake cycles varies from person to person (47). An individual's natural or preferred sleep and wake times are known as their chronotype, with early risers (larks) at one end of the spectrum and late-night types (night owls) at the other. The chronotype is influenced by an individual's age, genetics, development, and history of exposure to light (50). Individuals can usually alter their sleep patterns to accommodate both their social demands and circadian clock, however, misalignment with the external light-dark cycle can lead to disrupted sleep-wake cycles, fatigue and exhaustion (47).

4 Sleep health

Sleep health is a multidimensional concept that encompasses the various aspects, or domains, of sleep that have been shown to contribute to health and wellbeing outcomes (19). The concept of sleep health emphasises that good sleep is essential for good health and that 'healthy sleep' is more than just the absence of a clinical sleep disorder. By highlighting the positive role of sleep in overall health, sleep health contrasts with the historically dominant focus on negative outcomes associated with sleep problems or disorders (19). Understanding the various aspects of sleep that contribute to overall health and wellbeing can also assist with identifying potential areas of focus to improve sleep health in the population through health promotion and prevention activities (19).

This paper identifies three principal domains of sleep health:

- Quantity total sleep duration (in hours) over a 24-hour period;
- **Quality** the ease of falling asleep (sleep initiation), staying asleep through the night (sleep maintenance) and feeling subjectively satisfied/refreshed after a sleep episode; and
- **Consistency** a consistent sleep schedule that aligns with the natural circadian cycle (i.e. most sleep occurs during the hours of darkness overnight) and minimises night-to-night variability in bed and wake times.

Within each of these principal domains, there are various associated indicators and dimensions of sleep health, these are discussed in detail in section 5.2. When one or more of these domains are insufficient or compromised, an individual's sleep health will be poor or suboptimal, and they are more likely to experience the negative health and wellbeing consequences associated with poor sleep.

It is important to note that sleep health refers to the long-term pattern of an individual's sleep. A person whose sleep is usually healthy may have occasional episodes of poor sleep, but it is the pattern over time that indicates their overall sleep health.

4.1 Why sleep health matters

Sleep health is a significant but under-recognised public health issue. Sleep, alongside diet and physical activity, has been described as one of the three pillars of health and as a "fundamental building block" for achieving and maintaining good health (17,33,51). These pillars are also three aspects of daily life that have significantly and rapidly changed due to economic and social developments over the past century. Historical diets made up of locally produced and minimally processed foods have been transformed by the rapid growth of the international food industry and the subsequent increase in the availability of manufactured/ processed food products (52). Physical activity has shifted from an integral part of domestic and work activity to a personal choice or option as an adjunct to a largely sedentary social and work (53). Sleep health has been similarly impacted by changes to social patterns, globalised commercial activities and work and employment trends that impinge upon factors that support sleep (54).

Contemporary research has identified many functions of sleep and has established that "sufficient, quality sleep is (...) an essential requirement for a person's wellbeing" (Parliament of the Commonwealth of Australia, 2019, p. 2). Within the last decade, the understanding of the mechanisms and biological importance of sleep has improved (55) and the health and social impacts of poor sleep have been better recognised (54). There is growing evidence of the societal and economic benefits of

15

healthy sleep and growing attention to the importance of sleep in Australian health information and health policy (17).

Healthy sleep is a significant contributor to health and wellbeing for individuals at all ages (17,54). In children and young people, good sleep health is important for healthy brain and body development and is associated with improved learning outcomes In adults, healthy sleep is critical to support physical and mental health and wellbeing, social and economic participation and workplace and occupational health and safety (43). In older people, good sleep health has also been shown to be an important contributing factor to healthy ageing (56,57).

There is a robust, well-established evidence base demonstrating the associations between poor sleep health and a range of preventable chronic conditions, including cardiovascular disease, Type 2 diabetes, stroke, obesity, and all-cause mortality (28,58). Poor sleep health can also contribute to the development of and exacerbate mental health issues (e.g. depression, anxiety, psychosis, suicidality) and is implicated as a risk factor for early onset dementia (59,60). Furthermore, poor sleep health has been shown to negatively affect mood, concentration, cognitive functioning, motivation and productivity (61). Injuries, accidents and sequelae of chronic diseases directly attributable to poor or inadequate sleep were estimated to result in 3017 deaths in Australia in 2016-2017 (28).

4.2 A conceptual framework for sleep health

To enable the multidimensional and complex nature of sleep health to be readily understood, a conceptual framework for sleep health (see *Figure 2* on the next page) was developed for this paper. The framework was developed in collaboration with the working group of Australian sleep health experts, who informed and guided this work. The conceptual framework is based on three principal domains of sleep health (quantity, quality and consistency) and a subset of sleep health dimensions, indicators and outcomes related to each domain (explained in detail below).

The development of the conceptual framework was informed by existing resources and tools, including scales and suites of indicators designed to assess sleep health. One of these is the RuSATED Scale – a self-report scale measuring sleep health using six dimensions: regularity, subjective satisfaction, timing, duration, sleep efficiency and alertness during the day (19). The conceptual framework incorporates the RuSATED dimensions of sleep health under each high-level domain. Whilst these dimensions can be used as direct indicators of sleep health, the conceptual framework also identifies, where relevant, additional specific indicators related to each domain and highlights additional outcomes related to sleep health not included in the RuSATED tool. Use of the RuSATED scale as a sleep health assessment tool is discussed in section 9.



FIGURE 2: SLEEP HEALTH CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK

17

Sleep: a core pillar of health and wellbeing.

4.2.1 Domain 1: Quantity

The quantity of sleep refers to the overall amount of sleep an individual attains in a 24-hour period. It is predominantly defined by one dimension/indicator – sleep duration – but can also be partially indicated by subjective sleep satisfaction.

- Sleep duration: the amount of time, in hours, that a person sleeps in a 24-hour period.
- **Sleep satisfaction:** a self-reported subjective assessment of an individual's satisfaction/dissatisfaction with their sleep.

In 2015, the National Sleep Foundation (NSF) (USA) convened a multidisciplinary panel of sleep experts to evaluate and review existing scientific literature regarding sleep duration recommendations across the lifespan (62). The panel's consensus recommendations for sleep duration across the lifespan are presented in *Figure 3*. The blue band represents recommended hours, the yellow band represent potentially appropriate hours in certain people or circumstances and grey represents too few or too many hours of sleep.



Sleep Duration Recommendations Across the Life Span

FIGURE 3: SLEEP DURATION RECOMMENDATIONS ACROSS THE LIFESPAN (62)

The Australian 24-Hour Movement Guidelines for infants, children and young people (published by the Department of Health and Aged Care in 2021) provides recommendations for sleep duration in people aged 0-17 (see section 8.1 for full recommendations) (63,64). Sleep duration was included in these guidelines as sleep health is considered an important contributor to physical activity levels in children and young people (63). The Australian recommendations for sleep duration, which are a derivation of the Canadian 24-hour movement guidelines (65), are the same as the NSF (USA) recommendations other than for infants 4-11 months old (where the Australian and Canadian recommendations are 12-16 hours, rather than 12-15).

18

Sleep: a core pillar of health and wellbeing.

There are currently no equivalent, government-endorsed guidelines or recommendations regarding sleep duration in Australian adults (although adult 24-hour movement guidelines are in development). Despite the lack of formal guidelines, it is generally accepted that adults require between 7 and 9 hours of quality sleep for cognitive and physical health (62,66). The American Academy of Sleep Medicine and Sleep Research Society's 2015 joint consensus statement on recommended sleep quantity for healthy adults recommends no less than 7 hours per night (67). More recent research has demonstrated a U-shaped association between sleep duration and health outcomes, with both short and long sleep durations (<7 or >9 hours) being associated with various adverse physical and health outcomes, including all-cause mortality (68). However, more than 9 hours may be appropriate for young adults and individuals who are recovering from sleep debt or are unwell (67).

The majority of contemporary research investigating sleep health trends globally has concluded that average sleep duration in adults has remained largely unchanged over recent decades (69–71). This includes multiple studies that reviewed self-reported sleep health data collected in national population health surveys across various countries, and studies that analysed objective polysomnographic (sleep study) data (69–71). However, a 2015 study looking at the sleep health of US adults did find that average sleep duration had decreased slightly between 1985-2004, then remained steady from 2004-2012 (72).

In contrast, data on children's sleep health seem to be consistently pointing towards declining sleep duration over time (71). A meta-analysis of data from 690,747 children across 20 different countries reporting children's sleep data since 1901 confirmed a long-term persistent decline in the total hours of sleep among children (71). A study of American adolescents found that the percentage of children who reported having more than 7 hours of sleep between 1991 and 2012 also declined by 30% (73).

4.2.2 Domain 2: Quality

Sleep quality includes aspects of sleep initiation (ease of falling asleep), sleep maintenance (staying asleep through the night), feeling well-rested upon awakening and an individual's subjective satisfaction with their sleep (25). In short, sleep quality refers to how 'well' you have slept. The sleep health conceptual framework identifies two major dimensions (sleep satisfaction and sleep efficiency) which are generally indicative of sleep quality. A subset of three additional indicators that contribute to sleep efficiency were also identified. Together, the dimensions and indicators provide a suite of sleep quality measures, which are listed below:

- **Sleep satisfaction:** a self-reported subjective assessment of an individual's satisfaction/dissatisfaction with their sleep.
- Sleep efficiency: percentage of time in bed spent asleep.
- Awakenings > 5mins: the number of incidences in which an individual is awake for greater than five minutes per overnight sleep episode (once sleep has been initiated).
- **Sleep latency:** the length of time, in minutes, it takes to first transition from wake to sleep (i.e. sleep initiation).
- Wake after sleep onset: the amount of time spent awake after sleep has been initiated and before final awakening (i.e. cumulative time of awakenings throughout a sleep episode).

In 2017, the NSF (USA) again convened a large multidisciplinary panel of sleep experts to develop evidence-based, consensus recommendations regarding indicators of good sleep quality across the lifespan (74). This included recommendations for sleep quality indicators such as sleep latency, 19

Sleep: a core pillar of health and wellbeing.

number of awakenings (>5 minutes), wake after sleep onset (WASO) and sleep efficiency, which are outlined in *Table 1*.

Quality		Age group					
indicator	Scale	3-5 years	6-13 years	14-17 years	18-25 years	26-64 years	65+ years
	Good	≥85%	≥85%	≥85%	≥85%	≥85%	≥85%
Sleep efficiency	Uncertain	75-84%	75-84%	75-84%	65-84%	75-84%	75-84%
	Poor	≤74%	≤74%	≤74%	≤64%	≤74%	≤74%
	Good	0-30 mins	0-30 mins	0-30 mins	0-30 mins	0-30 mins	0-30 mins
Sleep latency	Uncertain	31-45 mins	31-45 mins	31-45 mins	31-45 mins	31-45 mins	31-60 mins
	Poor	≥46 mins	≥46 mins	≥46 mins	≥46 mins	≥46 mins	≥60 mins
	Good	≤1	≤1	≤1	≤1	≤1	≤2
Awakenings >5 minutes	Uncertain	2-3	2-3	2	2-3	2-3	3
	Poor	≥4	≥4	≥3	≥4	≥4	≥4
Mala often	Good	≤20 mins	≤20 mins	≤20 mins	≤20 mins	≤20 mins	≤30 mins
Wake after sleep onset	Uncertain	21-50 mins	21-40 mins	21-50 mins	21-50 mins	21-50 mins	≥31 mins
	Poor	≥51 mins	≥41 mins	≥51 mins	≥51 mins	≥51 mins	NA

The sleep quality recommendations outlined above did not include self-reported sleep satisfaction, as it is a subjective indicator of sleep quality that can be measured using different satisfaction scales across various sleep health assessment tools. Consequently, there is no standardised rating scale or numerical metric used consistently for measuring sleep satisfaction and data from different sources related to sleep satisfaction is inconsistent and not easily comparable.

Recent research examining global sleep health trends has found evidence of declining sleep quality in both adults and young people (70). It has been suggested that the increased cognitive demands of modern life could be responsible for relative declines in sleep quality observed in some population data (71). There is also an important – but not yet fully understood – developmental component to the impact of reduced sleep quality on later life. Poor quality sleep can therefore be understood as a noxious and chronic exposure that can, over time, fundamentally alter development in children and young people, resulting in poorer long-term health and wellbeing outcomes (75).

4.2.3 Domain 3: Consistency

Sleep consistency comprises two major dimensions; sleep timing and sleep regularity.

• **Sleep timing:** the time within the 24-hour cycle that sleep occurs (i.e. an individual's usual bedtime and wake-up time).

20

• Sleep regularity: night-to-night and weeknight-to-weekend consistency of sleep timing and sleep duration.

Due to the regulation of sleep by a circadian rhythm, optimal quality and quantity of sleep are most likely during hours of darkness (47,76). Sleep timing that aligns with the light-dark cycle is essential for good sleep health and suboptimal timing can affect mental health, cardiovascular function, metabolism, and other elements of overall health. (49,50,76). There are significant person-to-person differences in usual and/or optimal timing of sleep, largely driven by differences in chronotype and external factors that affect circadian rhythms (e.g. shift work) (2). Whilst variations in chronotype are expected, most sleep should occur at night, as healthy sleep timing is underpinned by circadian consistency (i.e. being asleep at the time that aligns with the body's circadian cycle) (77).

A consistent sleep schedule that minimises night-to-night variability of sleep timing and sleep duration is an important contributor to good sleep health. (77). This includes night-to-night variability throughout the week and weekday-to-weekend variability of sleep timing and duration. (77). External social and environmental factors (e.g. irregular work hours, social commitments, childcare responsibilities) can inhibit sleep regularity.

4.2.4 Outcomes of sleep

The outcomes of sleep refer to how an individual feels and performs during their wake time as a result of their sleep. The indicators for these outcomes are measures that are influenced by any or all of the three sleep domains.

- Alertness during the day: the presence of or lack of daytime sleepiness (i.e. ability to stay awake during the day). There is a natural dip in the circadian system in the afternoon that can reduce alertness, but excessive daytime sleepiness is often a sign of an underlying sleep disorder (Bes et al., 2009).
- **Daytime functioning:** the ability to perform daily tasks productively and effectively. Various consequences of poor sleep health can inhibit or impair daytime functioning, including sleepiness, fatigue, irritability, lack of motivation and/or concentration difficulties (61).
- **Physical and mental health impacts:** sleep health is associated with a range of physical and mental health outcomes and conditions Type 2 diabetes, hypertension, obesity, cardiovascular disease, anxiety, depression, suicidality and all-cause mortality (28,58,78). Sleep health is also a significant contributor to mood and physical performance (61).

4.3 The Sleep Health Spectrum

The term spectrum describes something in terms of its position on a scale between two distant points – in the case of sleep health, these points are healthy sleep and clinical sleep disorders. Sleep health has previously been described as occurring along a continuum from good to poor (19). However, 'continuum' implies that sleep health occurs on a sliding scale that an individual moves along in a linear fashion. While this may be accurate in some instances, changes to an individual's sleep experience can vary over time without that being predictive of subsequent sleep experience. That is, someone with healthy sleep can develop sleep disorders and vice versa. This paper therefore proposes that considering sleep health as a occurring on a spectrum may be more appropriate. An individual may also experience transient sleep disturbances which resolve with no intervention, or which may develop into a pattern of episodic or persistent sleep disturbances.

Traditionally, sleep medicine and health policy related to sleep has focused almost exclusively on the treatment and management of clinical sleep disorders, with little attention given to the rest of the sleep health spectrum (19). This has contributed to a significant cohort of the general population, who experience sleep problems but may not meet the diagnostic threshold for a clinical sleep disorder, not having their sleep problems adequately addressed (27). The Sleep Health Spectrum (see *Figure 4* on the next page) also illustrates the need for population-wide preventive health activities aimed at improved sleep health education and awareness and highlights opportunities to identify and address sleep disturbances before they potentially progress into clinical sleep disorders.

Sleep Health Spectrum



FIGURE 4: SLEEP HEALTH SPECTRUM

23

4.3.1 Healthy sleep

Sleep that is considered healthy should align with the three high-level domains identified in the sleep health conceptual framework i.e. it should be high-quality sleep that is sufficient in duration (quantity) and follows a consistent schedule that aligns with an individual's natural circadian cycle (consistency). Healthy sleep should also facilitate attentive wakefulness and daytime functioning and meet an individual's subjective assessment of 'good sleep'(19).

4.3.2 Transient sleep disturbances

Almost everyone experiences episodes of suboptimal sleep throughout their life, generally characterised by trouble falling or staying asleep and/or temporary insufficient sleep duration. In most cases, transient sleep disturbances do not persist over time or lead to ongoing sleep problems or clinical sleep disorders (79). If caused by an obvious trigger (e.g. acute pain, psychological stress, transmeridian travel, substance use, bereavement or temporary changes to the sleep environment), sleep normally returns to normal after the trigger has subsided. Transient sleep disturbances can include acute/short-term insomnia (ranging from a few nights to a few weeks), temporary circadian rhythm disruptions (e.g. jetlag caused by transmeridian travel) or voluntary sleep restriction (e.g. curtailing sleep because of work, childcare or social commitments). These are unlikely to lead to ongoing, chronic sleep problems or the development of clinical sleep disorders (79).

Although transient sleep disturbances are temporary, generally attributable to an external trigger and rarely require treatment in their own right, they can still negatively affect health and well-being. Even a short-term sleep deficit can result in reduced alertness and impaired daytime functioning, increasing the risk of accidents and negatively affecting an individual's work or education (80).

4.3.3 Persistent and/or episodic sleep disturbances

People can experience patterns of poor sleep or recurring episodes of sleep disturbances that persist into the medium to long term but may not necessarily meet the clinical threshold for diagnosis of a recognised sleep disorder. Persistent or relapsing-remitting sleep disturbances and ongoing patterns of poor sleep are less likely to resolve themselves over time than transient sleep disturbances and in some cases can progress into clinical sleep disorders. Persistent sleep disturbances (which may not meet the diagnostic criteria for a clinical disorder) can include episodic insomnia, recurring circadian rhythm disruptions and/or the ongoing presence of one or more sleep disorder symptoms.

Circadian rhythm disruptions can be either transient (e.g. jetlag) or persistent (e.g. shift work) and have many underlying causes (49). Jetlag tends to be transient as circadian rhythms adapt to the new time zone over the course of a few days. In contrast, shift work, particularly rotating shift work may perpetuate ongoing circadian disruption. Those with evening chronotype who delay bedtime or those experiencing 'social jetlag', a phenomenon caused by significantly differing bed/wake times between work days and non-work days, can also experience regular circadian disruptions (49).

4.3.4 Sleep disorders

Sleep disorders require clinical diagnosis and can have significant implications for a person's health and wellbeing. A broad range of online resources have emerged to provide information regarding common disorders, such as the Sleep Health Foundation factsheets (81). As the focus of this paper is on policy responses that are relevant to address population sleep health, the clinical treatment and 24

Sleep: a core pillar of health and wellbeing

Policy evidence review. Mitchell Institute, September 2023.

management of sleep disorders within specialist sleep health services are beyond the scope of this discussion. However, understanding what these are and the potential role of policymakers and Australia's primary health care system in improving the prevention and early detection of sleep disorders is explored throughout.

The two most commonly diagnosed sleep disorders, both in Australia and internationally, are insomnia and obstructive sleep apnoea (OSA). While insomnia and OSA are the most prevalent, they are just two of over 100 diagnosable clinical sleep disorders, which can be grouped into six main categories:

- Insomnias (e.g. chronic insomnia disorder);
- Sleep-related breathing disorders (e.g. OSA);
- Sleep-related movement disorders (e.g. restless legs syndrome);
- Circadian rhythm disorders (e.g. shift work sleep disorder);
- Central disorders of hypersomnolence (e.g. narcolepsy, idiopathic hypersomnia); and
- Parasomnias (e.g. night terrors, REM sleep behaviour disorder)

A summary of these categories (or the most common sleep disorder within the category) is provided below.

4.3.4.1 Chronic insomnia

Chronic insomnia is a sleep disorder characterised by frequent self-reported difficulty falling and/or staying asleep (despite the opportunity to do so) and impaired daytime functioning (e.g. fatigue, and difficulty concentrating) (82). To meet the diagnostic criteria for chronic insomnia, as outlined in the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual for Mental Disorders, 5th edition (DSM-5), symptoms must be present for three or more nights per week for more than three months (83). If symptoms do not meet this threshold, the insomnia is considered acute/short-term or episodic and is better categorised as a transient or persistent sleep disturbance than as a clinical sleep disorder.

Chronic insomnia shares a bidirectional relationship with other physical or mental health concerns and reduced quality of life (84). Insomnia frequently co-occurs with other mental and physical health conditions, including other sleep disorders. Although insomnia has historically been viewed as a secondary symptom of these other conditions (85), substantial evidence and diagnostic schema now indicate it should be conceptualised as a distinct disorder even when it occurs alongside other mental/physical/sleep conditions (86). Insomnia is a significant risk factor for the development, exacerbation and relapse of other co-morbid conditions and treating insomnia often also improves the management of comorbidities (e.g., behavioural treatments for insomnia also improve depression, pain and sleep apnoea severity) (87). However, treatment of a comorbid condition does not necessarily improve insomnia symptoms, which usually need to be addressed in their own right (80).

4.3.4.2 Obstructive Sleep Apnoea (OSA)

Obstructive sleep apnoea (OSA) is a breathing disorder where an individual experiences repeated episodes of partial or complete airway obstruction during sleep, causing them to stop breathing. Apnoeas—the pause in breathing—can occur multiple times a night for between 10-90 seconds each time. Blood oxygen levels fall as a result of the apnoea leading to a sleep interruption—brief waking, which in turn re-commences breathing (88,89). Multiple factors can underpin the development and

25

progression of OSA, including genetic factors, craniofacial structure, obesity, and obstructions within the upper airway (e.g. tonsils) (90). The disorder can occur across the lifespan. OSA is associated with a range of sleep disturbances, including sleep fragmentation, insomnia, and daytime sleepiness (91).

4.3.4.3 Restless leg syndrome (RLS)

Restless leg syndrome (RLS) is a sleep-related sensorimotor disorder. Symptoms include the urge to move that occurs at rest or in the evening and is also relieved by movement (92). As RLS seems to worsen during the night or early morning hours, it can be very disruptive to sleep and is linked with difficulties falling asleep, interrupted sleep and reduced total sleep time (92).

4.3.4.4 Circadian rhythm disorders

Circadian rhythm disorders (also known as sleep-wake disorders) are characterised by ongoing, significant disruptions to the body's internal clock, which regulates the sleep-wake cycle. Examples of circadian rhythm disorders include shift-work sleep disorder, advanced sleep phase disorder (early sleep) and delayed sleep phase disorder (later sleep) (12). Circadian rhythm disorders and persistent circadian rhythm disruption (even at a subclinical level) have been linked with psychiatric and neurodegenerative diseases (48,93), metabolic disorders, cardiovascular disease and autoimmune disorders (49).

4.3.4.5 Central disorders of hypersomnolence

Central disorders of hypersomnolence are characterised by severe daytime sleepiness in the absence of disrupted nocturnal sleep or circadian rhythm disorders. They include:

- <u>Narcolepsy</u> a sleep disorder characterised by excessive daytime sleepiness and an irresistible urge to nap. Other symptoms can include cataplexy (muscle weakness triggered by strong emotion), sleep paralysis and sleep hallucinations (81).
- <u>Idiopathic hypersomnia (IH)</u> a neurological disorder where an individual sleeps for a long time overnight, feels sleepy during the day, takes long naps, has difficulty waking and does not feel refreshed by sleep (94).

4.3.4.6 Parasomnias

Parasomnias are abnormal behaviours or experiences that occur during sleep. Examples include sleepwalking, night terrors, sleep-related eating disorder, and REM sleep behaviour disorder (acting out dreams physically). These disorders can disrupt sleep and affect the overall quality of rest (86).

5 Sleep health in Australia: prevalence and burden of poor sleep and sleep disorders

Poor sleep health is prevalent in the Australian population. A 2016 survey of 1011 Australian adults that was weighted to be representative of the population, commissioned by the Sleep Health Foundation, found that nearly two-thirds of those surveyed (65.9%) reported one or more sleep problems, categorized as difficulty falling asleep, waking up a lot overnight, daytime sleepiness, daytime fatigue or exhaustion, feeling irritable or moody, or pathological daytime sleepiness. Almost half (48%) reported at least two sleep-related problems (27). Between 33-45% of respondents reported both inadequate sleep, in either duration or quality, and daytime consequences (27). The Royal Australian College of Physicians, in its submission to the 2019 Parliamentary Inquiry into Sleep Health, said that when both adolescents and adults are considered, 'poor or inadequate sleep affects over 20 per cent of people on a daily or nearly-daily basis' (33).

The large cohort of Australians experiencing poor sleep includes those living with common sleep disorders such as chronic insomnia, obstructive sleep apnoea (OSA) and restless legs syndrome (RLS).

- Chronic insomnia is estimated to affect 12.2-14.8% of adults, however, only 7.5% had a clinical diagnosis, suggesting that there are many Australians living with undiagnosed chronic insomnia (95).
- Prevalence estimates of OSA in Australia vary considerably. It is thought that there is significant under-diagnosis of the condition, with up to 80% of OSA remaining undiagnosed (96). Results from the 2016 Sleep Health Foundation (SHF) National Survey included 8.3% of adults reporting a clinical diagnosis of OSA, with a further 19.0% reporting symptoms indicating likely undiagnosed OSA, suggesting that it is a pervasive, widespread health issue across the population. OSA prevalence increases with age and is considerably higher in men than in women (32). A study of a middle-aged (45-64yo) community sample found the prevalence of clinically significant OSA to be 24.0% in females and 47.3% in males (97).
- Prevalence estimates of RLS in Australia are also highly variable, with 17.4% of adults reporting symptoms of restless legs, however only about one-sixth of these (2.8%) are estimated to meet the diagnostic threshold for primary restless legs syndrome (98). In the middle-aged (45-56yo) community, RSL was prevalent in 3.7% of females and 2.2% of males (97).

Poor or inadequate sleep increase the risk of suffering a workplace injury or being involved in a motor vehicle accident (MVA) (28). A 2017 Deloitte Access Economics report found that four in every ten Australians regularly experienced inadequate sleep and estimated that inadequate sleep was the primary contributing factor in nearly a quarter of all MVAs and workplace injuries (28).

According to the 2013 Household, Income and Labor Dynamics in Australia (HILDA) study of nearly 15,000 Australians aged 15 or older, self-reported poor sleep quality was linked with lower scores on scales measuring physical, emotional and social functioning (99). Insufficient sleep duration and/or poor sleep quality have also been identified as a risk factor and a warning sign for suicide behaviours (100–102).

Poor sleep health increases the risk of developing various chronic health conditions (e.g., diabetes, heart disease, stroke, depression) (103) which place an enormous burden on society and the health system. A 2021 Deloitte Access Economics analysis of the social, health and economic costs of sleep disorders in Australia estimated the specific number and proportion of cases of other chronic conditions considered directly attributable to sleep disorders (29). Around 3.5% of heart disease, 4% of stroke, 5.5% of depression and 1.5% of type 2 diabetes cases were estimated to be directly attributable to sleep disorder rates correlated to over 25,000 cases of heart disease and stroke and over 44,000 cases of depression estimated to be directly attributable to sleep disorders (29). Given that this analysis only focussed on sleep disorders rather than poor sleep more broadly, it is likely that total burden of disease related to poor sleep is considerably higher.

Injuries, accidents and sequelae of chronic diseases directly attributable to poor or inadequate sleep were estimated to result in 3017 deaths in Australia in 2016-2017 (28).

In addition to the substantial health and wellbeing impacts, poor sleep health also incurs significant economic burden in Australia each year (30,104). Based on a 2016-17 economic analysis of inadequate sleep in Australia, the financial costs (e.g. health system costs, productivity losses) of poor sleep health were estimated to be in excess of \$26 billion AUD per year. A further \$40 billion AUD of non-financial costs (e.g. years of life lost due to premature death and years of healthy life lost to disability) were estimated for the same one-year period (30). The non-financial impact of sleep disorders alone was estimated to account for 3.2% of the burden of disease among Australians for the 2019-2020 year (104).

Furthermore, Australian research has demonstrated an association between poor sleep (primarily insomnia) and reduced workplace productivity in young Australians, with estimated productivity losses of 28,644 hours per 1000 young workers per year (105). The majority of the sleep disorders identified in this research were not previously diagnosed (105).

Given the prevalence of poor sleep health, the direct and indirect costs and burden of poor sleep and sleep disorders are a growing public health and health expenditure issue that needs to be recognised nationally and addressed.

6 Risk factors for and potential consequences of poor sleep health

Various risk factors can contribute to or arise from poor sleep health (27,106–109). Many of these risk factors are behavioural factors that are modifiable and are also well-known, significant risk factors for chronic disease.

Figure 5 is a schematic representation of the risk factors that contribute to an increased risk of poor sleep and of the conditions that can arise as a consequence of poor sleep.

Risk factors for and potential consequences of poor sleep



FIGURE 5: OVERLAPPING RISK FACTORS FOR AND POTENTIAL CONSEQUENCES OF POOR SLEEP

6.1 Health behaviours impacting sleep

Health behaviours are actions that individuals take that impact their health (110). Some health behaviours form a component of sleep hygiene – a term used to describe a combination of behavioural and environmental factors that promote or inhibit sleep. However, other health behaviours can 29

Sleep: a core pillar of health and wellbeing

Policy evidence review. Mitchell Institute, September 2023.

constitute an independent risk or protective factor for sleep health. Health behaviours associated with sleep concerns and poor sleep include the following:

6.1.1 Bedtime behaviours and sleep hygiene

The activities of an individual during the day and prior to bedtime affect sleep quality (111). Sleep hygiene is the term used to describe behaviours, environmental factors and sleep-specific factors (e.g. bedtime routine, caffeine consumption, comfort/light in the bedroom) that influence sleep health (111,112). The Sleep Health Foundation (Australia) describes sleep hygiene as good sleep habits that improve sleep health, including:

- Having a consistent bedtime each night that aligns with an individual's circadian clock;
- using the hour before bed to 'wind down' and relax;
- timing meals so as not to go to bed with a full stomach or when hungry;
- not consuming caffeine or smoking before bedtime;
- not staying in bed if sleep is not initiated after 20 minutes;
- not having distracting items and devices in the bedroom;
- getting sunlight during the day; and
- ensuring sleep duration is within the 7-9 hour range (113).

While the evidence for sleep hygiene as a treatment for insomnia is limited (114), research into the influence of sleep hygiene on sleep health is developing and more research is required to fully understand the effects of sleep hygiene on sleep as well as individual variability in responses to sleep hygiene (111).

6.1.2 Screen time

Studies indicate that screen time before bed can increase the amount of time it takes to fall asleep, reduce sleep quality and affect attentiveness the following day. Working and using the internet in the hours before going to bed or going to sleep has been shown to be associated with reporting poor sleep or sleep difficulties (Adams et al., 2017). The timing of screen use is an important factor as the use of these devices can lead to delays in the time that users go to bed and, consequently, shorter sleep overall (115). Longer screen use time also may affect sleep by reducing the time spent doing other activities, such as exercise and spending time outdoors, that may be beneficial for sleep and sleep regulation (116). Viewing bright screens (such as a phone, computer or tablet) in the evening significantly impacts the time taken to start to feel sleepy and eventually fall asleep. Exposure to bright light, particularly shorter wavelengths of light, in the evening hours before sleep, can increase alertness (117), delay the timing of the body's naturally occurring circadian rhythms (76) and suppress the release of the hormone melatonin, which is important for maintaining and regulating the individual sleep-wake cycle (118).

6.1.3 Dietary factors

Sleep can be influenced by diet through a number of mechanisms. Sleep can be directly influenced by substances like caffeine, discussed below, and melatonin-containing foods which work by affecting receptors in the brain that induce sleep. The regulation of sleep can be affected by bioactive metabolites, and insomnia has been linked to diet-induced inflammation (119). Carbohydrates, fatty acids, amino acids and vitamins can all affect sleep in various complex ways (119). High Glycaemic 30

Sleep: a core pillar of health and wellbeing

Policy evidence review. Mitchell Institute, September 2023.

Index (GI) carbohydrates (i.e. carbohydrates that are broken down quickly by the body) can be associated with increased insomnia incidence, but a high GI meal four hours before bed has been found to decrease sleep latency compared to a low GI meal (119). Low protein intake is associated with poor sleep quality and high protein intake is associated with difficulty maintaining sleep (120). Certain micronutrient deficiencies (e.g. Vitamin A, C, D and E, calcium and magnesium in women and Vitamin D in men) are linked to short sleep duration (121). Excessive intake of total kilojoules and diets high in fat, free sugars and highly processed foods are associated with poorer sleep (122). Patterns of irregular eating have also been linked with indicators of poor sleep (123).

6.1.4 Alcohol

Although alcohol is associated with reduced time to fall asleep, alcohol consumption in the hours before bed is associated with sleep disturbances, more frequent awakenings and decreased restorative slow-wave sleep (124). Results from a community-based survey indicate that there was a dose-response relationship between alcohol consumption and sleep problems - that is, more sleep problems were associated with higher alcohol consumption - including short sleep duration, snoring and obstructive sleep apnoea (Zheng et al., 2021). Alcohol use is also associated with circadian rhythm disruptions (125). The impact of acute alcohol use may be transient and depend on the dose, whereas more regular use may have lasting impacts on circadian rhythm and can take 3-12 weeks of abstinence to resolve (125). There is also a long-established link between insomnia and an increased risk of relapse in alcohol dependence (126,127).

6.1.5 Caffeine consumption

Caffeine consumption is associated with reduced sleep quality and quantity (128). Caffeine consumption is linked with prolonged sleep latency, reduced sleep time, reduced sleep efficiency and lower self-reported sleep quality (129). Although there is substantial individual variability in response to caffeine, the timing and dose of caffeine are the most important aspects to consider (129). A systematic review and meta-analyses by Gardiner et al (130) on the effect of caffeine on subsequent sleep found that the reduction of total sleep time from caffeine effects could be avoided if caffeine was not consumed in the hours before bedtime. Small studies in humans indicate that caffeine close to bedtime can impact circadian melatonin rhythm and delay sleep onset (131), but larger studies would be required to support a substantial impact of caffeine on circadian rhythm.

6.1.6 Smoking

31

There is a bi-directional relationship between smoking and sleep quality as smoking impacts sleep quality and poor sleep quality impacts nicotine dependence (132). Overall, sleep disturbances are more common among cigarette smokers than non-smokers (133).

6.1.7 Physical inactivity and sedentary behaviour

Physical inactivity (not meeting daily physical activity guidelines) and sedentary behaviour (being inactive e.g., sitting or lying for long periods) are both associated with poor sleep (134,135). The evidence indicates that the relationship between physical inactivity and sleep is bi-directional, where physical inactivity impacts sleep and sleep impacts levels of physical activity (135). Physical inactivity is also linked with moderate-to-severe obstructive sleep apnoea (136). Similarly, sedentary behaviour is associated with poor sleep quality. For example, results of a large study of community-dwelling

adults show that those with higher sedentary time (+8 hours/day) had greater odds of sleep problems compared to those with less sedentary time (less than 4 hours per day) (137). A recent study showed the all-cause mortality risks associated with short and long sleep could be reduced by increasing levels of moderate-to-vigorous physical activity (138).

6.1.8 The interconnected relationships between sleep, physical activity and diet

Sleep, exercise and diet have been described as the three pillars of healthy life (78). All three are interconnected and influence one another in complex ways. They individually contribute to health and wellbeing, positively or negatively, and each influences the impact of the other two on health and wellbeing (78).

Nutrition affects almost all aspects of health with a healthy, balanced diet shown to reduce the risk of a wide range of health conditions. Various dietary factors are also known to influence sleep quality and duration (see section 7.1.3 above). A systematic review of evidence of the impact of sleep interventions in children on the body mass index, diet and physical activity published in 2016 found that improvements in sleep duration had a positive impact on BMI, nutrition and physical activity. The report also noted that childhood obesity has been recognised by the World Health Organization (WHO) as a public health priority for the prevention of non-communicable diseases (139). Whilst research has focussed on the physical activity and nutrition of children to identify child obesity prevention interventions, systematic reviews have shown mixed results in the effectiveness of these. There is also significant evidence to suggest that poor dietary choices are made by individuals when inadequate sleep is obtained (140) and that poor dietary choices can result in poor quality sleep (141).

Physical activity is well recognised as a core pillar of health. The benefits of consistent exercise include improvements to mental health, cardiometabolic health and sleep health and a subsequent reduction in the risk of developing various preventable chronic diseases. A substantial amount of research has shown that getting regular exercise can improve sleep. Both aerobic exercise like cardio and running, as well as resistance exercise like weightlifting, can improve sleep quality. Physical activity can also reduce the risk of sleep problems, like insomnia, obstructive sleep apnea (OSA), and restless legs syndrome (RLS). Multiple studies have shown that exercise can reduce pre-sleep anxiety and improve sleep quality in people with insomnia. There are strong associations between levels of physical activity, sleep health and overall health and wellbeing. For example, the risk of all-cause mortality is significantly increased in people who have both inadequate physical activity and inadequate sleep, compared to inadequate physical activity or sleep individually (138,142). Further, exercise can improve sleep quality in healthy and clinical populations (143) and improve changes in metabolism associated with inadequate sleep (144).

Sleep health can be significantly impacted by diet and exercise, but poor sleep also hinders good nutrition and physical activity. Sleep facilitates both physical and cognitive recovery and repair, affecting nearly every tissue in the body. Sufficient sleep is also important in having the energy to exercise. Not getting enough sleep can lead to being less physically active during the day and reduced muscle strength during workouts. Sleep deprivation can also affect the safety of exercise, with increased sports injuries reported in those who are sleep deprived. Insufficient sleep duration and/or poor sleep quality make individuals more likely to overeat and choose unhealthy foods. Sleep deprivation affects the body's release of ghrelin and leptin, two neurotransmitters that play a key role

32

in regulating hunger and appetite (145). Ongoing poor sleep health and long-term sleep deficiency are also associated with an increased risk of obesity.

6.1.9 Clustering of behaviours

It is important to note that a number of health behaviours or 'lifestyle factors' tend to cluster together for a range of environmental and psychosocial reasons (146,147). Behavioural clustering means that one 'risky' behaviour is likely to occur with other 'risky' behaviours. (e.g., smoking, alcohol use, poor quality diet). People identified as poor sleepers have also been shown to have a poor health profile, indicating a cluster of health risks occurring at once (148). Furthermore, a healthy lifestyle and highquality diet is associated with a lower risk of sleep apnoea (149). Importantly, both health behaviours and sleep are underpinned by complex social determinants and this warrants consideration in targeting these behaviours and outcomes. Much of the current evidence tends to examine individual health behavioural risk factors in isolation (e.g. nutrition, physical activity) on sleep, when the impact of multiple risk factors such as socioeconomic status, may be synergistic or some offset each other's impact. Current evidence may not capture the extent of the complex interactions between sleep hygiene, other health behaviours, sleep health status and various health outcomes.

6.2 Common health conditions and outcomes associated with poor sleep

6.2.1 Chronic diseases and chronic pain

Chronic physical conditions and pain are associated with sleep disturbances (150). Poor sleep is associated with physiological changes such as altered hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) functioning, metabolism and stress reactivity, which are risk factors for chronic disease (151). In population studies, short sleep duration (<6 hours in adults) is associated with increased risk of diabetes, cardiovascular disease, coronary heart disease, obesity and hypertension (152) whereas long sleep duration (>9 hours sleep) is associated with diabetes, cardiovascular disease, coronary heart disease, of the association between sleep duration and these chronic health conditions differs with age and sex (152,153).

People who suffer from a sleep disorder, such as obstructive sleep apnoea (OSA) or insomnia, are more likely to have a chronic condition (27). There are also associations between poor sleep and mental health conditions, and sleep loss increases susceptibility to poor mental health (154) as discussed in section 7.2.3.

Chronic physical pain and sleep disturbances have a bi-directional relationship (155,156). Persistent or chronic pain increases symptoms of insomnia and reduces daytime functioning (150) and short sleep can exacerbate pain intensity (156).

6.2.2 Obesity

Overweight and obesity ($BMI \ge 30 \text{kg/m}^2$) have been linked to poor sleep (157). Compared with adults with an average BMI, adults who are obese have a greater risk of short sleep duration and poor sleep quality (Angarita et al., 2016). Weight gain may also be an independent risk factor for poor sleep (157). At a population level, obesity is the strongest predictor of daytime sleepiness, independent of OSA (159). The relationship between sleep and obesity is bi-directional, with poor sleep leading to 33

Sleep: a core pillar of health and wellbeing

Policy evidence review. Mitchell Institute, September 2023.

increased appetite and increased risk of adiposity and obesity (160,161). Additionally, obesity is one of the biggest risk factors for the development of Obstructive Sleep Apnoea (OSA) (162).

6.2.3 Mental health

Sleep health and mental health concerns, including depression, anxiety and acute stress, are known to have a bi-directional relationship, whereby poor mental health often disrupts sleep and poor sleep health can precipitate or exacerbate mental health concerns (59,108,163). Evidence indicates that addressing sleep can improve mental health and sleep intervention strategies can have a mutual benefit for sleep and mental health outcomes (164). Furthermore, there is a dose-response relationship between improvements in sleep and mental health, where improvements in sleep health are reflected in similar improvements in mental health (164).

Insomnia is a significant predictor for the development and onset of depression, anxiety, alcohol abuse, post-traumatic stress disorder and psychosis (165). Depression and sleep problems are closely linked in both directions (166), and it is thought that some of the biology behind sleep and depression are shared. Sleep disturbances are part of the diagnostic criteria for several mental health conditions, including depression, and 'poor mood' is one of the possible daytime symptoms of sleep disorders such as insomnia (154). Furthermore, up to 90% of people experiencing depression also report comorbid sleep disturbances, including 75% who report trouble with falling or staying asleep and 10-40% who report hypersomnia symptoms (i.e. long sleeping duration or excessive daytime sleepiness) ((166–169).

Historically, sleep disturbance has been viewed as a 'secondary symptom' when occurring in the presence of mental health disorders, however, this view is not supported by scientific evidence. In fact, insomnia symptoms are among the most consistent risk factors for the development of depression (170), untreated insomnia can reduce treatment-response to depression therapy (171) and persistent insomnia is the most common residual depression symptom and a predictor of depression relapse (172).

Treating insomnia with behavioural therapies not only improves sleep but also consistently improves depression symptoms (173,174). Furthermore, certain treatments for OSA have also been shown to improve symptoms of depression (175,176).

6.2.4 Suicidal ideation and behaviour risk

Short or disrupted sleep has been identified as a risk factor and warning sign for suicide behaviours (100–102). A range of sleep disturbances and sleep disorders have been shown to be related to suicide behaviours, including insomnia, hypersomnia, parasomnias, nightmares and non-specific disturbances. Sleep disturbance is linked with more active suicidal ideation the following day (177) as well as increased risk of suicide over a medium to long-term follow-up duration (178).

A review of the evidence supports an independent relationship between sleep disturbances and suicide risk (179) while noting that psychiatric disorders may contribute to this relationship. An earlier study identified that short sleep duration is associated with both suicidal ideation and suicide attempts and that this relationship exists separately from any mental illness (180). Sleep disturbance may indicate the worsening of an existing mental health concern but may also precede or be entirely separate from mental illness. This relationship between sleep disturbance and suicidality may be

34

explained by biological factors, such as disruption to serotonin systems. These are chemical compounds in the body associated with regulating mood, cognition, learning and memory. Disrupted sleep can lead to over-arousal or disruption of emotional regulation and/or executive control (178,181,182).

To summarise the complex changes in biological signalling and thus, behaviour, that result from sleep disturbance, Tubbs et al. (183) have put forward a theory titled 'Mind After Midnight', suggesting that psychological and biological factors, including chronotype, intersect with nocturnal wakefulness to create conditions of poor mood and impaired judgement, which may be linked to increased risk of suicide at night (183).

Evidence indicates there is also a relationship between sleep disturbance and suicide among adolescents (184). The risk of experiencing suicidal ideation is 1.35 times greater for adolescents who do not attain sufficient sleep duration on an average school night than those who do (184). This is particularly relevant given that suicide is a leading cause of death among Australian young people (185).

A review of coronial records of deaths by suicide in Australia through the year 2017 showed significantly higher than expected rates of suicide overnight which were associated with nocturnal wakefulness. The authors concluded that this may provide nocturnal wakefulness as a modifiable risk factor for reducing suicide events (186). It is evident that sleep is a critical prevention and intervention target in suicide prevention.

6.2.5 Injury and accident risk

Insufficient sleep duration, sleep disorders and driving at night when the circadian and homeostatic propensity for sleep is high, are all associated with increased risk of both workplace injuries and motor vehicle accidents (MVAs) (187). A 2017 Deloitte Access Economics report estimated that people experiencing poor sleep or living with a sleep disorder are 1.4-2.5 times more likely to suffer a workplace injury or accident and 1.5-2.4 times more likely to be in a MVA (28). Inadequate or poor sleep is estimated to contribute to 25.8% of workplace injuries and 23% of MVAs in Australia (28).

US data suggest that physically active people who had no more than four or five hours of sleep a night were more than twice as likely to report a musculoskeletal injury in the past 12 months as those who slept eight hours or longer (188). However, a recent review of 12 prospective cohort studies found limited evidence supporting an association between various indicators of poor sleep and injury in adult athletic populations (189).

6.3 Social and environmental factors affecting sleep health

6.3.1 Education and employment

35

Education attainment and employment status have an association with sleep health. Compared to tertiary education attainment, a lower education level i.e. secondary school completion is associated with poor sleep (190). Employment status has a complex association with sleep health. People who are unemployed are more likely to have poor sleep compared to people who are employed, but people who work longer hours (>30hrs per week) are more likely to have poor sleep than those who work fewer hours (<30hr per week) (158,190). The type of employment also influences sleep quality. People

who work as labourers, machinery operators and drivers, community and personal service workers, technicians and trade workers and clerical and administrative workers are more likely to have poor sleep (158). Shift work also has a high association with poor sleep (191). The effects of unemployment and education appear to be primarily driven by psychological distress (150).

6.3.2 Health literacy

Health literacy is defined as "how people access, understand and use health information in ways that benefit their health" (192). Health literacy is influenced by many factors including education, disability, age, gender, digital literacy, culture, language and wider determinants of health. Many systemic barriers to health literacy including access to credible and reliable sources of information also exist (193). People who have obstructive sleep apnoea (OSA) often have lower health literacy (194). Poor sleep in children is associated with lower parental health literacy (195).

6.3.3 Environmental factors

Environmental factors can have an impact on the sleep quality of an individual. In terms of sleeping environment, artificial lighting, elevated bedroom temperature, poor ventilation, overcrowding, lack of access to a safe sleeping environment/homelessness, and industrial and urban noise can affect the quality and quantity of sleep (196). A sleep 'microclimate', including bedding and sleepwear can also impact sleep quality (197). Importantly, some environmental factors can be behavioural, such as exposure to screen light from technology (e.g., mobile phones, television) before bedtime (198).

6.3.4 Insomnogenic environment

Like the characteristics of an obesogenic environment, that is, an environment that promotes obesity via neighbourhood characteristics, food policies, etc. (199), modern living has also shaped an 'insomnogenic' environment. As with other behavioural and health risk factors (e.g., physical activity, diet), sleep is modified by the social, physical and built environments in which we live. For example, aspects of modern life and a '24/7 society' including long work hours (200), extended commute times (201), the extension of business hours (54), technology use (202) and patterns of evening socialisation (Coveney, 2014) are all environmental factors enabling behaviours that contribute to individual adverse sleep outcomes. Additionally, social and physical features of society such as family and social cohesion, safety, noise, light and walkability can also influence sleep and sleep disorders (203). These environmental factors contribute to cumulative chronic stress which has a negative impact on sleep (204). Sleep health is affected by and interacts with complex, multi-level influences that are within the scope of non-health policies such as urban planning and environmental regulations.

6.3.5 Psychological factors

Bedtime procrastination has been recognised as a psychological response to a range of causes, including daytime stresses and habitual behaviours such as late-night screen viewing and online activities, despite its subsequent impact of inadequate or poor sleep and fatigue the following day (205,206). Poor sleep patterns for individuals are also associated with delayed bedtime, with stress associated with difficulties going to sleep leading to deferring attempting to do so (207). Staying up late has been reported as being associated with symptoms of depression and anxiety, lower sleep quality and a higher risk of insomnia (208). The term *Revenge Bedtime Procrastination* has developed in the past decade to describe an individual's choice to stay up late in order to have some control over

36
daily life (209). This behaviour can be associated with work stress, long hours of work or other daily stress that leads to an individual choosing to sleep less in order to have time for themselves.

6.3.6 Equity factors

Research shows that there is a 'sleep disparity' across social strata, where at-risk individuals and those experiencing social disadvantage achieve less quality sleep (54) and experience sleep patterns that are linked with poorer health outcomes (210). Disparities in sleep and poor sleep among minority groups are a reflection of a range of social and environmental factors, such as proximity to green space, neighbourhood noise and level of neighbourhood disadvantage (203). Higher levels of stress due to daily challenges experienced by disadvantaged groups (e.g. financial insecurity, racism, poor mental health) also contribute to poorer sleep (210,211). As sleep is a risk factor for chronic diseases, sleep disparities across the social gradient can also widen health inequities (212).

Socioeconomically disadvantaged groups, including communities in rural, regional and remote areas of Australia, also experience additional barriers to seeing a general practitioner about sleep issues such as lack of access or cost (213).

First Nations Australians people experience poorer sleep and more access barriers to sleep health services than do others in the population (214). This is similar to other indigenous populations globally. For example, insufficient sleep is more common in Māori adults in New Zealand compared to non-Māori adults (215).

Also, different beliefs about sleep among population groups, including the normalising of poor sleep and sleep disorders or poor sleep behaviours, can serve as barriers to healthy sleep or to seeking care for a sleep concern (210).

Caring responsibilities, typically undertaken by women, also affect sleep. Interrupted sleep from attending to night-time needs, light sleep from anticipating night-time needs, difficulty sleeping from worry, anxiety and emotional labour at night and ongoing, disruptive night-time behaviour and surveillance all contribute to poor sleep of caregivers (216,217).

Groups experiencing disadvantage may be at risk of more health problems and also have a harder time identifying sleep problems and seeking care. Strategies to improve sleep health in individuals and throughout the population would need to consider these factors and use targeted approaches to make addressing sleep health accessible across the social gradient.

6.4 Population groups and individuals at greater risk of poor sleep

6.4.1 Workforce – physically and/or mentally demanding occupations

Fatigue is considered an issue in physically and mentally demanding occupations. Fatigue is described as a transient reduction in the physiological capacity to perform activities. Physical fatigue refers to a reduced capacity to perform muscle-based activity and mental fatigue refers to a reduced capacity to be cognitively alert (218). Fatigue can result from exertion as well as sleep loss, altered sleep patterns and extended time awake. Inadequate sleep and fatigue have become established industrial and workplace safety concerns in industries that involve long hours of work, physically and/or cognitively demanding tasks and consistently stressful environments (219). It is important to note that fatigue and sleepiness are separate constructs. Sleepiness refers to a person's likelihood of falling asleep in

37

Sleep: a core pillar of health and wellbeing

Policy evidence review. Mitchell Institute, September 2023.

different situations and is the direct result of inadequate sleep. Sleepiness may be an increasing workplace issue arising from contemporary factors adversely influencing sleep health (80).

Historically, physical fatigue was the main concern of reduced work productivity and safety due to the predominance of physical labour (219). However, in present-day work settings, mental fatigue is considered to be a much more widespread and pervasive issue (220,221). While physical fatigue is moderated by the interplay of work time and break time, mental fatigue in the workplace is also affected by extra factors including wakefulness, prior sleep, personal or emotional stress, the time of day and high levels of concentration on particular tasks (219). Mental fatigue can be further exacerbated by long work hours, long commute times, multiple jobs, caregiving responsibilities, the casualisation of the workforce and social commitments (222). Mental fatigue is connected with several risks. In the short term, risks include reduced productivity, increased errors, absenteeism, poor teamwork, reduced motivation, unethical behaviour, workplace incidents and injuries. Additionally, there are long-term effects on health and wellbeing for the individual as well as economic implications. Shift work is associated with sleep disorders such as insomnia as well as chronic conditions such as obesity, diabetes, cardiovascular disorders, mental disorders and cancer (191,223,224).

6.4.2 Shift workers

The modern 24-hour economy has meant that more people are working atypical work hours. Atypical hours or shift work refers to non-standard work patterns, commonly outside of the general daily working hours. General working hours are variously described as starting between 7 and 9 am and concluding around 6pm. Shift work can include those working rotating shifts, split shifts, irregular work time (described as occurring outside of 7am and 6pm), compressed working weeks, night shifts and roster work (225).

Shift workers are at increased risk of having poor sleep, with shift work affecting all three domains of sleep health. The quantity of sleep obtained by night shift workers before their first night shift and between night shifts can be as few as 2-4 hours. The quality of sleep of shift workers is also impacted by increased awakenings during sleep (episodes per sleep where they are awake for more than 5 minutes) and poor sleep efficiency (percentage of time in bed spent asleep). Consistency of sleep is also affected as shift workers often sleep or try to sleep at times misaligned to their circadian rhythm (225). These effects on the quantity, quality and consistency of sleep produces inherent issues of fatigue and fatigue-associated risks, such as reduced productivity, errors, incidents and injuries among others as discussed above in section 7.4.1.

Shift work disorder (SWD) is a condition established by the American Academy of Sleep Medicine (AASM) and included in the International Classification of Sleep Disorders-Second Edition (ICSD-2) (226). It is characterised by insomnia and excessive sleepiness related to shift work and is one of the most common health problems in shift workers. SWD is identified as causing insomnia, fatigue, worse work performance, an increased likelihood of workplace incidents ('accidents') and a poor quality of life. A 2021 cross-sectional analysis of Australian workers identified probable shift work disorder (pSWD) in 10.5% of workers with non-standard work schedules (227). People with pSWD were more likely to report depression/bipolar disorder and/or work errors due to sleep problems (227).

Some high-risk industries operate with shift-based schedules. These include but are not limited to the hospital workforce, emergency services, policing and law enforcement and transport including road,

38

rail and sky. Fatigue in these industries presents significant risks beyond the loss of productivity with health, injury and mortality risks to the individual worker and others as discussed in section 7.4.1. Many of these have industry-specific fatigue-management regulations to counteract these risks. These regulations detail the maximum work and minimum rest requirements including rest time both within a shift and between shifts. Section 8.4.2 provides examples of fatigue management in industries. Addressing employment policies to safeguard healthy sleep is beyond the scope of this paper.

6.4.3 Children and young people

Good sleep is important for children's health, development and well-being. Sleep can have effects on their cognition, mental health and physical health (228,229). Good quality sleep of sufficient duration is important for memory- both declarative (conscious recollection of facts and events) and nondeclarative (nonconscious learning such as usual tasks), cognition and school performance (229). Mental health and emotional regulation are strongly linked to sleep with a bi-directional relationship between depression and anxiety and sleep. Restricted sleep is associated with low attention and hyperactivity whereas emotional regulation is better with adequate sleep (228,229). Inadequate sleep is also associated with physical health issues such as current and future risk of obesity and cardiometabolic risk (230). When considering the effect of sleep on health, particularly the physical health of children, sleep should not be viewed in isolation, but rather as part of a 24-hour day, with physical activity and sedentary behaviour included. The Australian 24-hour movement guidelines for children (refer to section 8.1) provide recommendations for physical activity, sedentary behaviour and sleep (63).

Risk factors associated with poor sleep in children include:

- low socioeconomic status;
- bedroom internet access;
- >5hr per week of homework;
- obesity;
- caffeine intake;
- inconsistent sleep schedule; and
- mental health concerns (228).

The amount of sleep required varies across the lifespan and within childhood years. In general, children require less sleep as they age. The guidelines for sleep duration for children are detailed in section 8.1. According to the 2018 Longitudinal Study of Australian Children, while only 12% of children 6-11 years old did not meet the minimum guidelines on school nights, a quarter of 12-13 years olds and half of 16–17 year-olds were not meeting the minimum sleep guidelines on school nights. In contrast, on non-school nights, younger children are less likely to meet minimum sleep guidelines but older children are more likely to 'catch-up' sleep and sleep longer (228). The pattern of under-sleeping on school nights and over-sleeping on non-school nights for older children is a form of social jetlag. A temporary relief from fatigue is in contradiction of the recommended regular sleep time and wake-up time (228). Such catch up sleep when needed is considered better than chronic sleep deprivation, however consistent sleep and wake times are optimal where achievable. When most adolescents enter puberty, they experience a 'phase-delay' in their sleep-wake cycle – later sleep onset and wake times. This phase-shift is moderated by a delay in melatonin secretion at night time and an altered

39

sleep drive whereby the homeostatic pressure to fall asleep occurs more slowly (231). This shift, along with academic and social pressures, means the average secondary school student does not fall asleep until late in the evening, around 11pm, with associated optimal wake time 8-10 hours later, between 7am-9am (231,232). Early school start times, with associated commute times, mean that many students are not getting adequate time for sleep.

Interventions for sleep health in children include education for both parents and children about the importance of sleep and how to best support sleep, including avoiding or reducing risk factors and promoting good sleep behaviours. Education for teachers and the education sector around how school activities and homework responsibilities can affect sleep and how best to support students' sleep could also be considered.

Delaying school start time is an emerging policy option for addressing sleep in several countries. In the USA, the American Academy of Pediatrics, the American Medical Association and the American Academy of Sleep Medicine have all recommended that middle and high school start times be no earlier than 8:30am (233). In 2019, California legislated later school start times. The laws that came into effect in July 2022 stated that school could start no earlier than 8:30 am for high school and 8:00 am for middle school (234). In Australia, secondary school start times are commonly not before 8.30am (i.e. NSW public schools typically begin at 8.45am) (235).

6.4.4 First Nations Australians

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples (hereafter respectfully referred to as First Nations Australians) experience disproportionately higher rates of sleep problems than non-Indigenous Australians (214). A systematic review of sleep health in First Nations Australians found that First Nations Australians were more likely to report 'unhealthy sleep' – defined in the review as short sleep, difficulty initiating and/or maintaining sleep disrupted/restless sleep or excessive sleepiness (214). The clinic-based studies on OSA included in the review reported a higher proportion of First Nations Australians in the 'severe' range than non-Indigenous Australians. First Nations Australians are also more likely to experience access and availability barriers to services than non-Indigenous Australians. A 2020 report on sleep health in First Nations Australians by the Australasian Sleep Association detailed that sleep problems in First Nations Australians have "strong and causal associations with secondary deficits in daytime performance, sleepiness levels, academic performance, attention and learning, emotional regulation, behaviour and mood regulation, with increased likelihood of obesity, diabetes, high blood, pressure, somatic health, cardiovascular disease and general psychological health" (236).

6.4.5 Women

The Australian Longitudinal Study on Women's Health (ALSWH) has included sleep health in the study since its inception in 1996. A submission to the Parliamentary Inquiry said that women report sleep difficulties during pregnancy and motherhood, the menopause transition and older age. Sleep difficulties are often persistent and have significant consequences for women's wellbeing including being associated with poor mental health, disease, falls and accidents (237).

Pregnancy and post-partum

During pregnancy, women experience inadequate sleep or disrupted sleep including frequent nighttime awakenings, daytime sleepiness and symptoms of sleep disorders (238). Short sleep and later sleep midpoint, the middle time point between going to bed and waking up (239), is associated with a risk of gestational diabetes (240) and subjective declining sleep quality during pregnancy is a risk factor for perinatal depression (242). A higher risk of RSL is associated with pregnancy (243) and weight gain associated with pregnancy increases the risk of OSA (244). There is often an increase in contact with healthcare professionals during pregnancy which provides an opportunity for prevention and intervention. Post-partum women are also at risk of poor sleep. In the period after birth mothers' sleep can be impacted by nighttime feeds and the challenges of infant care. Poor sleep in this period also has a bidirectional relationship with factors like anxiety and post-natal depression (245,246).

Menopause

Menopause, which is the cessation of menstruation, is associated with poorer sleep than would be expected with aging alone (247). The prevalence of women who report sleep disturbances during the menopausal transition is high, between 40%-60% (247). Menopause is associated with significant hormonal changes, which can have direct and indirect impacts on sleep. For example, vasomotor symptoms such as hot flashes or night sweats can be disruptive to sleep (248). Menopause is also associated with changes in mood as well as the presence or exacerbation of other chronic symptoms that impact sleep quality (248). Compared with pre-menopausal women, perimenopausal and postmenopausal women are at increased risk of sleep disturbances (249). Beyond self-reported sleep disturbances, menopause has also been linked to an increase in sleep disorders including insomnia, RLS and OSA (250). OSA risk is generally much higher for men but by the time a woman is in menopause her risk of OSA is approximately the same as that for a male (251). Poor sleep during menopause can impact physical and mental health and quality of life and hormonal treatments or other interventions may be combined with sleep support to address poor sleep during this transition (252).

6.4.6 Older people

Sleep requirements change with age where older people require less sleep than younger people. However, disrupted sleep is common in older adults (>65years). In older people, sleep architecture changes and they typically experience less slow-wave sleep, less rapid eye movement (REM) sleep, reduced sleep efficiency and elongated sleep latency. A phase advance in their circadian rhythm, that is going to bed earlier and waking up earlier, is common for older people. Sleep disturbances also increase the risk of falls in older persons in addition to common potential health consequences like increased risk of chronic disease (253).

7 Sleep in health information, policy and practice

Australian and other government health information services include the significance of sleep as a health issue. The Australian government <u>healthdirect</u> online information service (254) provides advice on the importance of adequate sleep and what people can do to improve their sleep. Healthdirect discusses shift work as working against an individual's natural circadian rhythm and information for shift workers on how to establish healthy sleep habits is included in the information (254). Sleep is a topic in the Victorian *Better Health Channel* online information service which includes advice on sleep stages, disorders and where to find help (255). The South Australian Health Agency (SA Health) describes getting enough sleep as one of the most important contributors to health and wellbeing and important in reducing individual risk for ill-health (42).

7.1 Movement guidelines for children and young people

The Australian Government Department of Health has established national 24 hour movement guidelines for children and young people aged 0-17 that include recommendations on time spent asleep and awake as well as time spent in physical activity and sedentary behaviour (63,64). Canada was first to develop 24-hour movement guidelines and the detailed development process of the Canadian guidelines was leveraged by Australia in their process to adapt the existing guidelines while taking local context into account (256,257)

The guidelines for early years (0-4yo) and for children and adolescents (5-17yo) were developed in 2017 and 2018 respectively and were an evolution of the Australian National Physical Activity Guidelines for children and adolescents. These were first introduced in 2004 and updated to include separate recommendations for sedentary behaviour in 2012 (256). The 2017/18 updates recognised the co-dependent nature of behaviours such as physical activity, sedentary behaviour and sleep and that these could not be viewed in isolation due to the natural time constraint of the 24-hour day. The guidelines state that "all children and young people should get the right mix of physical activity, inactivity and sleep in each 24-hour period" (63,64). Getting enough good quality sleep is described as essential to healthy growth and the guidelines recommend that children aged 5 to 13 years should have 9 to 11 hours of uninterrupted sleep each night and that young people 14 to 17 years of age should have 8 to 10 hours of uninterrupted sleep. Having a consistent bedtime and wake-up time; avoiding screen time for 1 hour before sleep and keeping screens out of the bedroom are recommended behaviours to establish and maintain healthy sleep patterns.

Table 2 outlines the 24-hour movement recommendations for children and young people.

Age	Physical Activity	Sedentary activities	Sleep
0-1 years	Being physically active several times a day in a variety of ways	Not being restrained for more than 1hour at a time or sitting for extended periods. Sedentary screen time is not recommended	14-17hours (0-3months) 12-16hours (4-11months) Of good quality sleep including naps
1-2 years	At least 180minutes spent in a variety of physical activities including energetic play	 Not being restrained for more than 1 hour at a time or sitting for extended periods. Sedentary screen time: not recommended for 1 year olds 2 year old no more than 1 hour 	 11-14 hours of good quality sleep Including naps Consistent sleep and wake-up times
3-5 years	At least 180minutes spent in a variety of physical activities of which at least 60minutes is energetic play	Not being restrained for more than 1hour at a time or sitting for extended periods. Sedentary screen time of less than 1 hour	 10-13 hours of good quality sleep May include a nap Consistent sleep and wake-up times
5-13 years	At least 60 minutes of moderate to vigorous physical activity per day	Sedentary recreational screen time should be limited to 2 hours per day	 9-11 hours of uninterrupted sleep per night Consistent routine (try not to vary bedtime and wake-up time by more than 30mins) Avoid screens one hour before bed and make bedrooms a screen-free zone
14-17 years	At least 60 minutes of moderate to vigorous physical activity per day	Sedentary recreational screen time should be limited to 2 hours per day	 8-10 hours of uninterrupted sleep per night Consistent routine (try not to vary bedtime and wake-up time by more than 30mins) Avoid screens one hour before bed and make bedrooms a screen-free zone

TABLE 2: 24 HOUR MOVEMENT GUIDELINES 0-17YEARS (63,64)

National Physical Activity Guidelines exist for adults 18+, but these do not include sleep recommendations. The Australian 24 Hour Movement Guidelines for Adults are currently in development after inclusion in the March 2022 Federal Budget (258). Given the importance of sleep both separately as a health issue and in interaction with physical activity and diet for individual health and wellbeing, separate and/or complementary guidelines for each are warranted.

43

Sleep: a core pillar of health and wellbeing

Policy evidence review. Mitchell Institute, September 2023.

7.2 Sleep in preventive health policy

Preventive health has become a national policy priority. The National Preventive Health Strategy 2021 – 2030 (the NPHS) sets out a series of policy achievements throughout this decade to establish a prevention system, to address the increasing burden of disease in the Australian population and to reduce health inequity among the population. The NPHS identifies and acknowledges the wider determinants of health that affect a person's overall state of health. These include social, environmental, structural, economic, cultural, biomedical, commercial and digital environments (193). The NPHS aims to improve the health and wellbeing of all Australians at all stages of life through prevention including by improving the prevention of risk factors for chronic conditions, injuries and infectious disease as well as improving protective factors in childhood that are critical to creating strong foundations for later in life (193).

Consultations for the NPHS heard that "getting enough sleep" is an important component of health for people in the community (193). The NPHS states that achieving adequate sleep and being physically active are essential components of preventing poor physical health and for establishing and maintaining strong mental health and wellbeing. It recognises that:

- poor sleep affects the capacity of people to undertake sufficient physical activity for health (193);
- the duration of sleep affects the ability of individuals to regulate appetite and metabolism (193);and
- the length and quality of sleep (are among) many protective factors that contribute to positive mental health and wellbeing (193).

A report in April (17) by the Australian Parliament House of Representatives Standing Committee on Health, Aged Care and Sport, Bedtime Reading, was intended to bring attention to the central function of sleep to overall health and wellbeing in the Australian population and to increase the focus placed on sleep among policy makers and the broader community. The Committee report considered the available evidence on poor sleep among Australians, the prevalence of sleep disorders and common factors that contribute to poor sleep, including the extent to which children have disrupted sleep because of increased use of smartphones and other online devices. The Committee recommended that the Australian Government establish sleep health as a national priority and recognise its importance to health and wellbeing alongside fitness and nutrition (Recommendation 1). The Committee also recommended that a national sleep education and awareness campaign should be undertaken in partnership by the Australian government with state and territory governments and key stakeholder groups (Recommendation 8). Other Recommendations covered shift work guidelines; working hours and policies; funding for access to sleep health services; medication provision; medical education, training and registration and research (17). A government response was published in August 2023 which supports recommendation 1, notes recommendation 6 regarding monitoring of the CPAP industry and supports in principle all other recommendations (259).

7.3 Sleep in health practice

The National Mental Health Commission (NMHC), in a submission to the 2019 Parliamentary Inquiry, said that disordered sleep is both a causal factor and a symptom of mental illness; that sleep

deprivation can further contribute to the development of mental illness and that sleep problems can be a consequence of pharmacological treatments for mental illness. The NMHC submission said a growing body of research indicates a strong correlation between sleep disturbances and suicidal ideation and behaviours. The NMHC said research indicated that sleep complaints may be a key risk factor and warning sign and provide an avenue for early intervention and prevention, emphasising the "critical need to address sleep health and sleep disorders in primary care" (31).

The Royal Australian College of General Practitioners (RACGP), in its publication *Guidelines for preventive activities in general practice*, identifies the importance of healthy sleep as part of children's health checks and as a health assessment issue for adolescents (14-19 years of age). It identifies physical activity among older adults as improving sleep among other health benefits (260). The RACGP Healthy Habits group has been funded to include sleep health assessment and interventions into the Healthy Habits program.

7.4 Sleep in other public policy

Sleep as a risk factor for health and/or safety is relevant in other public policies. Poor or disrupted sleep is recognised as a risk factor for road and workplace accidents and injuries and the significant influence of sleep on the developing brain means sleep has a place within employment/labour (occupational health and safety) policy, road safety policy and education policy.

7.4.1 Employment/work hours

Various laws, standards and regulations exist both in Australia and internationally to regulate work hours and timing of work. In Australia, each state and territory legislates and regulates occupational health and safety separately and the Australian Government Fair Work Ombudsman has National Employment Standards that relate to the maximum hours of weekly work hours (261). Full-time employees are permitted to work up to 38 hours per week, unless additional hours are considered reasonable in terms of minimal risk to the employee, adequate notice and compensation (262).

Safe Work Australia has a guide for managing the risk of fatigue which includes a fatigue checklist and guidelines for shift design (e.g. minimising night shifts, and assigning rest periods) (221). Additionally, several industry-specific fatigue-management regulations exist. These regulations detail the maximum work and minimum rest requirements including rest time both within a shift and between shifts. Some of these specifically refer to the management of fatigue in the workplace and arise from factors such as irregular work hours. Importantly, evidence among university students suggests that the terms 'sleepy', 'fatigued', 'tired' and 'drowsy' have unique meanings and should not be used interchangeably. This has implications for how fatigue is measured and reported among employees (263).

7.4.2 High-risk industries

There are national, state and territory arrangements that separately regulate occupational health and safety with some including provisions relating to fatigue management relevant to the workplace, particularly in high-risk industries such as train, road and air transport. Table 3 provides a summary of some of the relevant national workplace provisions.

TABLE 3: HIGH-RISK INDUSTRY AND FATIGUE MANAGEMENT

Industry body	E.g. Regulation, Law, Code of practice, standard, guidelines	Summary
National Transport Commission: Heavy Vehicle National Law	<u>Heavy Vehicle (Fatigue</u> <u>Management) National Regulation</u> <u>2018</u>	 Maximum work requirements and minimum rest requirements Work diary requirements
National Transport Commission: Rail Safety National Law	Rail Safety National Law National Regulations 2012	 Details and requirements for the development of a fatigue risk management program Maximum shift requirements Break requirements Maximum days worked in 14 day period
Civil Aviation Safety Authority	Civil Aviation Order 48.1 Instrument 2019	 Prescriptive approach: Set flight and duty time limits Fatigue risk management Flexible but complex FRMS using a data-driven approach
Australian Medical Association (AMA)	<u>National code of practice- hours</u> of work, shift work and rostering for hospital doctors 2016	 Tool for identifying unsafe working hours and reduce risks. No hard limits on maximum hours, rest periods or shift work but includes recommendations and risks.
Australian Nursing & Midwifery Federation (AMNF)	AMNF Fatigue Prevention Policy (2019)	The AMNF Policy aims to support the prevention of work-related fatigue amongst nurses, midwives and assistants in nursing. The policy addresses work- related fatigue factors including: Roster patterns, length and timing of shifts, recovery time between shifts, shift rotation and working night duty shifts in an unsafe pattern of meal and rest breaks, long periods awake and mentally and/or physically demanding work.

Commercial	CPV Victoria Fatigue Management	Guidelines for recognising fatigue and
Passenger Vehicles	Guidelines	how to reduce risks including
Victoria		recommended maximum work hours and
		minimum rest periods.
Emergency Services	National Council for Fire and	"to assist emergency service
	Emergency Services – Managing	organisations to develop consistent, yet
	Fatigue in Emergency Response by	organisationally specific, procedures and
	Workplace Health and Safety	practices to mitigate the risks posed by
	Technical Group 2022	fatigue at work"
Mining	NSW Resources Regulator	guidance on how to prevent worker
	Fatigue management Guide	fatigue and its associated risks

There is increasing recognition that prescriptive regulations for maximum hours worked and minimum rest periods are not adequate for fatigue management. In fact, adherence to these regulations in many industries does not create a decrease in risk. The American Academy of Sleep Medicine and the Sleep Research Society have published guiding principles for determining work shift duration (219). These guiding principles reflect the risks of fatigue, the countermeasures to fatigue and decision-making about shift duration.

Several industries have been transitioning to use Fatigue Risk Management Systems (FRMS) as an alternative to prescriptive regulations. In general, FRMS sets out standards for standard work hours, guides scheduling and mandatory rest periods, includes fatigue training for staff and calculates risks or safety breaches based on fatigue-based activities and periods of work. Using the aviation industry as an example, The International Civil Aviation Organization (ICAO) define FRMS as:

"A data-driven means of continuously monitoring and managing fatigue-related safety risks, based on scientific principles and knowledge as well as operational experience that aims to ensure relevant personnel are performing at adequate levels of alertness"

ICAO (264)

The New Zealand Civil Aviation Authority regulations have allowed the use of FRMS principles since the 90s (265) and the ICAO has had guidelines for the use of an FRMS in its international Standards and Recommended Practices (SARPs) (266). An FRMS uses risk, rather than compliance to identify workplace fatigue hazards. They allow a roster to work dynamically to respond to risk factors. The Australian Civil Aviation Safety Authority (CASA) has standards, based on those from ICAO, for adopting an FRMS approach (267). The Royal Flying Doctor Service (RFDS) service of Australia Western Operations was the first Australian aircraft operator to receive full approval of an FRMS after a 2-year trial period in 2019 (268).

A 2022 review of FRMS system effectiveness by Sprajcer et al. (269) concluded that, while there are few studies for FRMS effectiveness as a whole, the evidence of improved key metrics of safety and fatigue suggests it is likely to be effective for safety outcomes. The authors propose that the success of an FRMS would depend on the safety culture and resources of the implementing organisation.

Sleep: a core pillar of health and wellbeing Policy evidence review. Mitchell Institute, September 2023.

47

There have been incidences where corporations have removed fatigue-related safety provisions, which has received criticism from sleep experts. For example, in 2017 CSX Corporation forbid controlled napping for train engineers and conductors (270). This goes against evidence to support napping as a fatigue risk reduction strategy in the face of irregular work schedules that make adequate sleep challenging (271). Elimination of such fatigue risk management strategy poses a risk to their employees and the public (270).

7.4.3 Road safety

There is some overlap between occupational health and safety and road safety where industries use roads, particularly the heavy vehicle industry. The National Road Safety Strategy 2021-2030 (NRSS), which aims to reduce the burden from road crashes and develop a safer, sustainable transport system, refers to fatigue including "supporting fatigue management through investment in heavy vehicle stops" and increasing "community understanding of risky road use" where a high-risk behaviour is "driving while fatigued" (272).

7.4.4 Daylight savings

Daylight Savings Time (DST) is not uniformly observed in Australia with New South Wales, Victoria, South Australia, Tasmania, ACT and Norfolk Island all implementing DST while Queensland, Northern Territory, WA, Christmas Island and the Cocos (Keeling) Islands do not.

In the United States, several sleep-related organisations such as the Sleep Research Society (273) and the American Academy of Sleep Medicine (274) have called for the elimination of DST. Adopting a permanent standard time is proposed to protect health, sleep and circadian biology (275).

Evidence for or against DST may vary based on the outcome measure. For example, a study of 22,000 European elementary students identified no significant test score differences in math, science and reading in the week following the time change (276). Additionally, a systematic review of the impact of DST on traffic collisions found inconsistent short-term results (277). In 2020, an analysis of health insurance data from over 150 million people in the US and Sweden identified four modestly elevated risk clusters following daylight savings shift, including cardiovascular disease, injuries, mental and behavioural disorders and immune-related disorders (278). This is supported by a meta-analysis published in 2019, which identified a small but significant increase in the risk of myocardial infarctions following DST transitions (279). Daylight savings have been shown to cause acute sleep loss across the week of the change, and DST can affect sleep and neurological function in the short term after the change and throughout the period of DST (280). Overall, experts such as members of the Society for Research on Biological Rhythms published a position paper to argue that the benefits of permanent standard time outweigh those of DST (281).

It is however important to note that the benefits and harms of DST are not restricted to sleep/circadian rhythm and therefore a public conversation to address all the factors is needed.

7.4.5 Education

There is emerging evidence that education policies and practices can affect the sleep health of adolescents. As discussed earlier, as adolescents enter puberty they may experience a 'phase-delay' in their sleep-wake cycle with their sleep patterns changing to later sleep onset and wake times (231). Academic and social pressure coupled with school start times and associated commute times, mean 48

Sleep: a core pillar of health and wellbeing

Policy evidence review. Mitchell Institute, September 2023.

many students are not getting adequate sleep. Insufficient sleep in children and young people is associated with impairments of mood, memory, emotional regulation, mental health problems and physical health issues (228,229,231). Some countries have introduced later school start times to account for this, as detailed in section 7.4.3.

The national school curriculum does not currently include education about sleep (282). There is some evidence to support the impact of sleep education on improving sleep behaviours and outcomes among school-aged kids. For example, a randomised controlled trial in year 7 students from two urban schools found that students who underwent a Sleep Smart program had greater sleep health efficacy, improved sleep hygiene, more time in bed and earlier bedtimes compared to the control group (283). Other studies however have shown that changes to sleep patterns are difficult to achieve through education (284), but while the longer-term impacts of sleep education on sleep habits are unknown, there is broad agreement by researchers, parents, students and clinicians that sleep education should be included in general health education (285). This may support embedding sleep education outcomes but not overload curricula.

7.4.6 Urban planning/light pollution

A series of Australian Standards and Technical Specifications guide local governments and other authorities (e.g. road, traffic) on how to design safe and effective lighting (286). For example, AS/NZS 1158 series specifies lighting for roads and public spaces, AS/NZS 4282 for Outdoor Lighting Obtrusive effects and AS/NZS 4282 sets guidelines for control of obstructive effects of outdoor lighting and gives recommended lighting limits so that the effects of light are tolerable (287). This standard is most relevant to new lighting installations and all new developments must comply with these standards.

These standards are implemented at a town or council level. For example, the City of Melbourne also has lighting guidelines that follow the key design principles present across these standards and include controlling lighting levels, minimising lighting spill, moderating glare and colour of lighting (288). The Victorian roads authority, VicRoads, also has guidelines for street lighting design which covers lighting in areas such as pedestrian facilities, airports, railway crossings, etc. (289). Lighting guidelines and design principles are primarily centred around safety, orientation and animal welfare (290). Although a submission to the Inquiry into Sleep Health Awareness in Australia highlights the impact of artificial light at night on sleep, sleep is not explicitly mentioned or targeted by existing lighting guidelines (291). Incorporating sleep as a consideration for designing outdoor lighting may become a planning policy consideration to improve population sleep quality. The UK House of Lords has conducted an inquiry into the effects of light and noise pollution on human health (292). The Inquiry reported that poorly regulated pollutants were affecting population-wide health and quality of life and that light and noise pollution were neglected pollutants that are causing significant health impacts. (293).

Chair of the House of Lords Science and Technology Committee, Baroness Brown said that the Inquiry had found that light and noise had substantial impacts on the population (294):

"Not only can they cause annoyance, impacting quality of life, but through the disruption of sleep and circadian rhythms, both noise and light pollution can contribute to heart disease and premature death."

49

8 Measuring and monitoring sleep health

Sleep health should be measured and monitored across the population, as it is an important marker of social, mental and physical health and wellbeing (295). Validated sleep health measures and regular population-level data collection are essential to provide an accurate picture of sleep health in Australia. Currently, there is a lack of robust, comprehensive population-level data regarding the sleep health of Australians (296). The sleep data that does exist is drawn together from a patchwork of self-reported longitudinal surveys, academic research and cross-sectional cohort studies, and outdated Australian Health Survey data. There are various notable limitations associated with sleep data in Australia (296), including:

- Reliance on self-reported data the majority of Australian sleep health data are based on self-report survey responses. Although self-report data is the standard to determine the presence of some sleep disorders (e.g. insomnia), reliance on solely self-report data to measure population sleep health may reduce data reliability and increase data bias, as many people may find it difficult to accurately estimate the quantity, quality and consistency of their sleep (296). When sleep is measured objectively with actigraphy (i.e. via a wearable, usually wrist-worn device), self-reported data has been found to underestimate sleep duration by up to one hour (297,298). Sleep health issues may also be underreported and underdiagnosed in certain populations, either due to a lack of knowledge and/or health literacy, or because respondents' misjudge the adequacy of their sleep (27,228,299).
- Different sleep health measures used in different studies a wide variety of tools, indicators and metrics can be used to measure sleep health. This can make it difficult to compare data collected in different surveys due to a lack of consistency in how sleep is measured. These differences potentially contribute to discrepancies in prevalence estimates between data sources. For example, self-reported insomnia prevalence data estimates range from 5.4% when responding to the question 'I slept in short bursts only and was awake most the night' (150), to 33% when measured based on self-reported difficulty initiating and maintaining sleep (300).
- Prevalence estimates are largely extrapolated from research studies with non-nationally representative samples (either geographically or demographically) (296).
- Lack of Australian data on the relationship between sleep health issues and chronic conditions. The data that have been published regarding the complex and bi-directional interactions between sleep health and different chronic conditions are dated and limited in scope (295,296).
- Data is narrowly focused on sleep disorder prevalence, rather than on population sleep health across the entire sleep health spectrum (301).

Given these limitations and the lack of comprehensive, population-level Australian sleep health data, the actual prevalence and range of issues across the sleep health spectrum is difficult to ascertain.

Improved monitoring and improved surveillance of sleep health in Australia would provide reliable information for public health decision-making and planning. This would include data and statistics on:

• sleep health issues and associated health outcomes across the sleep health spectrum;

50

- modifiable sleep behaviours;
- reliable data on the prevalence of sleep disorders;
- risk factors and social and economic determinants for poor sleep;
- access to health care and support for individuals with poor sleep; and
- the estimated economic and social costs associated with poor sleep in the community (295).

Improved measuring and monitoring of sleep health would also inform public health information, reinforce the importance of sleep to overall health and wellbeing and enable policy and planning to respond to sleep health issues both in the population and in sub-population groups and communities.

8.1 Sleep health indicators and assessment

Sleep health is more than the absence of a sleep disorder or inadequate sleep (302). In keeping with this, emphasis needs to be placed on the positive role of sleep for health rather than just on the identification and treatment of disorders (19). Sleep health indicators and assessment tools should reflect this to ensure that sleep health data are comprehensive and robust.

Sleep health indicators are essential to track both sleep health and sleep disorder prevalence in the population to inform health policy, investment and service provision. The various dimensions and indicators of sleep health outlined in the sleep health conceptual framework (see *Figure 2* in section 5.2) provide relevant measures for both population health and primary care purposes.

Sleep health and habitual sleep patterns can be assessed through a variety of objective and subjective (i.e. self-report) methods (303). Commonly used sleep health assessment methods include:

- Sleep diaries: A sleep diary is a self-reported record of an individual's sleep habits and patterns that can be completed each morning after getting out of bed. It typically includes information such as bedtime, wake time, sleep duration, quality of sleep, and any factors that may have influenced sleep, such as caffeine consumption, sleeping pill use or exercise (303).
- Sleep health and sleep disorder assessment tools: There are various sleep health assessment tools available and in use in both clinical and research settings. These tools are used to evaluate particular aspects of an individual's overall sleep health (i.e. quantity, quality and consistency) and/or to assess the presence of possible sleep disorders. They are generally self-reported questionnaires that examine sleep disturbances and one or more dimensions of sleep health over a set time period. Some common assessment tools are discussed below and in the sections of this paper that follow (303).
- Polysomnography (PSG): PSG is a comprehensive sleep study conducted in a sleep laboratory
 or specialised clinic, or set up at home. It involves monitoring various physiological parameters
 during sleep, including brain activity (electroencephalography), eye movements
 (electrooculography), muscle tone, heart rate, and respiratory activity. PSG is considered the
 gold standard for diagnosing most sleep disorders and provides detailed information about
 sleep architecture and disturbances (11).
- Actigraphy: Involves the use of a usually wrist-worn device for measuring movement, which provides objective data that can be used to estimate sleep-wake patterns, sleep efficiency, and total sleep time. This includes consumer devices such as Fitbits, Garmins and Apple Watches. Some devices also capture light exposure and heart rate, providing further data for

51

assessing sleep. Historically, actigraphy has been used mostly in research settings or as a complement to other clinical assessment methods. However, with consumer devices becoming more common and accessible, they could play a bigger role in population health data in the future. Actigraphy is not as rigorous as PSG, but it provides an inexpensive, portable, readily accessible and simple-to-use method of obtaining multi-night, objective, biometric data for sleep health assessment and monitoring (304).

Several survey scales or suites of indicators have been developed to measure or assess sleep health. The RuSATED scale is a self-report scale measuring sleep health using six dimensions of sleep. These are (302):

- <u>Regularity</u>: Do you go to bed and get out of bed at about the same times (within one hour) every day?
- <u>Satisfaction</u>: Are you satisfied with your sleep?
- <u>Alertness:</u> Do you stay awake all day without dozing?
- Timing: Are you asleep (or in bed) between 2:00 am and 4.00 am?
- <u>Efficiency</u>: Do you spend less than 30 minutes awake at night? This includes the time it takes to fall asleep plus awakenings during sleep.
- Duration: Do you sleep between 7 and 9 hours per day?

The Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index was developed and validated for use in adults 18+ (305). An abbreviated form of this index assesses bedtime, sleep latency, sleep duration, sleep disturbances, use of sleep medication, daytime sleepiness and the presence of a bedpartner. A pitfall of this questionnaire (and many others) is that it does not distinguish between sleep on work/school days and non-work/school days, which are likely to differ.

Similarly, assessment tools have been developed to assess sleep hygiene or healthy sleep behaviours such as screen time in the 2-3 hours before bed, light exposure during the day and at night and the frequency of behaviours (nights per week). Existing assessment tools appropriate for use in adults include the Sleep Hygiene Index and the Pre-Bed Behaviour Questionnaire (307). For assessment of sleep hygiene in adolescents, available tools include the Adolescent Sleep Hygiene Scale (308) or children, the Children's Sleep Health Questionnaire assesses sleep health holistically, including items related to habitual sleep patterns, healthy sleep behaviours and symptoms of potential sleep disorders (309).

8.2 Sleep health data in Australia

Regular, routine collection and reporting of health indicators identifies trends over time in health risks and conditions in the population and health care needs and informs policymakers, practitioners, communities and organisations of the health pressures and concerns that are evident.

8.2.1 Existing data sources

While there is a lack of comprehensive data concerning sleep health in Australia, some data has been collected in several research studies. These include the:

- Australian Health Survey 2011-13 (310);
- Sleep Health Foundation Survey of Australian Adults (2016) (32);

52

- Australian Longitudinal Study on Women's Health (237);
- Australian Longitudinal Study on Male Health (Ten to Men) (311);
- Household Income and Labour Dynamics in Australia Survey (158);
- 45 and Up Study (NSW) (312);
- 2017 National Social Survey (190);
- Men Androgen Inflammation Lifestyle Environment and Stress (MAILES) Study (313);
- Tasmanian Longitudinal Health Study (314);
- Australian arm of Burden of Obstructive Lung Disease (BOLD) Study (315);
- West Australian Pregnancy Cohort (Raine) Study (316); and
- Busselton Health Study (317).

Further details regarding these Australian studies that include data on sleep are in Appendix 2.

The Australian Institute of Health and Welfare (AIHW) referenced these and several single studies of sleep health in Australia in a 2021 report on sleep problems as a risk factor for chronic conditions (296). The 2019 Parliamentary Inquiry (17) also listed these studies as principal data sources on sleep in Australia.

Other governmental sources of sleep data that could be explored for the development of a comprehensive and coordinated sleep health data strategy include:

- Medical Benefits Schedule (MBS) data related to sleep;
- Pharmaceutical Benefits Schedule (PBS) data related to medications prescribed to treat insomnia and other sleep disorders; and
- diagnostic and procedure codes in hospital admissions data and outpatient data related to sleep disorders and poor sleep.

8.2.2 Population health data for public health information and planning

Population health surveillance provides a regular, detailed oversight of the health of all Australians. The Australian Institute of Health and Welfare (AIHW) provides regular reports on a range of health conditions including arthritis and back problems, asthma, cancer, chronic disease, chronic musculoskeletal conditions, respiratory conditions, dementia, dental and oral health, diabetes, eye health, heart, stroke and vascular diseases, mental health and osteoporosis (318). Data is also reported on population groups and on prevention and determinants of health, including factors that are relevant to sleep health such as alcohol consumption and physical activity; overweight and obesity. Currently, sleep health does not feature in Australia's major national health and social surveys. Population surveillance is particularly important for understanding the sleep behaviours and habits of vulnerable populations such as First Nations Australians, those living in rural and regional areas, those from culturally and linguistically diverse backgrounds, and those experiencing socioeconomic disadvantage.

The largest and most comprehensive health study to be undertaken in Australia, the Intergenerational Health and Mental Health Study (IHMHS) is currently being conducted by the Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS) (319). The survey comprises seven component studies and is being undertaken over four years to 2024. A National Nutrition and Physical Activity Survey, underway through 2023, will collect information on health conditions, food intake, physical activity and the impact of sleep from

12,000 survey participants (320). Data from this study may provide national data on sleep that could be collected regularly through National Health Surveys (NHS). These surveys are usually conducted at intervals of three to four years and provide health statistics on long-term health conditions, mental wellbeing and health risk factors. These surveys, to date, have not included sleep health. The most recent NHS was conducted in 2020-21 (321).

8.2.3 Consumer devices and wearables - biometric data

Technology and wearables are increasingly important in the monitoring and diagnosis of sleep disorders. Wearable technology for consumer activity tracking is fast gaining popularity and many wrist-worn fitness trackers now have sleep tracking capabilities. A 2021 survey and report of Digital Consumer Trends conducted by Deloitte, an international consulting firm, reported that 58% of survey respondents tracked their fitness with a smartwatch, smartphone or fitness band and 25% of respondents used their device to track sleeping patterns (322).

While there may be potential benefits to individuals tracking their sleep, such as increased awareness and the potential to use personally collected data in health care and in health research, algorithm variability from device to device means the accuracy of the data individuals can provide is inconsistent. A recent study comparing commercially available devices to actigraphy against polysomnography showed that, many but not all commercial devices performed as well if not better than actigraphy at detecting sleep and wake times. However, the detection of sleep stages by these devices was often inaccurate (323). As well, without evidence-based information about sleep health, increased awareness could also contribute to individual anxiety about sleep. Orthosomnia is a term to describe an obsession with tracking sleep and being preoccupied with it in the pursuit of the best night sleep (324). Research has also shown that sleep feedback biases an individual's daytime symptoms associated with sleep (325).

8.2.4 Sleep health data in primary care

Effective health services planning and management depends on comprehensive health information about population health and the health needs of people.

The AIHW National Primary Health Care Data Collections are to 'fill a long-standing gap (...) in primary health care data for population health monitoring, research, policy and planning" (326). Data for these collections are provided through Medicare subsidy data for services provided by general practitioners, allied health and specialist health care providers and through other primary health care data collection.

The inclusion of measures across the sleep health spectrum, including sleep disorder diagnoses and treatments, in primary care data, would provide for regular reporting on sleep health concerns in Australia and would fill a substantial gap in contemporary information on this widespread health issue. It would also indicate the contribution of poor sleep to healthcare demand and to the burden of disease in the population and provide regular, timely data for health service policy and planning.

The three domains of the conceptual framework for sleep health discussed in section 5.2 – quantity, quality and consistency – provide high-level sleep measures for general sleep assessment in primary care. Routine collection of these sleep health measures and their indicators with respect to relevant

54

patient concerns or clinical indicators would provide information on the pattern in primary health care of poor sleep presentations and of the links between poor sleep and other health conditions and of the volume of sleep disorder assessments and diagnoses.

Primary health care data collection should be based on standard and validated tools, such as the RuSATED scale or the Sleep Disorders Symptom Checklist-25 (SDS-CL 25) (327) which is designed to screen for sleep disorders in primary care. Data should be digitally linked to patient records for clinical purposes and de-identified and aggregated to fill the sleep health data gap in population health monitoring.

Similarly, data from the MBS and the PBS could provide information about the identification and treatment of sleep health issues in general practice and on the prescription of sleep medications.

8.3 Existing recommendations for sleep data

The 2019 Parliamentary Inquiry heard that there was limited funding support for studies on sleep to be undertaken on the data that had already been collected in a wide range of individual health studies (refer to section 9.2.1) (17). This means that potentially valuable insights into sleep health in the population and in particular population groups are unrealised.

The Inquiry also heard that there is a need for questions on sleep to be included in health services administrative datasets and that without this epidemiological studies on sleep were difficult to undertake in Australia. The Australian Epidemiological Association (AEA) submission to the Inquiry proposed that sleep health indicators should be included in routinely conducted population surveys to track the sleep health of the community. The AEA also urged data to be collected routinely on sleep behaviours as these are modifiable risk factors. Existing labour and social surveys that collect data on shift work should additionally monitor sleep behaviours and practices to provide national and occupation-specific information on current practice.

Specific data on the sleep of First Nations Australians and the sleep of children could be collected as part of national health surveys such as the Australian Bureau of Statistics' (ABS) National Nutrition and Physical Activity Survey and the National Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Health Survey (36).

Funding of a Sleep Health Monitoring Centre to provide cross-sectional and longitudinal data on sleep health and sleep disorders in Australia was recommended to the Parliamentary Inquiry. This could be similar to the Australian Centre for Asthma Monitoring (ACAM), a collaborating unit of the AIHW that was established in 2002 to establish a national system to track the prevalence and impact of asthma (328).

The Australasian Sleep Association and the Sleep Health Foundation have proposed that key data for effective population health surveillance of sleep health comprise (329):

- habitual sleep patterns;
- sleep hygiene or healthy sleep behaviours; and
- common sleep disorders and their symptoms.

9 Improving sleep health: population health and primary care approaches

Sleep health can be adversely affected by a wide range of factors, such as personal, social/study/work circumstances and/or by other social and economic aspects of a person's health and wellbeing (330). These factors can indicate risks for poor sleep and subsequently point to the most appropriate interventions that can be applied – either by individuals, through medical or non-clinical measures, or through health and other public policies and approaches that address environmental factors relevant to sleep health.

Whereas sleep health approaches have been and still are largely focussed on behaviours and risk factors related to individuals, both the underlying determinants of sleep health as well as the large population prevalence of poor sleep and its causes require a population and primary care focus.

9.1 Making sleep a population health priority

The extent to which healthy sleep is disrupted by societal and environmental changes and conditions is now being recognised, in workplaces and employment policies in particular (259). The lack of healthy sleep for growing proportions of the population is an increasing health issue. The evidence of the impact of poor sleep on the health of individuals and the evidence that poor sleep can often be prevented and healthy sleep can be better understood; makes it clear that poor sleep is a public health issue requiring a population health approach.

Consistent with increasing emphasis on the prevention of chronic health conditions, prevention of poor sleep and promotion of healthy sleep should become a focus. This would align with investments in reducing physical inactivity in the population and promoting the importance of physical activity for mental and physical health, social and economic participation (193) and with policy efforts to improve nutrition through Australian Dietary Guidelines and a national food standards code (331).

A public health approach to the prevention of poor sleep requires specific approaches for at-risk population groups (engagement of high-risk populations in sleep health information and support for engagement in healthy sleep behaviours) as well as promotion of sleep health as a preventive health measure through tailored health information and awareness raising strategies.

There is evidence that sleep is also a contributor to health inequalities (332) and could provide an opportunity for public health approaches that address health equity (333). Given the significance of sleep health for a range of health conditions and diseases, and the interaction of individual, social and contextual influences on sleep health, the application of a socioecological model to identify and address socioeconomic and other impacts on sleep health has been proposed with the potential to contribute positively towards improvement in overall health equities within populations. The authors of a recent paper propose the model in response to two significant developments in sleep science – evidence that substantial inequities in sleep parallel other racial, ethnic and socioeconomic disparities in other health outcomes and that determinants of sleep health go beyond the individual, encompassing socio-environmental influences as well. The authors propose that the potential for multiple levels of public health interventions, from targeting individual awareness and education,

Sleep: a core pillar of health and wellbeing Policy evidence review. Mitchell Institute, September 2023.

56

demographically tailored strategies, through family or group specific interventions to community and societal strategies (*Figure 6*) (333).



FIGURE 6: THE SOCIOECOLOGICAL MODEL OF SLEEP AND CIRCADIAN HEALTH WITH CORRESPONDING MULTILEVEL INTERVENTION STRATEGIES. (333)

9.1.1 Public awareness, information and education

Australia has a strong and long record of public health awareness campaigns that have successfully informed and influenced the awareness and consequent behaviours of a majority of Australians in response to evidence of significant health risks. These have included national campaigns to reduce sun exposure and sun-exposure-related cancers, campaigns to reduce tobacco consumption and others to prevent and reduce exposure to infectious diseases such as HIV-AIDS. Tailored and co-designed campaigns to raise awareness and engagement in priority population groups have been shown to be effective (334).

A national campaign to improve public awareness of the importance of healthy sleep to health and wellbeing was recommended by the 2019 Parliamentary Inquiry into Sleep Health Awareness in Australia (17). The Inquiry proposed that a campaign be undertaken to:

- promote sleep as foundational to positive health and wellbeing
- provide information and education about:
 - sleep hygiene and healthy sleep practices;
 - the relationship between sleep health and reduction in risk for preventable health conditions, impaired judgement and mental functioning, decreased productivity and performance; and
 - common sleep disorders and treatments.

The Australasian Sleep Association (ASA) and the Sleep Health Foundation (SHF) provided a detailed pre-Budget submission to the 2020-21 Australian Government Budget process proposing a national sleep health awareness and behaviour change campaign campaign (335). This proposed a five-year staged national campaign included several public awareness priorities including the need to:

- Promote awareness of normal sleep requirements, including the variable needs between individuals across age groups and the consequences of inadequate sleep on wellbeing, mood, relationships, productivity and safety;
- enhance knowledge of the causes of inadequate sleep, including issues related to inadequate duration of sleep, inappropriate timing of sleep and quality of sleep;
- improve understanding of the nature of circadian misalignment and common sleep disorders such as obstructive sleep apnoea and insomnia, with emphasis on their mental health, cognitive and cardio-metabolic consequences;
- develop healthy sleep habits amongst Australian children and adolescents to optimise their emotional wellbeing, with a particular focus on mental health impacts and risk of suicide;
- support healthy sleep in older Australians, including the identification of sleep disorders, to improve physical and mental health and reduce rates of cognitive decline; and
- refine strategies to meet the challenges of shift work and associated mental, metabolic, physical and performance consequences (335).

9.1.2 Sleep health guidelines for individuals

Sleep health guidelines in this context are recommendations that aim to help people improve their sleep quality, duration and consistency. There are a number of guidelines that have been developed and disseminated by several agencies interested in promoting good sleep.

The guidance and advice generally provide similar recommendations, particularly for behavioural changes to improve sleep habits, for action to reduce modifiable risk factors adversely impacting sleep and advice to create good pro-sleep habits during the daytime (Table 4). The target population for these recommendations are individuals. For people with clinical sleep disorders, these recommendations are still good as an adjunct to their treatment but not sufficient on their own. Unfortunately, the evidence behind each individual sleep health recommendation is highly dependent on the population studied and is still quite limited.

Online Resource for sleep	Overview/inclusions
health information	
Sleep Health Foundation -	Advice including bedroom environment, light exposure, noise
Sleep Hygiene: Good Sleep	exposure, temperature regulation, sleep duration, sleep
Habits (113)	schedule, relaxation, electronic advice, diet, physical activity,
	food and beverage consumption, nicotine use, medication use
American Academy of Sleep	Advice including bedroom environment, light exposure, noise
Medicine – Sleep Education:	exposure, temperature regulation, sleep duration, sleep
Healthy Sleep Habits (336)	schedule, relaxation, electronic advice, diet, physical activity,
	food and beverage consumption, nicotine use

TABLE 4: HEALTHY SLEEPING RECOMMENDATIONS HIGHLIGHTED IN A SELECTION OF ONLINERESOURCES FROM ESTABLISHED HEALTH AGENCIES

CDC: Tips for Better Sleep	Advice including bedroom environment, electronic exposure,
(337)	food and drink avoidance and exercise
Mayo Clinic - Sleep tips: 6 steps	Advice including sleep schedule, relaxation, physical activity,
to better sleep (338)	bedroom environments, food and beverage, napping
Healthline: 17 Proven Tips to	Advice including light exposure, food and beverage
Sleep Better at Night (339)	consumption, nap advice, sleep schedule, supplement advice,
	bedroom environment, relaxation, physical activity,
Sleep Foundation (USA): 20	Advice including bedroom environment, light exposure, noise
Tips for How to Sleep Better	exposure, temperature regulation, sleep duration, sleep
(340)	schedule, naps, relaxation, electronic advice, physical activity,
	food and beverage consumption, nicotine use,
HelpGuide: How to Fall Asleep	Advice including circadian rhythm, sleep schedules, naps, diet,
Fast and Sleep Better (341)	light exposure, electronic use, physical activity, food and
	beverage consumption, nicotine use, bedroom environment,
	temperature regulation, relaxation

In an umbrella review, Albakri et al. (111) documented what non-pharmacological sleep health interventions have been evaluated among healthy populations and described the target groups, settings, and the effectiveness of interventions tested to improve sleep quality and duration (111).

The researchers reviewed eleven intervention types including both population health level and individual interventions. These were:

• sleep education, behaviour change methods, relaxation techniques, physical exercise, mindbody exercise, aromatherapy and/or massage, psychotherapy, environmental interventions and later school start times.

Some of the studies reviewed also incorporated multiple interventions, making it difficult to isolate and attribute any observable sleep health improvements to a specific intervention type. For example, many interventions contain elements of sleep education that address factors in the sleep environment and reduce risk factors as part of a behavioural change program.

Of the intervention types reviewed by Albakri et al. (111), three provided the most evidence of effectively improving sleep:

- later school start times,
- behaviour change methods, and
- mind-body exercise.

Other interventions, such as sleep education, relaxation techniques, physical exercise, aromatherapy, massage, psychotherapy and environmental interventions also showed promising but inconsistent or limited results due to less rigorous study designs or the narrowness of selected target groups.

The National Health and Medical Research Council (NHMRC) supports the development of guidelines for clinical practice and public health among others. Public health guidelines are evidence-based and 59

Sleep: a core pillar of health and wellbeing

Policy evidence review. Mitchell Institute, September 2023.

developed with the engagement of relevant stakeholders and are "intended to promote health, prevent harm and encourage best practice" (342).

At present, sleep is recognised in the 24-Hour Movement Guidelines for children and young people aged 0-17 years. This includes recommendations on time in hours spent asleep as well as time spent in physical activity and sedentary behaviour, recognising the co-dependent and time-based nature of physical activity, sedentary behaviour and sleep. The guidelines separately note that children should have:

- a consistent bedtime and wake-up time;
- avoid screen time for 1 hour before sleep; and
- not have screens in bedrooms to establish and maintain healthy sleep patterns (63,64).

The 2022-23 federal government budget (343) included provision for the development of 24-hour movement guidelines for adults and older Australians, integrating physical activity, sedentary behaviour and sleep. At present there are National Physical Activity Guidelines for adults 18+ years, but these do not include sleep recommendations and do not refer to priority populations or those with specific sleep-related needs. These 24-hour movement guidelines for adults 18+ are currently in development.

Whilst movement guidelines for adults as well as children would go some way to address the lack of attention to sleep in public health policy, the evidence summarised in this paper makes it clear that sleep should be recognised as the third pillar of good health, alongside physical activity and diet. Sleep health, diet and physical activity are closely interrelated and influence each other in various complex ways. Further research is required to better understand these interrelationships sleep, diet and exercise are central to overall health and wellbeing (78).

9.1.3 Sleep hygiene information and public education

Given the importance of sleep to health, concerns have been raised that insufficient sleep duration or quantity is not only pervasive but also increasing and inevitable in today's 24-hour society (344). Continual mass uptake of technologies relevant to sleep health, including artificial lighting, television, personal computers, smartphones and other screen-based devices, are all considered to contribute to poorer sleep (345,346).

Sleep hygiene as a set of recommended behavioural and environmental factors to promote healthy sleep could provide an information and actions 'tool-kit' for individuals and for the public for how to understand and enhance one's own sleep. Better Health Channel Victoria describes sleep hygiene as "healthy habits, behaviours and environmental factors that can be adjusted to help you have a good night's sleep" (21).

Promotion of sleep hygiene education as a public health prevention strategy would align with current preventive health objectives and has the potential to improve public awareness of the importance of sleep to health and wellbeing and address the growing public health concern about poor sleep in the general population. Investment in research to develop and evaluate a standard set of sleep hygiene recommendations could facilitate the use of sleep hygiene recommendations in Australian public health information and awareness strategies.

A review by Irish et al. (114) assessed the evidence to support the use of common sleep hygiene recommendations in public information and awareness of healthy sleep. The sleep hygiene recommendations investigated included common behavioural and environmental influences on sleep such as caffeine consumption, smoking, alcohol use, exercise, stress, noise, sleep timing, and daytime napping. The researchers found that each recommendation was supported by 'plausible physiological and psychosocial mechanisms" (114). A summary table of the findings from the review is in Appendix 3.

Multiple factors affect the prevalence, nature and impact of sleep-disrupting behaviours including age, gender, genetics, education, co-morbid health conditions, and social or occupational demand. For sleep hygiene recommendations to be used more broadly as a standard and comprehensive set of recommendations for the general population, research is required to identify behaviours that are most likely to benefit or inhibit an individual's sleep health and the influencing factors enabling or inhibiting those behaviours. This is especially important given the potential for sleep hygiene education to be a cost-effective, accessible and easily disseminated public health information resource (114). However, sleep hygiene information is not a sufficient stand-alone treatment for clinical sleep disorders, which are common in individuals experiencing poor sleep health. Consequently, the effective identification of individuals with clinical sleep disorders within the population is also critical, to ensure the provision of disorder-specific evidence-based treatments, with standardised sleep hygiene advice as a possible adjunct treatment. Activities aimed at improving population awareness of sleep disorders and their symptoms and how to access appropriate diagnostic services could also be effective.

9.1.4 Population sleep health surveillance and data requirements

Population health data that include both cross-sectional and longitudinal data provide evidence for appropriate policy responses and health programs that are effective at helping people stay healthy (347). Given the evidence that sleep is one of the three most significant influences on good health and a key contributor to poor health and preventable disease, it is evident that sleep should be included in routine population health data collections, particularly National Health Surveys.

Questions in a National Health Survey should reflect the three domains of sleep health – quantity, quality, consistency – and sleep disorders prevalence. The potential focus areas and example survey questions for a minimum recommended dataset for the population surveillance of sleep, which align with the three domains of sleep health, are outlined below:

- 1. Sleep quantity/ duration How much sleep (in hours) do you usually get a night?
- 2. Sleep quality How would you rate the quality of your sleep overall? Very good, good, average, poor or very poor.
- 3. Sleep consistency:
 - Sleep timing What time do you usually go to bed and what time do you usually wake up?
 - Sleep regularity Do you go to bed and get out of bed at about the same times (within one hour) every day?

Further information could also be sought on sleep hygiene and bedtime behaviours, previously diagnosed sleep disorders, napping frequency (particularly for population groups at increased risk for poor sleep) and sleep patterns broken down by work/school days versus free days (weekends).

Biometric data on sleep should be included in biometric surveys such as the most recent National Health Measures Survey. This could be undertaken by including the provision of validated biometric tools such as actigraphic wearable devices and/or the provision of data by survey respondents from personal devices such as smartphones, smart watches or other appropriate personal electronic devices.

The establishment of a National Sleep Health Monitoring Centre would enable more effective use of existing data on sleep, currently collected through a range of longitudinal health and wellbeing surveys in Australia and would enable integration of existing data sources to improve monitoring of the prevalence and impact of sleep health and sleep disorders.

9.2 Improving sleep health through primary health care

Primary health care, as the entry-level to health care, encompasses a broad range of health services, from health promotion and prevention to treatment and management of acute and chronic conditions (348). Primary care includes general practice, community health centres, maternal and child health services, community pharmacy, community mental health services, oral health and allied health services, Aboriginal community-controlled health services and drug and alcohol treatment services (349).

Prevention is an important activity in primary health care, especially general practice because the partnership between general practitioners (GPs) and their patients can help people improve their health and reduce preventable chronic health conditions. Preventive primary health care is also crucial in addressing the health disparities experienced by vulnerable population groups. Preventive health care includes "the prevention of illness, the early detection of specific disease, and the promotion and maintenance of health" (260).

The role of primary health care in preventive health care and illness care was dramatically emphasised through the COVID-19 pandemic and preventive health activities through primary health care were central to the national response (350). The symptoms, causes and effects of sleep health concerns are broad and the prevalence of poor sleep and sleep disorders in the population is high – with 65.9% of adult survey participants having reported at least one sleep symptom such as trouble falling asleep or staying asleep, affecting their health and wellbeing (95). This indicates the need for a strong preventive health and early intervention focus in primary care, especially general practice, on sleep health and particularly on the risk factors for poor sleep in high-risk population groups and the risk factors arising from poor sleep for other health conditions.

This section on primary care will focus primarily on general practice and the opportunities and responsibility for the identification and management of sleep health issues. However, other areas of primary care could and do have a role in sleep health (351,352).

9.2.1 Sleep as a health issue in primary care

A number of recognised risk factors for preventable chronic disease are also risk factors for sleep problems - these include being overweight or obese; being physically inactive; drinking too much alcohol and smoking (353,354). Known as modifiable risk factors – that is, risk factors that are capable of being modified through early interventions and support – routine assessment of sleep health in response to these risk factors could be effective in enabling early intervention for poor sleep as well as for other health conditions. Regular health checks for adults are recommended for modifiable risk factors for broader disease prevention and better health (e.g., diet, weight, physical activity, alcohol use, smoking) (355). These checks are to identify current or emerging medical problems, assess the risk of future medical issues and prompt individuals to maintain a healthy lifestyle. Current advice regarding health checks does not include sleep as a risk factor for poor health and preventable disease (355). A Medicare rebate is provided for a GP health assessment for people aged 45-49 years who are at risk of developing chronic disease with the risk factors including lifestyle risk factors such as smoking, physical inactivity, poor nutrition or alcohol use (356). Given the evidence of the contribution of sleep health to preventable chronic disease, poor sleep should be included as a risk factor in these health assessments.

A life-course approach to the prevention of chronic disease is promoted by the World Health Organisation (WHO) as it provides the opportunity to prevent diseases at key stages of life from preconception through pregnancy, infancy, childhood and adolescence, to adulthood (357). The recognition within Australian primary health care services and practices of healthy sleep as an important part of infancy, early childhood and development through adolescence as well as for ageing adults makes the absence of concern for sleep health in adulthood somewhat of an anomaly.

9.2.2 Prevention and early intervention in primary care

The Royal Australian College of General Practitioners (RACGP) promotes and supports evidence-based preventive health care in general practice through the Red Book, *Guidelines for preventive activities in general practice*, which also notes that this approach remains underused. Integrating a preventive health approach into primary care was identified as a priority to ensure the continuity of care for chronic health conditions within the *National Strategic Framework for Chronic Conditions* (358). It is recognised as effective in preventing disease not only amongst individuals but within whole local communities, reducing healthcare costs and improving the health and productivity of the population (359).

Evidence-based prevention through risk factor management is supported by the RACGP Smoking, Nutrition, Alcohol, Physical Activity (SNAP) guide, a resource to 'assist GPs and practice staff (the GP practice team) to work with patients on (these) lifestyle risk factors' (360). The SNAP guide provides a 5-step model of health care, the 5As, for GPs to: ask, assess, advise, assist and arrange; for detecting, assessing and managing risk factors (360). The SNAP guide does not currently include sleep.

The <u>Healthy Habits</u> website and mobile application is an initiative by the RACGP in partnership with the Australian Government Department of Health and Aged Care. It is an evidence-based behaviour change intervention that uses the same 5As model as the SNAP guide above. This contains 'information, programs, guidelines and training opportunities on physical activity, nutrition and other factors that impact these behaviours such as sleep, mental wellbeing, alcohol consumption, and 63

chronic conditions' (361). The program has received additional funding and is presently being expanded to include information on sleep and its relationship to physical activity and nutrition.

Supporting prevention

In Australia, most preventive activities in primary health care are 'opportunistic', that is, patients present for a reason that is not connected to the preventive health activity which is then 'added on'. The RACGP suggests that GPs should provide both opportunistic and proactive preventive care at a range of levels, including primary (i.e., preventing the initial occurrence of a disorder) and secondary prevention (i.e., identification of and intervention in established risk factors and early disease (362).

Contemporary evidence of the prevalence of poor sleep in the population makes it clear that poor sleep health in adults should be included in the suite of modifiable risk factors for preventable chronic diseases, in the RACGP SNAP guide as well as the Healthy Habits website and mobile app. Assessment of at-risk individuals for sleep health risk and sleep disorders in primary care, with relevant treatment options and referral pathways, could improve population sleep health, reduce preventable sleep disorders and improve health outcomes in established sleep disorders.

The capacity of general practice and general practitioners to identify and intervene in poor sleep health would be enhanced through the provision of sleep health resources together with education and awareness-raising strategies. These would provide GPs and general practices with contemporary evidence on sleep health, risk factors for poor sleep and poor sleep risk for other health conditions and high-risk behaviours together with information on management options and referral pathways.

The current outreach GP education activities associated with projects delivered by the National Centre for Research Excellence (CRE) at the National Centre for Sleep Health Services Research provide evidence of the benefit of GP education in sleep health and a formal GP outreach program with investment should be considered (363).

9.3 Assessment for sleep health risks and for at-risk population groups

Potential risk factors for poor sleep include individual characteristics such as age, gender; lifestyle factors, medication/medical factors and sleep health/sleep environment factors (364). These risk factors could also be used as indicators, in the primary care setting, that assessment of a person's sleep health as a contributor to their overall health, could be considered (refer Appendix 4). For example, lifestyle-related risk factors for a possible sleep disorder include high BMI, smoking and alcohol consumption and also have been shown to include consumption of caffeine after 3pm (364). Other indicators of risk of sleep problems include medications that impact sleep directly or as a side effect, treatment for depression, diabetes, cardiovascular disease or rhinitis/sinusitis (364). Specific occupations, co-morbidities and life stages can present risks for sleep problems. Older age and male gender are risk factors for Obstructive Sleep Apnoea (OSA) (365). The presence of these risk factors could be used to indicate subsequent assessment of an individual's sleep health. As discussed elsewhere, groups such as shift workers, women experiencing menopause, pregnancy, children and young people and individuals with depression are particularly at risk for sleep concerns and people in these groups should be considered for routine assessment of their sleep health.

9.3.1 Sleep health risk factors

Specific sleep-related issues include trouble falling or staying asleep, snoring or gasping when waking or experiencing abnormal events during sleep (366,367) and should prompt further investigation. People with a history of sedative-hypnotic use (e.g., benzodiazepines, "z-drugs", melatonin, etc.) on medical records could be investigated for symptoms of insomnia.

Importantly, poor sleep and its consequences can also manifest as a result of other health conditions. For example, conditions such as thyroid dysfunction or anaemia can disrupt sleep (368,369). While some sleep problems can be side-effects of other health conditions, they should be investigated in their own right as co-morbid sleep problems (370).

Individual variability in sleep needs and behaviours can mean that individuals with poor sleep may not present with typical risk factors. Reliance on specific indicators to trigger assessment may fail to capture sleep concerns at an early stage. Routine assessment in primary care of at-risk groups and people with known risk factors for sleep health may be most appropriate (371). Issues not directly sleep-related such as impaired attention, mood disturbances, headaches and worsening of a comorbid illness (186) may also indicate a potential need for assessment for a sleep disorder. Importantly, there is significant overlap between risks for sleep health/symptoms of poor sleep and other clinical conditions, particularly depression where up to 90% of people with depression report sleeping difficulties (167). These sleeping difficulties can be effectively treated with behavioural therapies such as Cognitive Behavioural Therapy for Insomnia (CBTi), discussed below in section 10.3.3.1.1. Treatment of sleeping difficulties through CBTi can also improve depressive symptoms (171).

Routine assessment in general practice would be based on the use of a validated tool assessing sleep duration, sleep quality, sleep consistency and daytime alertness, such as RuSATED, and the absence of a sleep disorder in individuals (302). The use of an assessment tool and initial conversations around sleep quantity, quality and consistency could identify sleep problems that may be transient or persistent sleep disturbances and sleep concerns that require further follow-up investigations for sleep disorders such as OSA or chronic insomnia.

The RuSATED tool, explained in section 9.1, is a validated instrument for the assessment of sleep health among adults (302). The conceptual framework of quality, quantity, consistency and associated dimensions presented in section 5.2 is an extension of the RuSATED tool.

9.3.2 Sub-clinical sleep concerns and risk factors – options for intervention

When an individual is expressing transient or persistent sleep disturbances that do not meet diagnostic criteria for a sleep disorder, options for intervention include patient information and education about sleep hygiene to promote healthy sleep. If transient or persistent sleep disturbances are caused by an obvious trigger, for example, acute pain, stress at work or bereavement, sleep usually returns to normal after the trigger has subsided. Identification and management of this trigger, if necessary, can help to alleviate transient sleep problems. In a small number of cases, the symptoms can persist and become maintained by sleep-related behavioural and psychological perpetuating factors.

The insomnia 3P model, a framework to describe the development and maintenance of insomnia using the predisposing, precipitating and perpetuating factors of insomnia, discussed in detail in 10.3.3.1, is

a useful, transferable framework for practitioners to understand the predisposing, precipitating and perpetuating factors in persisting sleep symptoms. In these cases, and if the symptoms meet the threshold for insomnia diagnosis, non-pharmacological treatments, including CBTi and Brief Behavioural Therapy for insomnia (BBTi) can be appropriate. These are discussed in section 9.3.3.1.1. Identification of other sleep disorders should involve appropriate management and referral as indicated in clinical guidelines.

Sleep hygiene assessment and education may be an appropriate resource in response to transient sleep disorders. Sleep hygiene education includes information about the impacts of a person's sleep environment and behaviours on sleep. Sleep hygiene advice, from a GP or other health professional, can include:

- prioritising sleep;
- reducing caffeine and alcohol consumption;
- avoiding electronics and bright lights in the hours before bed;
- establishing a consistent sleep/wake cycle;
- creating a nighttime routine to wind down;
- being physically active;
- having plenty of exposure to natural light during the day; and
- creating a bedroom environment conducive to sleep i.e. cool temperature, comfortable bedding and low or no noise (372).

However, individual beliefs, emotional stress and willingness to change need to be considered and sleep hygiene recommendations should be tailored to individual needs (373).

For individual patients with transient insomnia that is causing significant distress or daytime impairment, over-the-counter (OTC) medications are considered adequate for dealing with occasional episodes of sleeplessness, but not suitable for long-term use (i.e., not recommended for >4 weeks, including intermittent use). Most OTC medications contain antihistamines which, in addition to potentially resulting in grogginess, dry mouth or feeling unwell the next day, can result in the development of a tolerance making them ineffective to aid sleep over time. A synthetic version of Melatonin, the hormone that plays a role in the body's circadian rhythm, is used to treat jetlag, delayed sleep-wake phase disorder and some sleep disorders in children but is not considered to have enough evidence of effectiveness or safety to be used (372). Melatonin, commonly sold as Circadin in Australia, is available OTC for people aged over 55 and by prescription for those younger (374). As an exception, evidence supports the use of melatonin in young people with Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD) and Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD) as a safe and acceptable sleep support for neurodiverse young people (57,375).

Available evidence indicates that prescription of sedative-hypnotics for people complaining of sleep disturbances is high, with 90% of those reporting sleep disturbances in recent years being given a prescription for a 'sleeping pill' (376), suggesting that there are barriers to provision of or access to other forms of evidence-based prevention and early intervention measures.

9.3.2.1 Potential referral options for sub-clinical sleep health concerns

Some interventions showing potential to improve sleep health could be provided through other primary care settings. The intervention types reviewed by Albakri et al. (111) which provided the most evidence of effectively improving sleep health, particularly behaviour change methods and mind-body exercise, could be accessed through referral to other primary care or community-level providers. Community pharmacy is one example of a potential referral option for the management of sleep issues. Other options for referral pathways for sleep health concerns that are possible but not yet readily accessible in Australia include social prescribing and health coaching.

Community pharmacy

Community pharmacies and pharmacists provide easily accessible health services for many individuals and are well-placed the provide prevention and management of health risk factors and chronic diseases. A systematic review examining the role of pharmacists in supporting sleep health and managing sleep disorders found that pharmacists can have a role in 'deprescribing' or managing and tapering medications, collaborating with other health professionals in team care arrangements and educating patients (377). The review found that this could result in quicker access to treatment for patients, decreased health expenditure and increased patient awareness of sleep disorders (377). One Australian study that looked at GP attitudes to embedding non-dispensing pharmacists in general practice found overall willingness by GPs to utilise pharmacists in insomnia management, although barriers to this include infrastructure, funding and perceived patient attitudes (378).

<u>Social prescribing</u> is a referral network that bridges the clinical and community sectors by connecting patients from primary care to non-clinical services that meet social, practical or other needs that affect their health and wellbeing (379). Social prescribing is being developed systematically in the UK and Ireland as a component of health care (380,381). In Europe and the USA, it is developing in some communities and health services through local leadership and initiatives. Social prescribing programs in Australia are limited and are either local initiatives in communities or health services or limited state government pilot programs. In the context of sleep and preventive health, social prescribing could be considered as a means to provide individuals with access to services in their local area that could help with risk factors affecting their sleep.

<u>Health coaches</u> use tailored health education and health promotion to improve an individual's health and well-being and help them achieve health-related goals. Health coaching takes into account an individual's stage of change to support them in building self-confidence and self-efficacy for change as well as education about the right changes to make. This approach is based on the Transtheoretical Model (TTM) of change, also known as the Stages of Change Model, a theoretical framework developed by psychologists James Prochaska and Carlo DiClemente to describe the process of behaviour change. Health coaching is a component of lifestyle medicine, a relatively new approach to prevention and management of chronic health conditions (382). Health Coaches Australia and New Zealand Association (HCANZA) is a membership association aiming to advance health coaching in the region. HCANZA accredits health coaching courses/programs and advocates for the development of standards accepted by the government, the medical field and universities and other training providers. As of 2020, there were only 40 HCANZA-qualified health coaches in Australia (383) limiting their impact on a larger scale.

67

9.3.3 Sleep disorders

When a GP has determined that an individual requires further investigation of sleep health and for the presence of a sleep disorder, various assessment tools are available. The <u>Sleep Health Primary</u> <u>Care Resources website</u> was launched by the Australasian Sleep Association (ASA) in December 2022. The website was developed as part of the funding from the National Health and Medical Research Council (NHMRC) for the National Centre for Sleep Health Services Research (NCSHSR): Centre for Research Excellence's (CRE). The website hosts "evidence-based information to assist primary care practitioners involved in the assessment and management of adult patients with obstructive sleep apnoea and chronic insomnia/insomnia disorder" (384).

When assessment indicates that an individual has a sleep disorder, there are a number of clinical pathways for further diagnosis, treatment and management options. These will vary depending on the individual, the potential disorder and any underlying or co-morbid conditions.

9.3.3.1 Chronic Insomnia assessment and treatment

Chronic Insomnia has both night-time and day-time features and is characterised by complaints about sleep quality and/or duration such as trouble falling asleep, staying asleep or frequent waking (84). Chronic Insomnia is a complex sleep disorder that is diagnosed by a combination of history and questionnaires, i.e. it is a subjective assessment. The Sleep Primary Care Resources website of the Australian Sleep Association recommends several insomnia questionnaires. These include:

- Insomnia Severity Index (ISI);
- Dysfunctional Beliefs and Attitudes About Sleep (DBAS) Scale;
- Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index (PSQI) which is useful for sleep health and disorder symptoms;
- Sleep Condition Indicator (SCI);
- Daytime Insomnia Symptom Scale (DISS); and
- Flinders Fatigue Scale.

Chronic Insomnia can be managed in general practice or an individual with insomnia can be referred for psychological therapy. Chronic insomnia is listed in the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, fifth edition (DSM-5), the guide for diagnostic criteria of mental disorders. Diagnosis of insomnia therefore meets eligibility criteria for Medicare subsidised referral to a psychologist under the Better Access Initiative (385,386).

The 3P Model of insomnia (*Figure 7*) was first described by Spielman et al. in 1987 (387). Also known as the behavioural model, the predisposing, precipitating and perpetuating factors (i.e. 3Ps) have been used to describe the development and maintenance of insomnia. Predisposing factors refer to long-standing genetic, environmental, social or psychological factors that predispose to insomnia. Precipitating factors describe the specific event or situations (i.e. stress, grief etc.) that lead to the onset of initial symptoms. Perpetuating factors describe the maladaptive behaviours such as daytime napping, drinking excess caffeine or catastrophising which, over time, are counterproductive to sleep and maintain insomnia independently of the initial precipitant (146).

nical Aspects of Insomnia: T	he 3P Model	
Predisposing Factors	Factors increasing risk of developing insomnia (e.g. anxious predisposition, circular thikining, generalised hyperarousal, trauma)	
		E E
Precipitating Factors	Factors that trigger the initial insomnia symptoms, such as emotional distress, onset of medical or psychiatric disorder,comorbidities, medications, substances	somni
		<u>تو</u>
Perpetuating Factors	Any psychological, behavioural, or physiological factors or patterns that independently maintain the insomnia over time. E.g., learned sleep preventing behaviours such as increasing time in bed, and selective attention biases that exacerbate sleep-related anxiety and worry	

FIGURE 7: 3P MODEL OF INSOMNIA (ADAPTED BY KHULLAR, 2020)

Treatment and management options for chronic insomnia include (372,389):

- Cognitive Behavioural Therapy for Insomnia (CBTi), the recommended 'first line' treatment for insomnia that is generally provided by a psychologist with specialist training.
- Brief Behavioural Therapy for Insomnia (BBTi), a short form of CBTi that may be provided by a general practitioner or primary care nurse with appropriate training.
- Digital CBTi (dCBTi) programs, self-guided interactive online programs that allow people to self-administer CBTi through mobile/computer devices, may be an appropriate way to scale access to CBTi as additional clinicians are being trained.
- Pharmacological treatment for a short-term, with consideration of risks/dependence profile, with a cessation plan in place, and only if CBTi is not available or has been attempted and is not effective.
- Adjunct therapies that include stress reduction, changing sleep habits, addressing underlying medical conditions and bright light therapy can be used in addition to CBTi.

9.3.3.1.1 COGNITIVE BEHAVIOURAL THERAPY FOR INSOMNIA (CBTI)

Cognitive behavioural therapy for insomnia (CBTi) is an evidence-based non-pharmacological treatment for insomnia. It uses a structured approach to identify and address thoughts and behaviours that maintain insomnia. The program is generally delivered by a psychologist with specialist training over 6-10 weeks. The therapeutic components focus on targeting specific attitudes and beliefs that promote dysfunctional sleep (390).

CBTi provided by a specialist psychologist is recognised as the 'gold standard' treatment for insomnia. CBTi is supported by hundreds of clinical trials, more than 30 meta-analyses, and evidence-based guidelines from leading sleep, primary care, and medical organisations worldwide (391–393). Despite this evidence, only approximately 1% of Australian adults with insomnia currently access this treatment (376). While CBTi is considered first-line treatment, pharmacological treatment, mainly sedative-hypnotics, are also used. These are recognised as having a range of side effects and to have addictive properties (Miller et al., 2017).

Brief behavioural therapy for Insomnia (BBTi) is a short-term (4-5 session) treatment program that has been proposed as an intervention in Australian general practice. It is a distilled version of CBTi that

can be delivered by GPs or practice nurses with minimal additional training. It includes general sleep education, bedtime restriction therapy and stimulus control therapy (394). Sweetman et al. (168) have developed a step-by-step model for BBTi delivery by GPs in the Australian context.

dCBTi programs are online self-guided resources that are a translation of therapist-delivered CBTi. dCBTi has the potential to rapidly scale access to this evidence-based treatment for insomnia throughout Australia, while additional clinicians are being trained. Various forms of dCBTi are available, some as a stand-alone treatment and others as a supplement to practitioner-delivered CBTi. Some programs are generic and others are interactive (tailored to each patient's presenting symptoms).

<u>CBT-I Coach</u> is a generic, free app designed to supplement face-to-face-CBTi. Generic (static) online programs such as <u>This Way Up's *Insomnia Program*</u> and <u>A Mindful Way</u> are designed to be administered with or without clinician support.

Interactive self-guided digital CBTi programs, such as Sleepio and Somryst, tailor treatment recommendations to each patient's presenting symptoms and changes in symptoms during treatment but are not available in Australia.

CBTi programs, including BBTi and dCBTi, are most suitable for patients with insomnia symptoms that are maintained by sleep-specific psychological and behavioural perpetuating factors (168). For example, patients who spend more time in bed than is necessary in the hopes of acquiring more sleep may unintentionally reinforce patterns of 'conditioned insomnia', in which the bed/bedroom environment becomes a stimulus for wakefulness, alertness, and anxiety. Sleep-specific anxiety/avoidant behaviours, strongly held maladaptive beliefs, or safety behaviours (e.g., cancelling daytime obligations after a poor night of sleep) are all perpetuating factors of insomnia that may indicate treatment with CBTi (146).

Treatment options for the management of insomnia in general practice are currently limited. Although a full 6-8 session CBTi program is the most effective treatment for insomnia, the required program of weekly 30-60 minute sessions makes it incompatible with current general practice arrangements (395). Upskilling of practice nurses and other allied health professionals to deliver insomnia treatments such as BBTi and CBTi and appropriate pathways and remuneration options for patients to access these are needed.

Psychologists are well-placed to deliver CBTi. The Better Access Initiative, a Commonwealth program that gives eligible people Medicare-subsidised access to mental health care, provides for GPs to refer patients to psychologists and other allied health professionals for the management of insomnia under a Mental Health Treatment (396). This referral option is limited for some patients by the common requirement for a further gap payment, in addition to the subsidy, to the provider. Similarly, a Chronic Disease GP Management Plan and Team Care Arrangement can provide an individual with up to five allied health services. Like the Better Access Initiative, services often require a further gap payment. First Nations Australians are eligible for a Health Assessment from their GP which may provide a further five subsidised allied health services (397). Five sessions (or ten with a Health Assessment) with an allied health provider may not be adequate to deliver a CBTi or similar intervention for insomnia or other sleep issue.

70 Sleep: a core pillar of health and wellbeing

Policy evidence review. Mitchell Institute, September 2023.

These referral options are also limited by the number and distribution of psychologists who are trained in the provision of CBTi. In 2021-22, the Australasian Sleep Association (ASA) audited the number of psychologists trained in sleep therapy in Australia and found fewer than 70 psychologists who specialise in the delivery of CBTi. Most of these psychologists reported they spend part of their time conducting research, leading to an estimate that there are approximately 30 full-time equivalent psychologists providing sleep therapy in Australia. There is presently no formal recognition of psychologists who specialise in sleep therapy.

Since 2015, the Australian Psychological Society (APS) has provided a 32-hour text-based online education program for psychologists on sleep health and sleep disorders. The ASA and the APS are working collaboratively to develop CBTi education resources and programs for psychologists (398), including the development of an online CBTi education training program, with the aim of having 200 psychologists complete the training each year (399). This work is supported by the ASA through a Federal government health peak bodies grant and is part of an initiative of the National Centre for Sleep Health Services Research (NCSHSR) in collaboration with the Sax Institute, Sydney to improve access to CBTi throughout Australia (399). In addition to CBTi training for psychologists, the program aims to develop a pathway for Australians to access an evidence-based digital CBTi (dCBTi) program, Bedtime Window, and to provide training for GPs in identifying, assessing insomnia and managing/referring patients for CBTi. Bedtime Window is currently being tested in three Randomised Controlled Trials throughout Australia with promising early results.

Policy and funding recognition of CBTi and related interventions, as a routine treatment for a common health problem that has significant physical and mental health implications, would facilitate greater uptake of this treatment option. These options would include: funding provision for access to self-guided digital CBTi programs for sleep health,

- funding provision for access to self-guided digital CBTi programs for sleep health;
- explicit inclusion of CBTi for sleep health in referral options under the Better Access
 Initiative. This would improve access to services for individuals and would support growth in
 the clinical workforce that is trained and qualified to deliver CBTi therapy for sleep health;
 and
- MBS support for the delivery of BBTi for sleep health in the general practice setting through a health care plan.

9.3.3.2 Obstructive Sleep Apnoea (OSA) assessment and treatment

Obstructive Sleep Apnoea is defined by the presence of recurring episodes of partial or complete collapse of the upper airway while sleeping, which results in reduced or absent airflow for at least 10 seconds and is linked with cortical arousal and/or a fall in blood oxygen (400).

The 9th edition of the RACGP Guidelines for preventative activities in general practice — 'Red Book' (260) — removed recommendations for screening for OSA in asymptomatic people due to its unproven benefit in the general population (401). However, a 2021 qualitative analysis explored the attitudes and experiences of Australian GPs on primary care management of OSA and found that GPs are integral to recognising OSA symptoms and facilitating diagnosis and management by specialists (402).

71

The Sleep Primary Care Resources website recommends various questionnaires for assessing an individual's risk of OSA. These include:

- Epworth sleepiness scale (ESS)
- OSA50 Questionnaire
- STOP-BANG Questionnaire

A score of eight or more out of 24 on the ESS and either five or more out of ten on the OSA50 or three or more out of eight on the STOP-BANG qualifies a patient for a Medicare rebate for home-based or laboratory-based study and/or referral to a sleep disorders specialist physician (403). Home-based and lab-based polysomnography (PSG) studies assess brain, ocular, muscle and cardiac electrical activity with respiratory markers like blood oxygen levels, airflow and respiratory effort while sleeping to diagnose sleep disorders including OSA (Rundo & Downey, 2019).

OSA is primarily managed by a sleep specialist. However, access to sleep specialists for OSA assessment and management is difficult with long waiting lists, some out-of-pocket costs and a lack of local services particularly in rural and remote areas (Grivell et al., 2021).

Treatment and management options of OSA include (372):

Within primary care:

- weight reduction
- positional therapy (aids, like pillows or alarms to keep someone sleeping on their side)

By referral to specialist care:

- Positive airway pressure devices (e.g. continuous positive airway pressure (CPAP))
- Oral appliances (mandibular splints)
- Positional therapy
- Surgery
- Neuro-stimulation therapy
- Pharmacological treatment

9.4 Primary care pressures and capacity to improve sleep health

Primary care, particularly general practice, is experiencing unsustainable pressures in Australia. The COVID pandemic has accentuated both health care demand and workforce and service capacity pressures on the overall health system and particularly on primary care. Deloitte Access Economics has forecast a GP shortfall of 11,392 by 2032 (Deloitte Access Economics, 2022).

Management of sleep disorders by GPs is additionally constrained. A 2021 qualitative analysis explored the attitudes and experiences of Australian GPs on primary care management of OSA (Grivell et al., 2021). It found that, while GPs are integral to recognising OSA symptoms and facilitating diagnosis and management by specialists, the lack of available services, pathways and the added cost to the patient, particularly in rural or low socio-economic areas meant many could not access the appropriate care. Additionally, GPs also see their role in managing OSA as limited (Grivell et al., 2021).

A 2021 qualitative analysis by the same group on primary care management of chronic insomnia by Australian GPs highlighted the funding and time constraints for appropriately managing chronic 72

Sleep: a core pillar of health and wellbeing

Policy evidence review. Mitchell Institute, September 2023.
insomnia in the primary care setting (Haycock et al., 2021). GPs reported very limited access to CBTi treatment/referral options. Despite CBTi being the recommended 'first line' treatment for insomnia, only 1% of general practice patients with insomnia were found to have had access to CBTi from a psychologist (Miller et al., 2017) while pharmacological intervention is the most common insomnia management tool by General Practice. Between 2000-2015, 90% of those complaining of sleep disturbances were prescribed medication, suggesting an over-prescription of pharmacological interventions (376,404).

Healthcare provider education on sleep within training programs is limited. A coordinated sleep health education program for healthcare provider training programs, continuing professional education and clinical guidelines of evidence-based practice has been proposed (405).

Inclusion of sleep in the RACGP SNAP guidelines, together with a strong platform of GP information and resources on sleep health and sleep disorders, will support general practitioners to address sleep health as a core component of preventive health care and a prevalent health concern for a majority of the adult population.

The potential to better detect and manage sleep health in primary care could be developed through targeted funding support for:

- a multidisciplinary team, including primary health care nurses, pharmacists, psychologists and other allied health, within primary care could provide practice-based care such as BBTi
- improved access to CBTi through growth in the psychologist workforce trained in CBTi and funding support for GP referrals of patients to adequate CBTi therapy
- access to community supports such as socially prescribed interventions, to health coaches and to digital self-guided CBTi programs

9.5 Primary care data requirements

Routine identification of sleep health and sleep issues in primary care within usual health data information collection at the PHN level and nationally would provide essential clinical information to better inform policy and practice.

In individuals considered at risk of poor sleep, or presenting with symptoms of poor sleep, data would be collected through a validated assessment of the three domains of sleep health: quantity, quality, and consistency. Data should also be collected through sleep disorders assessment, to provide accurate prevalence data over time including data on treatment and outcomes. National Primary Health Care Data Collections should be expanded to include collection of primary care sleep health incidence and treatment data.

Additionally, updates to the SNAP guide, Healthy Habits and RACGP Red book sleep recommendations should reflect and complement the data requirements for identification of sleep health and sleep issues in primary care.

10 Policy recommendations

These recommendations are based on analysis of the evidence in academic and other literature and developed by curation and application of this and available Australian data to answer the question:

"Why is sleep health becoming a population and health care problem and what can be done to prevent poor sleep and improve sleep health in the Australian population?"

The increasing evidence of poor sleep within the adult population and of particular sleep health concerns in specific population groups warrants a comprehensive approach to public awareness and health policy and to health professional attention to the importance of sleep health for health and wellbeing and for prevention and treatment of sleep-related health conditions.

The evidence compiled in this paper supports and provides policy and practice options for a comprehensive improvement in sleep health throughout the population, in identification and early intervention in poor sleep and for optimal interventions in the prevention and treatment of sleep disorders.

A 10 year National Strategy for Sleep Health would provide a coherent implementation framework for service enhancements and investments in improving population sleep health, in alignment with national health and wellbeing objectives (193,406) and with the Federal Government commitment to improving the capacity of primary care to support all Australians to be healthy and well and to enable access to the health care people need when they need it

The National Sleep Strategy would set overarching objectives for improved population sleep health and for improved access to sleep health care. It would take account of the wider public policy environment influencing sleep health and sleep awareness in the community and it would inform targeted and coordinated action at the national and jurisdictional levels to address the increasing incidence and health, social and economic consequences of poor sleep in specific population groups and communities as well as the wider population. The Strategy would address services capacity, health professional and workforce development and capacity to deliver on the overarching objective.

In addition to the importance of a national and strategic approach to sleep health, as recommended, it is clear that a lack of awareness of the impact of sleep health on overall health and wellbeing, both physical and mental, is an urgent issue to be addressed. To do so, National Sleep Guidelines are proposed to provide guidance to the general public, health care providers, health professionals and policymakers on the recommended quantity, quality and consistency of sleep for optimal health. This is a leading recommendation that addresses a fundamental gap in the understanding and application of contemporary evidence, of the importance of sleep health and modern risks for poor sleep health, in health policy and practice and throughout the population.

Improving population awareness through health information campaigns, using all forms of communications, in particular social media, is recommended because of the evidence that this is the most effective method to lift population health literacy about particular health risks that potentially affect all or most individuals in the population.

Supporting primary care, particularly general practice, to meet sleep health needs; contributing to individual patient awareness and understanding of the importance of sleep to health and wellbeing 74

Sleep: a core pillar of health and wellbeing

Policy evidence review. Mitchell Institute, September 2023.

(health literacy); and to treat and manage poor sleep in the community is an obvious priority. Primary health care is failing to cope with current health care demand and the Australian Government is committed to Strengthening Medicare, the policy and funding system that supports primary health care across Australia. The government's commitment is to Strengthen Medicare to ensure Australians can have the primary health care they need. Enabling people living with sleep disorders and experiencing poor sleep to access health care that will improve their health and reduce the further risks that arise from poor sleep will lift health outcomes for many in the population and contribute to the government's objectives. In particular, enabling general practice to provide a multi-disciplinary response to sleep health issues in the community will recognise the evidence of the benefit of a diverse range of therapies for sleep health improvement and the capacity of nurses and allied health workers to contribute to sleep health care and prevention.

Monitoring the sleep health of the population, and the patterns and extent of poor sleep and sleep disorders in the population, is essential if health services are to be supported to meet health needs and to aid the design of health policy initiatives and practice improvements that will prevent and reduce the prevalence of these in the population.

Other public policy areas are significant contributors to good or poor sleep health. Application of the evidence curated in this paper in other public policy sectors and particular industries could contribute to improved sleep health in some at-risk population groups. Health policies should emphasise the relevance and impact on population sleep health of other public policies.

Recommendation 1: Establish a 10-year National Sleep Health Strategy

Preventive health action is now a health policy and funding priority. This is in recognition of the extent to which people in Australia now live an average of almost eleven years in poor health because of increasingly high rates of chronic disease. The Australian Institute of Health and Welfare (AIHW) has estimated that 38% of the disease burden could be prevented through a reduction in modifiable risk factors such as overweight and obesity, physical activity and alcohol, tobacco and other drug use. These are all modifiable risk factors for poor sleep health. Improving the physical activity levels, nutrition status and sleep health of as many in the population as possible could achieve a healthier Australia in the coming years.

This paper has brought together the evidence of the extent and impact of poor sleep in the Australian population. As with other significant health issues affecting the health and wellbeing and social and economic participation of individuals, sleep health issues also impose a substantial demand and burden on health services and health expenditure. Establishment of a national strategy on sleep health in Australia would provide the leadership and policy commitment necessary to improve population sleep health progressively over the coming decade.

In alignment with national health and wellbeing policy objectives, a National Sleep Health Strategy with a ten year implementation plan would aim to build coherent leadership and engagement in sleep health as a core pillar of physical and mental health. A strategy would raise public and health professional awareness and engagement in sleep health through public health initiatives and through targeted support for service provision for a neglected and increasingly significant health issue that is a core component of good health and wellbeing for the Australian population.

75Sleep: a core pillar of health and wellbeingPolicy evidence review. Mitchell Institute, September 2023.

Proposes aims and objectives for the 10-year National Sleep Health Strategy, based on the evidence presented in this Policy Evidence Review, would be to:

- i. Provide a national policy framework for specific attention to sleep health in health policy, health services and funding and other relevant public policies.;
- ii. Promote and support effective population health strategies and sleep health treatment and care nationally, in states and territories and local communities.
- iii. Develop widespread recognition and understanding of sleep health across the life cycle and specifically the importance of appropriate sleep quantity, quality and consistency to health and wellbeing. This should be recognised in health and other public policies and include both awareness raising initiatives for the general population and targeted initiatives aimed at health services, health professionals and population groups at high-risk of experiencing poor sleep health. in health and other public policies;
- iv. Enhance primary care capacity to identify poor sleep, provide evidence-based information, support and early intervention for sleep health and to refer people with sleep disorders to accessible and appropriate specialist treatment.
- v. Provide at-risk population groups (e.g. children and young people, shift workers, women during pregnancy and menopause, First Nations Australians and older adults) and disadvantaged communities with co-designed, tailored sleep health information and resources, and appropriate early intervention, referral and treatment services.
- vi. Inform and support the development of policies, which directly or indirectly affect sleep health, at all levels of government and within specific industries. Policies should be guided by the best available evidence and aim to promote sleep health in their populations and areas of responsibility.
- vii. Establish routine and comprehensive population sleep health data collections and monitoring mechanisms to inform and evaluate the Strategy, develop target population health initiatives for high-risk population groups and support policy development and service design related to sleep health.
- viii. Support research into the interrelationships between sleep health, physical activity, nutrition and overall health and wellbeing to inform the provision of health care and preventive health policy activities.

The establishment of a national sleep health strategy would address a neglected and increasingly significant health issue, align with other national health priorities and complement other national strategies developed for comparable health issues, including the:

- National Suicide Prevention Strategy 2020
- <u>Closing the Gap National Agreement</u>
- <u>National Injury Prevention Strategy 2020-2030</u>
- National Women's Health Strategy 2020-2030
- National Men's Health Strategy 2020-2030
- National Preventive Health Strategy 2021 2030
- National Obesity Strategy 2022 2032

76

Sleep: a core pillar of health and wellbeing Policy evidence review. Mitchell Institute, September 2023. The Strategy should inform and support other public policy areas relevant to sleep health including road safety, workplace and employment policies, education and environmental and town planning.

Recommendation 2: Establish National Sleep Guidelines

The Federal government budget of 2022-23 (258) included provision for the development of 24-hour movement guidelines for adults and older Australians, integrating physical activity, sedentary behaviour and sleep. These are currently in development.

Whilst movement guidelines for adults as well as children would go some way to address the lack of attention to sleep in public health policy, the evidence summarised in this evidence brief and the accompanying Policy Evidence Review (407) makes it clear that sleep should be recognised as the third pillar of good health, alongside physical activity and diet.

Diet, exercise, and sleep influence one another in complex and innumerable ways. Learning about how these activities affect one another is an important part of understanding why research has shown that the more of these lifestyle behaviours you improve, the better your well-being.

(78)

The establishment of separate and complementary national guidelines for sleep, physical activity and nutrition is warranted.

RECOMMENDATIONS:

- I. Australian National Sleep Guidelines for children and young people, for adults (18 to 64) and older adults should be commissioned and implemented in alignment with national health and wellbeing policy aims and objectives.
- II. National Guidelines on Sleep, Physical Activity and Nutrition should be separate and complementary and make explicit the inter-relationship of each of these lifestyle factors in health and wellbeing.

Recommendation 3: Implement a national sleep health awareness campaign

Poor sleep and sleep disorders are prevalent among Australians. However, public awareness of contributing factors and consequences of poor sleep is low (17).

The accumulation of evidence on the significant association of poor sleep with preventable chronic disease and serious health conditions and of the elevated risk of suicide in association with nocturnal wakefulness makes it clear this is a pressing public health concern. Investment in a national public awareness campaign to improve health knowledge and literacy of the importance of sleep to health and wellbeing is an obvious strategy and a well-recognised, effective means to increase public awareness of a significant population health issue. A national and sustained public awareness campaign on sleep health would contribute to national health and wellbeing policy objectives.(193).

A national campaign to improve public awareness of the importance of healthy sleep to health and wellbeing was recommended by the 2019 Parliamentary Inquiry into sleep health awareness in Australia. The Inquiry proposed that a campaign be undertaken to promote sleep as the foundation of positive health and wellbeing in combination with nutrition and exercise; provide information and 77

Sleep: a core pillar of health and wellbeing

Policy evidence review. Mitchell Institute, September 2023.

education about sleep hygiene and healthy sleep practices, information on sleep disorders and treatments and the relationship between sleep health and reduction in risk for preventable health conditions, impaired judgement and mental functioning and decreased productivity and performance (Parliament of the Commonwealth of Australia, 2019, p. 129). Investment in research to develop and evaluate a standard set of sleep hygiene recommendations for the population and for particular age groups would enable evidence-based recommendations for use in Australian public health information and awareness strategies (334).

Public awareness strategies have demonstrated their effectiveness in reducing preventable disease and death. Tailored and co-designed campaigns to raise awareness and engagement in priority population groups, particularly First Nations Australians, the LGBTQI+ community, rural and regional communities and socioeconomically disadvantaged communities have been shown to be effective (334).

RECOMMENDATION:

i. A comprehensive and multi-focal sleep health public awareness campaign should be undertaken in alignment and within the life of the National Preventive Health Strategy. The campaign should be conducted over several years with evidence-based and consumerinformed approaches for both the general public and for priority and high-risk population groups including those affected by irregular work hours and specific industry employment.

Recommendation 4: Monitor population sleep health

A combination of regularly collected population-level self-reported data and representative sample biometric data related to sleep would provide reliable information on sleep health and the impacts of poor sleep in Australia.

National Health Surveys should routinely include questions on sleep health that reflect the three domains of sleep health – quantity, quality, consistency – and the prevalence of sleep disorders.

Biometric data on sleep should be included in biometric surveys such as the most recent National Health Measures Survey, using validated biometric tools and/or provision of data by survey respondents from personal devices.

Inclusion of data on sleep health in the National Primary Health Care Data Collections would address the existing gap in information on the prevalence of poor sleep and sleep disorders and their impact on individual health and wellbeing and on health service demand.

Establishment of a National Sleep Health Monitoring Centre would enable more effective use of existing data on sleep.

RECOMMENDATIONS:

- i. National Health Surveys and other large surveys related to physical and mental health should include questions on sleep health that are capable of:
 - a. monitoring population sleep health;

78

Sleep: a core pillar of health and wellbeing

Policy evidence review. Mitchell Institute, September 2023.

- b. indicating the impact of sleep on other aspects of physical and mental health; and
- informing health policy, service provision and interventions. c.
- ii. National Health Measures Surveys should include the regular collection of biometric sleep data using actigraphy or other objective assessment methods to assess sleep health.
- iii. National Primary Health Care Data Collections should be expanded to include collection of primary care sleep health incidence and treatment data.
- iv. A coordinated data strategy and National Sleep Health Monitoring Centre should be established to monitor and report on the prevalence and impact of poor sleep and sleep disorders. This should include utilsing and anlysing existing data sets relevant to sleep health.

Recommendation 5: Support primary care capacity for early intervention and risk reduction

Policy and funding recognition of the importance and complexity of identifying and managing sleep health risks and needs in primary care is essential if primary care services are to adequately meet the evident population burden and prevalence of poor sleep and sleep disorders.

Appropriate clinical guidelines and inclusion of sleep in the RACGP SNAP (smoking, nutrition, alcohol and physical activity) guide would resource and support general practitioners in engaging with, recognising and addressing poor sleep and sleep disorders in their patient population. Guidelines need to emphasise the significant relationship between disrupted sleep and suicide risk particularly for atrisk adolescents and adults.

The provision of brief interventions in poor sleep and at the primary care level is supported by contemporary evidence. The capacity of general practice and general practitioners to identify, treat and manage poor sleep health and sleep disorders would be enhanced through the provision of resources together with education and awareness-raising strategies. These would provide GPs and general practices with up-to-date evidence on sleep health, risk factors for poor sleep, poor sleep risk for other health conditions and high-risk behaviours together with information on management options and referral pathways for poor sleep and sleep disorders. The current outreach GP education activities associated with projects delivered by the National Centre for Research Excellence (CRE) at the National Centre for Sleep Health Services Research provide evidence of the benefit of GP education in sleep health and a formal GP outreach program with investment should be considered.

Enabling the available primary care workforce to work to their full scope of practice is a current national health policy priority. To improve access and reduce fee barriers for eligible patients, qualified practice nurses could deliver BBTi within general practice in line with existing provisions for alcohol and other drugs practice nurse services.

The role of primary care in responding to the prevalence of insomnia in the Australian population has been recognised (408). Providing access to patients diagnosed with insomnia to Cognitive Behavioural Therapy for Insomnia (CBTi) from a specialised psychologist or Brief Behavioural Therapy for Insomnia (BBTi) through a health care plan and referral to eligible allied health practitioners should be considered. Policy and funding recognition of CBTi as a routine treatment for a common health problem that has significant physical and mental health implications together with social and economic consequences, would promote uptake and facilitate access to CBTi and related

Sleep: a core pillar of health and wellbeing Policy evidence review. Mitchell Institute, September 2023.

79

interventions for people with persistent sleep disturbance and insomnia. An expanded trained workforce to provide these interventions is essential to cope with increasing demand.

RECOMMENDATIONS:

- i. The RACGP SNAP guidelines for lifestyle risk factors in primary care should be further developed to include sleep health in addition to smoking, nutrition, alcohol and physical activity (SNAP) guidelines.
- ii. A GP sleep health engagement, awareness and support strategy, consistent with the RACGP Alcohol and Other Drugs (AOD) strategy, should be funded to strengthen GP capacity to address poor sleep and sleep disorders in the community setting including through inclusion of sleep in routine health checks.
- iii. Policy should recognise and support the capacity of primary care to respond to the significance and complexity of detecting and managing poor sleep health. This should include policy and funding support for:
 - a. The multidisciplinary team required to enable evidence-based, primary care provided identification and early intervention of sleep problems.
 - b. Interventions for insomnia and other common sleep health problems, such as Brief Behavioural Therapy for Insomnia (BBTi), digital Cognitive Behavioural Therapy (dCBTi) and Cognitive Behavioural Therapy (CBTi).
 - c. Education and training programs to increase the number of psychologists with specialist expertise in CBTi for sleep health. Incentive funding to promote sleep disorder/insomnia education in University postgraduate psychology courses, such as Masters of Clinical Psychology, should be considered.

These recommendations are in alignment with and reliant on the recommendations of the Strengthening Medicare Taskforce that include:

- Introducing voluntary patient registration;
- funding for longer consultations;
- increased investment to support multidisciplinary teams;
- blended funding models to go beyond fee-for-service;
- investment in research; and
- better use of data and digital technology.

Recommendation 6: Assess and improve attention to sleep health in other public policy

Even though the economic cost of sleep disorders is significant (28), there has been limited policy attention to the importance of sleep for everyday life other than in some health policies (409). Whilst fatigue has been recognised as a risk factor in industry, its corollary, sleep health, has not been widely recognised as important to the health and safety of workers.

The multiple ways sleep health can be negatively affected either directly or indirectly by a range of factors including work and education arrangements, community environments and social and economic influences makes it apparent that sleep health should be recognised as a significant

80 Sleep: a core pillar of health and wellbeing Policy evidence review. Mitchell Institute, September 2023. component of education and employment, town and community planning and other relevant public policy sectors.

Recognition of the influence of public policy on health and wellbeing and specifically on population sleep health is desirable. One approach to improve the recognition of sleep health in public policy could be to focus on the cumulative effect of policies on how people use their time. There is a growing understanding that how we use our time affects our well-being. Whilst this has not attracted policymakers' attention outside health, the 'side effects' of other public policies should be identified and addressed to improve population sleep health.

Additionally, assessment of the impacts and benefits of public policy on population sleep health, with particular attention to the risk factors for and incidence of poor sleep health outcomes, should be considered as governments have a legitimate interest in protecting public health and specifically occupational health and safety. Policy attention to the measurable consequences of poor sleep such as drowsiness, particularly in populations and occupational groups that can be identified as being more likely to be affected by these risks (410) would enable more effective efforts to manage the risks associated with poor sleep in law and policy.

Another approach is to review and improve the impact of specific industries, work, education, road transport and other public policies relevant to known risks for poor sleep health outcomes in particular population groups. This should include industry-specific policies for industries at increased risk of poor sleep and policies related to road safety, education and town and community planning.

RECOMMENDATIONS:

- i. Health policy actions should emphasise the relevance and impact of sleep health in other public policy areas, with a particular focus on industry/workforce-specific, road safety, education and community planning policies.
- ii. Health policy should consider and address the cumulative effect of other public policies on sleep health and associated physical and mental health outcomes.

11 Appendices

11.1 Appendix 1: Prevalence

TABLE 5: PREVALENCE OF A SELECTION OF RISK FACTORS FOR POOR SLEEP

Risk factors for poor s	leep
Risk factor	% prevalence
Harmful Alcohol use	25.8% of Australians over 18 exceed the Australian Adult Alcohol Guidelines in 2020-21 (411)
Tobacco use	10.7% of Australian adults are daily smokers in 2020-21 (412)
Physical Inactivity	72.8% of Australians aged 15 years and over did not meet the physical activity guidelines in 2020- 21 (413)
Dietary risks	Only 6.1% of adults ate the recommended amount of fruit and vegetables (414), discretionary foods contribute to 38.1% of the total dietary energy available in 2020-21 (415)
Obesity	2 in 3 Australians (67%) aged 18 and over were overweight or obese in 2017-18 (416)
Anxiety	16.4% of Australians had a 12-month Anxiety disorder (417)
Employment	Unemployment rate 3.5% Underemployment rate 5.9% (418)

Data source/ survey	Description	Sleep health metrics/ questions	
name		included	
Australian Health Survey 2011-13	The Australian Health Survey (AHS) is the largest, most comprehensive health survey ever conducted in Australia. It combines the existing ABS National Health Survey (NHS) and the National Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Health Survey (NATSIHS) together with two new elements - a National Nutrition and Physical Activity Survey (NNPAS) and a National Health Measures Survey.	Previous night's sleep duration and whether this was a 'typical night's sleep' for respondents.	
Sleep Health Foundation Survey: 2016 Sleep Health Survey of Australian Adults	The survey was conducted in March 2016 on behalf of the Sleep Health Foundation among 1,011 adults aged over 18 years across Australia, with representativeness for age, sex, location and an indicator of socio-economic status. Researchers from The University of Adelaide were responsible for the survey design and analysis. The study objective was to assess the scale of the health and social consequences of insufficient sleep and sleep disorders in Australia. The survey aimed to measure the prevalence and economic impacts of sleep problems in Australia, including sleep loss, insufficient sleep, and common sleep disorders.	The survey included questions related to: sleep difficulties and clinical sleep conditions, chronic illness and sleep, burden of sleep problems in relation to sleep disorders, activities done in the hour before bed, sleep habits and environmental influences, causes of sleep disturbance, the effect of sleep problems on work and social activities and the effect of sleep habits and routine on sleep quality and daytime functioning.	
The Household, Income and Labour Dynamics in Australia Survey (HILDA): Selected Findings from Waves 1 to 17 (2019)	The Household, Income and Labour Dynamics in Australia (HILDA) Survey is a household-based panel study that collects valuable information about economic and personal wellbeing, labour market dynamics and family life. It aims to tell the stories of the same group of Australians over the course of their lives. Started in 2001, the HILDA Survey provides policy-makers with unique insights about Australia, enabling them to make informed decisions across a range of policy areas, including health, education and social services. The HILDA Survey follows the lives of more than 17,000 Australians each year, collecting information on household and family relationships, income and employment, and health and education.	The HILDA Survey has collected information on sleep quality in the self- completion questionnaire in Waves 13 and 17. Respondents were asked about the frequency of each of five specific sleep problems: trouble sleeping because of not getting to sleep within 30 minutes; trouble sleeping because of waking in the middle of the night or early in the morning; trouble sleeping due to coughing or snoring; taking medicine to help sleep; and trouble staying awake while driving, eating meals or engaging in social activity. Respondents were then asked to assess overall sleep quality over the past month.	
2017 National Social Survey	The National Social Survey (NSS) 2017 is an Australian cross-sectional telephone survey undertaken by the Population Research Laboratory at Central Queensland University, Australia. It comprises items assessing participant demographic information, health	Items were devised to directly align to NSF sleep duration recommendations and quality indicators. Separate items assessed sleep duration on weekdays and/or workdays (hours) and weekends and/or non-workdays (hours). Measures	

11.2 Appendix 2: Sources of sleep data: Australia

83

Sleep: a core pillar of health and wellbeing Policy evidence review. Mitchell Institute, September 2023.

	behaviours, chronic disease status, and quality of life. The NSS 2017 included 1265 respondents.	of sleep quality included the following: sleep onset latency (minutes); number and duration (minutes) of awakenings throughout the night; frequency (days per week), number (per day) and duration (minutes) of naps; and sleep efficiency All questions asked participants to consider their sleep and related behaviour on an average day or week. Items related to sleep assessment and sleep care provided by health professionals were also included.
The Australian Longitudinal Study on Women's Health (1996- 2018)	The Australian Longitudinal Study on Women's Health is a national research resource for the development of policy and practice related to women's health and health services. It tracks the health and wellbeing of over 57,000 women across four generations including their sleep health. The study's data are freely available to collaborating researchers and policymakers.	Since its inception in 1996, the study data have been used to assess sleep health in Australian women and gain insight into the prevalence, determinants, and consequences of sleep difficulties.
Australian Longitudinal Study on Male's Health (Ten to Men)	The Australian Longitudinal Study on Male Health (Ten to Men) was established in 2011 to build the evidence base on male health to inform policy and program development. It is a national longitudinal study, funded by the Australian Government Department of Health, with a stratified multi-stage cluster random sample design and oversampling in rural and regional areas. A household recruitment method was used, and recruitment took place from September 2013 to July 2014. 16,021 males aged 10-55 were recruited. The survey content was structured around six key domains relevant to male health: physical health, mental health, health-related behaviours, social and environmental determinants of health, health literacy/knowledge, and health service use. The study is 'longitudinal' with repeat waves every 2 to 3 years so we can understand how changing life stages and circumstances might affect health and wellbeing over time.	

11.3 Appendix 3: Summary of key findings and future directions for the application of sleep hygiene to the general population (114)

Sleep hygiene recommendation	Summary of Findings	Directions for future research	
Avoid caffeine	 Caffeine administration close to bedtime disrupts sleep Effects of caffeine on sleep show a dose- response relationship The impact of morning and afternoon caffeine use is less clear Harmful effects of caffeine on sleep may be limited to caffeine-sensitive individuals Tolerance to caffeine's effects on sleep develops within days 	 Morning and afternoon caffeine use Intermittent caffeine use and the importance of day-to-day variation Tolerance and habituation Identification and targeting of caffeine-sensitive individuals 	
Avoid nicotine	 Acute and chronic nicotine administration/smoking disrupts sleep Arousals increase temporarily during acute nicotine withdrawal Few/limited studies suggest sleep problems associated with smoking can be resolved after cessation and withdrawal 	 Longitidunal assessments of change in sleep from pre- to post-cessation Threshold for occasional and/or light use to impact sleep Extent to which passive smoking disrupts sleep 	
Avoid alcohol	 Acute alcohol administration before bed decreases SOL but increases arousal during second half of night The effects of alcohol on sleep are dosedependent Tolerance to alcohol's effects on sleep occurs within days Sleep problems increase during acute withdrawal of dependent users Despite modest improvement, long-term sleep problems persist in abstinent former users 	 Longitudinal assessments of change in sleep during use and abstinence for dependent users Direct tests of alcohol avoidance effects on sleep in nondependent useres The impact of afternoon and evening use on sleep The effect of non-dependent use patterns (e.g., light/occasional, habitual weekend use) Combined effects of alcohol 	

85

Sleep: a core pillar of health and wellbeing

Policy evidence review. Mitchell Institute, September 2023.

Sleep hygiene recommendation	Summary of Findings	Directions for future research	
Avoid caffeine	 Caffeine administration close to bedtime disrupts sleep Effects of caffeine on sleep show a dose- response relationship The impact of morning and afternoon caffeine use is less clear Harmful effects of caffeine on sleep may be limited to caffeine-sensitive individuals Tolerance to caffeine's effects on sleep develops within days 	 Morning and afternoon caffeine use Intermittent caffeine use and the importance of day-to-day variation Tolerance and habituation Identification and targeting of caffeine-sensitive individuals 	
		with nicotine and caffeine on sleep	
Exercise regularly	 Regular and/or acute bouts of exercise produce modest improvements in sleep for individuals with and without sleep complaints (though impact of exercise training on PSG-assessed sleep is less consistent) Current evidence does not support the claim that late-night exercise disrupts sleep 	 Extent to which different types, duration, and intensity level of exercise can be specified for optimal sleep improvement Moderating effects of age, gender, and fitness level on the impact of exercise on sleep 	
Manage stress	 Psychosocial stress is associated with increased pre-sleep arousal and impaired sleep Various stress management strategies have been shown to reduce pre-sleep arousal and improve sleep (most often self-reported sleep) Individual differences influence perception of stress and coping style 	 Identify patterns in individual differences to predict those whose sleep is most affected by stress Examine the isolated benefit of stress management beyond reduction in physiological arousal Develop process by which individuals can evaluate their own stressors and identify the most appropriate stress management technique for their needs 	

Sleep hygiene recommendation	Summary of Findings	Directions for future research		
Avoid caffeine	 Caffeine administration close to bedtime disrupts sleep Effects of caffeine on sleep show a dose- response relationship The impact of morning and afternoon caffeine use is less clear Harmful effects of caffeine on sleep may be limited to caffeine-sensitive individuals Tolerance to caffeine's effects on sleep develops within days 	 Morning and afternoon caffeine use Intermittent caffeine use and the importance of day-to-day variation Tolerance and habituation Identification and targeting of caffeine-sensitive individuals 		
Reduce bedroom noise	 Nighttime noise increases arousals Habituation to noises occurs, but EEG arousals persist Specific noise reduction strategies have been shown to improve sleep in some environments (most often in ICU patients) 	 Further test noise- attenuating strategies in home environments using objective sleep assessments Identify individual-level factors (e.g., age) that influence preference and efficacy of specific strategies 		
Sleep timing regularity	 Clinical sleep treatments encourage regularity only in wake time, which is counter to some sleep hygiene recommendations to adopt regular bed- and wake-times Irregular sleep schedules have been associated with poor sleep, but assigning regular sleep schedules to nonclinical adults has shown limited effects on sleep improvement 	 Relative importance of bed- vs. wake-time regularity in nonclinical samples Influence of moderating factors (e.g., chronotype, age) Threshold for schedule regularity required to promote good sleep 		
Avoid daytime naps	 Most research suggests that daytime naps do not have a substantial impact on subjective or objective nocturnal sleep, despite sleep hygiene recommendations to avoid naps Nap duration and timing seem to have limited effects on the relationship between napping and nocturnal sleep 	 Impact of nap elimination on nocturnal sleep in habitual nappers with poor sleep Examination of naps in the home environment rather than laboratory Moderating effect of age 		

87

Sleep: a core pillar of health and wellbeing

Policy evidence review. Mitchell Institute, September 2023.

Note. EEG=electroencephalography; ICU=Intensive Care Unit; PSG=polysomnography; SOL=sleep onset latency.

Lifestyle	Environme nt	Stage of life	Type of work	Clinical/pathology indicator	Patient symptoms
Australian lifestyle - typical weekday routine (190) Activities in the hour before bed - work, internet use (R. Adams et al., 2017)(Adams et al., 2017)(Adams et al., 2017)(31)(24) Alcohol consumption Work hours, sedentary behaviour smoking, physical inactivity, Stress Nutrition (31,43– 46,69,202)(31,42– 45,68,199) * High caffeine intake (27)	Artificial lighting, bedroom temperatur e industrial and urban noise (27)	Puberty Older adults Perimenopa use (420)	Non-regular hours (191) Irregular/insecure/une mployed (190) High-pressure/long hours (158) Transport (421) Labourers Machinery operators and drivers Community and personal service workers Technicians Trade workers and clerical and administrative workers (158)	Use of medication (422) Obesity (BMI >30); overweight (106,107,158) Waist:hip ratio (423) High blood pressure (424,425) Reduced pupillary reflex reaction (426) Elevated lipid profile (423) Impaired glycaemic control (353,427)	Daytime sleepiness (353,419,428,429) Reduced energy (353,428,429) Impaired concentration / 'brain fog'/poo memory (60,229,430) Mental/emotional stress /anxiety and/o depression (27,108) Nocturia/polyuria (431) Increased appetite (432) sugar cravings (353) Weight gain (428) High alcohol use/alcohol dependency (20) Rhinitis /allergies (419)

11.4 Appendix 4: risk factors and influences for sleep health

12 References

- Sleep Foundation. Sleep Foundation. 2021 [cited 2023 Apr 20]. Chronotypes: Definition, Types, & Effect on Sleep. Available from: https://www.sleepfoundation.org/how-sleepworks/chronotypes
- Gentry NW, Ashbrook LH, Fu YH, Ptáček LJ. Human circadian variations. J Clin Invest [Internet]. 2021 Aug 16 [cited 2023 Apr 20];131(16). Available from: https://www.jci.org/articles/view/148282
- Sleep Foundation. Sleep Foundation. 2020 [cited 2023 May 16]. What Is Circadian Rhythm? Available from: https://www.sleepfoundation.org/circadianrhythm
- 4. Oxford Reference [Internet]. [cited 2023 May 16]. dose-response relationship. Available from: https://
- Department of Health & Human Services. Fatigue [Internet]. Department of Health & Human Services; [cited 2023 May 17]. Available from: http://www.betterhealth.vic.gov.au/health/conditio nsandtreatments/fatigue
- Sleep Foundation. Sleep Foundation. 2018 [cited 2023 May 17]. Healthy Sleep: What Is It and Are You Getting It? Available from: https://www.sleepfoundation.org/sleephygiene/what-is-healthy-sleep
- https://www.nichd.nih.gov/ [Internet]. 2019 [cited 2023 Apr 20]. How does inadequate sleep affect health? Available from: https://www.nichd.nih.gov/health/topics/sleep/con ditioninfo/inadequate-sleep
- Patel AK, Reddy V, Shumway KR, Araujo JF. Physiology, Sleep Stages. In: StatPearls [Internet]. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2023 [cited 2023 May 18]. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK526132/
- 9. Suni E, Vyas N. Sleep Foundation. 2021 [cited 2023 Apr 20]. Stages of Sleep: What Happens in a Sleep Cycle. Available from: https://www.sleepfoundation.org/stages-of-sleep
- Slowik JM, Sankari A, Collen JF. Obstructive Sleep Apnea. In: StatPearls [Internet]. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2023 [cited 2023 May 18]. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK459252/
- 11. Polysomnography: Overview, Parameters Monitored, Staging of Sleep. 2022 Dec 22 [cited 2023 Apr 20]; Available from: https://emedicine.medscape.com/article/1188764overview
- Reddy S, Reddy V, Sharma S. Physiology, Circadian Rhythm. In: StatPearls [Internet]. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2023 [cited 2023 May 25]. Available http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK519507/
- NHS inform. NHS inform. 2023 [cited 2023 May 18]. Restless legs syndrome. Available from: https://www.nhsinform.scot/illnesses-andconditions/brain-nerves-and-spinal-cord/restlesslegs-syndrome
- Colten HR, Altevogt BM, Research I of M (US) C on SM and. Sleep Physiology. In: Sleep Disorders and Sleep Deprivation: An Unmet Public Health Problem

[Internet]. National Academies Press (US); 2006 [cited 2023 Jun 2]. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK19956/

- National Heart, Lung and Blood Institute. Sleep Deprivation and Deficiency - What Are Sleep Deprivation and Deficiency? | NHLBI, NIH [Internet].
 2022 [cited 2023 Feb 9]. Available from: https://www.nhlbi.nih.gov/health/sleep-deprivation
- Healthdirect. Sleep disorders [Internet]. Healthdirect Australia; 2021 [cited 2023 Feb 10]. Available from: https://www.healthdirect.gov.au/sleep-disorders
- Parliament of the Commonwealth of Australia. Bedtime Reading: Inquiry into Sleep Health Awareness in Australia. Canberra, ACT: Department of the Senate; 2019.
- Reed DL, Sacco WP. Measuring Sleep Efficiency: What Should the Denominator Be? J Clin Sleep Med JCSM Off Publ Am Acad Sleep Med. 2016 Feb 15;12(2):263– 6.
- Buysse DJ. Sleep Health: Can We Define It? Does It Matter? Sleep. 2014 Jan 1;37(1):9–17.
- Sharma R, Parikh M, Mishra V, Zuniga A, Sahota P, Thakkar M. Sleep, sleep homeostasis and arousal disturbances in alcoholism. Brain Res Bull. 2022 May 1;182:30–43.
- Department of Health & Human Services. Sleep hygiene [Internet]. Department of Health & Human Services; 2022 [cited 2023 May 18]. Available from: http://www.betterhealth.vic.gov.au/health/conditio nsandtreatments/sleep-hygiene
- Sleep Foundation. Sleep Foundation. 2021 [cited 2023 May 25]. How Sleep Latency Impacts the Quality of Your Sleep. Available from: https://www.sleepfoundation.org/how-sleepworks/sleep-latency
- Sleep Medicine. Science Direct. 2023. Sleep Medicine: About. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/journal/sleepmedicine/about/aims-and-scope
- Schulz H, Bes E, Jobert M. Modelling Sleep Propensity and Sleep Disturbances. In: Meier-Ewert K, Okawa M, editors. Sleep—Wake Disorders [Internet]. Boston, MA: Springer US; 1997 [cited 2023 Aug 4]. p. 11–26. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4899-0245-0_2
- Kline C. Sleep Quality. In: Gellman MD, Turner JR, editors. Encyclopedia of Behavioral Medicine [Internet]. New York, NY: Springer; 2013 [cited 2023 Feb 8]. p. 1811–3. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4419-1005-9 849
- Caliandro R, Streng AA, van Kerkhof LWM, van der Horst GTJ, Chaves I. Social Jetlag and Related Risks for Human Health: A Timely Review. Nutrients. 2021 Dec 18;13(12):4543.
- Adams R, Appleton S, Taylor A, Antic N. Report to the Sleep Health Foundation 2016 Sleep Health Survey of Australian Adults. Adelaide: The University of Adelaide, The Adelaide Institute for Sleep Health; 2017.
- Deloitte Access Economics. Asleep on the job: Costs of inadequate sleep in Australia [Internet]. 2017 [cited 2023 Jan 24] p. 112. Available from: https://www.sleephealthfoundation.org.au/files/Asl eep_on_the_job/Asleep_on_the_Job_SHF_report-WEB_small.pdf

- 29. Deloitte Access Economics. Rise and try to shine: Social and Economic Cost of Sleep Disorders in Australia [Internet]. 2021 Apr [cited 2023 Feb 10]. Available from: https://www.sleephealthfoundation.org.au/files/Sp ecial_reports/Social_Economic_Cost_of_sleep_disor ders_20042021.pdf
- Hillman D, Mitchell S, Streatfeild J, Burns C, Bruck D, Pezzullo L. The economic cost of inadequate sleep. Sleep. 2018 Aug 1;41(8):1–13.
- National Mental Health Commission. National Mental Health Commission. Submission to the Inquiry into Sleep Health Awareness in Australia. Submission 62. Canberra: Parliament of the Commonwealth of Australia; 2018 Oct.
- Adams RJ, Appleton SL, Taylor AW, Gill TK, Lang C, McEvoy RD, et al. Sleep health of Australian adults in 2016: results of the 2016 Sleep Health Foundation national survey. Sleep Health. 2017 Feb 1;3(1):35–42.
- 33. Royal Australian College of Physicians. RACP Submission to Parliamentary Inquiry into Sleep Health Awareness in Australia [Internet]. Sydney: The Royal Australasian College of Physicians; 2018 Nov [cited 2023 Jan 24] p. 12. Available from: https://www.racp.edu.au/docs/defaultsource/advocacy-library/racp-submission-toparliamentary-inquiry-into-sleep-health-awarenessin-australia.pdf
- Sleep and Brain Ageing Researchers, University of Sydney, Brain and Mind Centre. Submission 105 to the Sleep Health Awareness Inquiry University of Sydney Brain and Mind Centre. 2018.
- National Heart, Lung and Blood Institute. Your Guide to Healthy Sleep | NHLBI, NIH [Internet]. 2011 [cited 2023 Mar 30]. Available from: https://www.nhlbi.nih.gov/resources/your-guidehealthy-sleep
- Bin YS, Cust A. Australasian Epidemiological Association (AEA) submission to Parliamentary Inquiry into Sleep Health Aware 2018-2019. Australasian Epidemiological Association; 2018 Oct.
- 37. Quan S, McGinnis G. Harvard Medical School Division of Sleep. 2023 [cited 2023 Sep 6]. Understanding Sleep. Available from: https://sleep.hms.harvard.edu/educationtraining/public-education/sleep-and-healtheducation-program/sleep-health-education-47
- Micoulaud-Franchi JA, Coelho J, Ouazzani Touhami K, Philip P. The Sleep Prism of Health. In: Sholl J, Rattan SIS, editors. Explaining Health Across the Sciences [Internet]. Cham: Springer International Publishing; 2020 [cited 2023 Jun 2]. p. 289–315. (Healthy Ageing and Longevity; vol. 12). Available from: https://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-3-030-52663-4_17
- Carskadon M, Dement W. Chapter 2- Normal Human Sleep: An Overview. In: Kryger MH, Roth T, editors. Principles and Practice of Sleep Medicine. 5th ed. St Louis: Elsevier Saunders; 2011. p. 26–26.
- Johnson DA, Czeisler CA. Chapter 1 Components of normal human sleep. In: Nieto FJ, Petersen DJ, editors. Foundations of Sleep Health [Internet]. Academic Press; 2022 [cited 2023 Mar 23]. p. 1–12. Available from:

https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ B9780128155011000120

- Huang J, Ren L, Feng L, Yang F, Yang L, Yan K. Al Empowered Virtual Reality Integrated Systems for Sleep Stage Classification and Quality Enhancement. IEEE Trans Neural Syst Rehabil Eng. 2022 May 27;PP:1–1.
- Department for Health and Wellbeing, SA. Good sleep = good health [Internet]. 2022 [cited 2023 Feb 9]. Available from: https://www.sahealth.sa.gov.au/wps/wcm/connect/ Public+Content/SA+Health+Internet/Healthy+Living/ Healthy+Sleep/Good+sleep+good+health
- 43. Division of Sleep Medicine at, Harvard Medical School. Why Sleep Matters: Benefits of Sleep [Internet]. 2021 [cited 2023 Oct 2]. Available from: https://sleep.hms.harvard.edu/educationtraining/public-education/sleep-and-healtheducation-program/sleep-health-education-41
- Patke A, Young MW, Axelrod S. Molecular mechanisms and physiological importance of circadian rhythms. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. 2020 Feb;21(2):67–84.
- 45. Zhu L, Zee PC. Circadian Rhythm Sleep Disorders. Neurol Clin. 2012 Nov;30(4):1167–91.
- Zee PC, Attarian H, Videnovic A. Circadian Rhythm Abnormalities. Contin Lifelong Learn Neurol. 2013 Feb;19(1 Sleep Disorders):132–47.
- Neves AR, Albuquerque T, Quintela T, Costa D. Circadian rhythm and disease: Relationship, new insights, and future perspectives. J Cell Physiol. 2022;237(8):3239–56.
- Walker WH, Walton JC, DeVries AC, Nelson RJ. Circadian rhythm disruption and mental health. Transl Psychiatry. 2020 Jan 23;10(1):1–13.
- Potter GDM, Skene DJ, Arendt J, Cade JE, Grant PJ, Hardie LJ. Circadian Rhythm and Sleep Disruption: Causes, Metabolic Consequences, and Countermeasures. Endocr Rev. 2016 Dec 1;37(6):584–608.
- Jagannath A, Taylor L, Wakaf Z, Vasudevan SR, Foster RG. The genetics of circadian rhythms, sleep and health. Hum Mol Genet. 2017 Oct 1;26(R2):R128–38.
- 51. Castillo M. The 3 Pillars of Health. AJNR Am J Neuroradiol. 2015 Jan;36(1):1–2.
- Broussard JL, Devkota S. The changing microbial landscape of Western society: Diet, dwellings and discordance. Mol Metab. 2016 Jul 21;5(9):737–42.
- Thivel D, Tremblay A, Genin PM, Panahi S, Rivière D, Duclos M. Physical Activity, Inactivity, and Sedentary Behaviors: Definitions and Implications in Occupational Health. Front Public Health. 2018 Oct 5;6:288.
- 54. Grandner MA. Sleep, Health, and Society. Sleep Med Clin. 2017 Mar;12(1):1–22.
- 55. Peever J, Fuller PM. The Biology of REM Sleep. Curr Biol. 2017 Nov 20;27(22):R1237–48.
- 56. Population Reference Bureau. Sleep, Health and Aging [Internet]. Population Reference Bureau; 2018 Oct [cited 2023 Mar 29]. (Today's Research on Aging: Program and Policy Implications). Report No.: 38. Available from: https://www.prb.org/wpcontent/uploads/2018/10/TRA38-Sleep-Health_Aging.pdf

- Ravyts SG, Dzierzewski JM. Sleep and Healthy Aging: A Systematic Review and Path Forward. Clin Gerontol. 2022 Apr 21;1–13.
- Lu C, Liao B, Nie J, Wang W, Wang Y. The association between sleep duration and chronic diseases: a population-based cross-sectional study. Sleep Med. 2020 Sep 1;73:217–22.
- Jackson ML, Sztendur EM, Diamond NT, Byles JE, Bruck D. Sleep difficulties and the development of depression and anxiety: a longitudinal study of young Australian women. Arch Womens Ment Health. 2014 Jun;17(3):189–98.
- Xu W, Tan CC, Zou JJ, Cao XP, Tan L. Sleep problems and risk of all-cause cognitive decline or dementia: an updated systematic review and meta-analysis. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2020 Mar 1;91(3):236– 44.
- Medic G, Wille M, Hemels M. Short- and long-term health consequences of sleep disruption. Nat Sci Sleep. 2017 May;Volume 9:151–61.
- Hirshkowitz M, Whiton K, Albert SM, Alessi C, Bruni O, DonCarlos L, et al. National Sleep Foundation's updated sleep duration recommendations: final report. Sleep Health. 2015 Dec;1(4):233–43.
- 63. Australian Government Department of Health and Aged Care [Internet]. Australian Government Department of Health and Aged Care; 2021 [cited 2022 Dec 14]. Australian 24-hour movement guidelines for children (5 to 12 years) and young people (13 to 17 years): an integration of physical activity, sedentary behaviour, and sleep. Available from:

https://www.health.gov.au/resources/publications/ australian-24-hour-movement-guidelines-forchildren-5-to-12-years-and-young-people-13-to-17years-an-integration-of-physical-activity-sedentarybehaviour-and-sleep?language=en

- Australian Government Department of Health and Aged Care [Internet]. Australian Government Department of Health and Aged Care; 2021 [cited 2023 Mar 24]. 24-hour movement guidelines – birth to 5 years – brochure. Available from: https://www.health.gov.au/resources/publications/ 24-hour-movement-guidelines-birth-to-5-yearsbrochure?language=en
- Okely AD, Ghersi D, Hesketh KD, Santos R, Loughran SP, Cliff DP, et al. A collaborative approach to adopting/adapting guidelines - The Australian 24-Hour Movement Guidelines for the early years (Birth to 5 years): an integration of physical activity, sedentary behavior, and sleep. BMC Public Health. 2017 Nov 20;17(5):869.
- Chaput JP, Dutil C, Sampasa-Kanyinga H. Sleeping hours: what is the ideal number and how does age impact this? Nat Sci Sleep. 2018 Nov;Volume 10:421– 30.
- Watson NF, Badr MS, Belenky G, Bliwise DL, Buxton OM, Buysse D, et al. Recommended Amount of Sleep for a Healthy Adult: A Joint Consensus Statement of the American Academy of Sleep Medicine and Sleep Research Society. Sleep. 2015 Jun 1;38(6):843–4.
- Chaput JP, Dutil C, Featherstone R, Ross R, Giangregorio L, Saunders TJ, et al. Sleep duration and health in adults: an overview of systematic reviews.

Appl Physiol Nutr Metab. 2020 Oct;45(10 (Suppl. 2)):S218–31.

- 69. Bin YS, Marshall NS, Glozier N. Secular trends in adult sleep duration: A systematic review. Sleep Med Rev. 2012 Jun 1;16(3):223–30.
- Hoyos C, Glozier N, Marshall NS. Recent Evidence on Worldwide Trends on Sleep Duration. Curr Sleep Med Rep. 2015 Dec 1;1(4):195–204.
- Matricciani L, Bin YS, Lallukka T, Kronholm E, Dumuid D, Paquet C, et al. Past, present, and future: trends in sleep duration and implications for public health. Sleep Health. 2017 Oct;3(5):317–23.
- 72. Ford ES, Cunningham TJ, Croft JB. Trends in Self-Reported Sleep Duration among US Adults from 1985 to 2012. Sleep. 2015 May 1;38(5):829–32.
- Keyes KM, Maslowsky J, Hamilton A, Schulenberg J. The Great Sleep Recession: Changes in Sleep Duration Among US Adolescents, 1991–2012. Pediatrics. 2015 Mar;135(3):460–8.
- Ohayon M, Wickwire EM, Hirshkowitz M, Albert SM, Avidan A, Daly FJ, et al. National Sleep Foundation's sleep quality recommendations: first report. Sleep Health. 2017 Feb;3(1):6–19.
- Beebe DW. Cognitive, behavioral, and functional consequences of inadequate sleep in children and adolescents. Pediatr Clin North Am. 2011 Jun;58(3):649–65.
- Blume C, Garbazza C, Spitschan M. Effects of light on human circadian rhythms, sleep and mood. Somnologie. 2019 Sep;23(3):147–56.
- Chaput JP, Dutil C, Featherstone R, Ross R, Giangregorio L, Saunders TJ, et al. Sleep timing, sleep consistency, and health in adults: a systematic review. Appl Physiol Nutr Metab. 2020 Oct;45(10 (Suppl. 2)):S232–47.
- Newsom R, Rehman A. Sleep Foundation. 2020 [cited 2023 Jun 2]. The Connection Between Diet, Exercise, and Sleep. Available from: https://www.sleepfoundation.org/physicalhealth/diet-exercise-sleep
- 79. Han KS, Kim L, Shim I. Stress and sleep disorder. Exp Neurobiol. 2012 Dec;21(4):141–50.
- Sleep Foundation. Sleep Foundation. 2021 [cited 2023 Mar 29]. The Relationship Between Sleep & Workplace Accidents. Available from: https://www.sleepfoundation.org/excessivesleepiness/workplace-accidents
- The Sleep Health Foundation [Internet]. 2022 [cited 2023 Jun 2]. Narcolepsy. Available from: https://www.sleephealthfoundation.org.au/narcole psy.html
- 82. Sleep Foundation [Internet]. 2018 [cited 2023 Mar 16]. Insomnia: Symptoms, Causes, and Treatments. Available from: https://www.sleepfoundation.org/insomnia
- Grima NA, Bei B, Mansfield D. Insomnia theory and assessment. Aust J Gen Pract [Internet]. 2019 Apr [cited 2023 Sep 11];48(4). Available from: https://www1.racgp.org.au/ajgp/2019/april/insomn ia-theory-and-assessment
- Morin C, Drake C, Harvey A, Krystal A, Manber R, Riemann D, et al. Insomnia disorder. Nat Rev Dis Primer. 2015 Sep 3;1:15026.
- Lichstein KL. Secondary insomnia: a myth dismissed. Sleep Med Rev. 2006 Feb 1;10(1):3–5.

- Sateia MJ. International Classification of Sleep Disorders- Third Edition. Chest. 2014;146(5):1387– 94.
- Grandner MA, Perlis ML. Treating Insomnia Disorder in the Context of Medical and Psychiatric Comorbidities. JAMA Intern Med. 2015 Sep;175(9):1472–3.
- Healthdirect. Obstructive sleep apnoea [Internet]. Healthdirect Australia; 2023 [cited 2023 Feb 27]. Available from: https://www.healthdirect.gov.au/obstructive-sleepapnoea
- Sleep Health Foundation. Obstructive Sleep Apnea [Internet]. Sleep Health Facts. 2017 [cited 2023 Feb 27]. Available from: https://www.sleephealthfoundation.org.au/obstruct ive-sleep-apnea.html
- Sleiman P, Hakonarson H. Genetic Underpinnings of Obstructive Sleep Apnea: Are We Making Progress? Sleep. 2011 Nov 1;34(11):1449–52.
- Lal C, Weaver TE, Bae CJ, Strohl KP. Excessive Daytime Sleepiness in Obstructive Sleep Apnea. Mechanisms and Clinical Management. Ann Am Thorac Soc. 2021 May;18(5):757–68.
- Manconi M, Garcia-Borreguero D, Schormair B, Videnovic A, Berger K, Ferri R, et al. Restless legs syndrome. Nat Rev Dis Primer. 2021 Nov 3;7(1):1–18.
- Wulff K, Gatti S, Wettstein JG, Foster RG. Sleep and circadian rhythm disruption in psychiatric and neurodegenerative disease. Nat Rev Neurosci. 2010 Aug;11(8):589–99.
- 94. The Sleep Health Foundation [Internet]. 2022 [cited 2023 Jun 2]. Idiopathic Hypersomnia. Available from: https://www.sleephealthfoundation.org.au/idiopath ic-hypersomnia.html
- 95. Reynolds AC, Appleton SL, Gill TK, Adams RJ, Sa W. Chronic Insomnia Disorder in Australia [Internet]. Sleep Health Foundation; 2019 Jul [cited 2023 Jun 5]. Available from: https://www.sleephealthfoundation.org.au/pdfs/Sp ecial_Reports/SHF_Insomnia_Report_2019_Final_S HFlogo.pdf
- 96. Eckert D, NeuRA. Submission 101 to the Inquiry into Sleep Health Awareness in Australia [Internet]. 2018. Available from: https://www.aph.gov.au/Parliamentary_Business/C ommittees/House/Health_Aged_Care_and_Sport/Sl eepHealthAwareness/Submissions?main_0_content _1_RadGrid1ChangePage=6_20
- McArdle N, Reynolds AC, Hillman D, Moses E, Maddison K, Melton P, et al. Prevalence of common sleep disorders in a middle-aged community sample. J Clin Sleep Med JCSM Off Publ Am Acad Sleep Med. 2022 Jun 1;18(6):1503–14.
- Appleton SL, Gill TK, Lang CJ, Taylor AW, McEvoy RD, Stocks NP, et al. Prevalence and comorbidity of sleep conditions in Australian adults: 2016 Sleep Health Foundation national survey. Sleep Health. 2018 Feb 1;4(1):13–9.
- Lallukka T, Sivertsen B, Kronholm E, Bin YS, Øverland S, Glozier N. Association of sleep duration and sleep quality with the physical, social, and emotional functioning among Australian adults. Sleep Health. 2018 Apr 1;4(2):194–200.

- Bernert RA, Kim JS, Iwata NG, Perlis ML. Sleep Disturbances as an Evidence-Based Suicide Risk Factor. Curr Psychiatry Rep. 2015 Feb 21;17(3):15.
- Beyond Blue. Suicidal warning signs and coping strategies - Beyond Blue [Internet]. beyondblue; [cited 2023 Mar 17]. Available from: https://www.beyondblue.org.au/mentalhealth/suicide-prevention/feeling-suicidal/suicidalwarning-signs
- 102. Pigeon WR, Bishop TM, Titus CE. The Relationship Between Sleep Disturbance, Suicidal Ideation, Suicide Attempts, and Suicide Among Adults: A Systematic Review. Psychiatr Ann. 2016 Mar;46(3):177–86.
- 103. Liu Y, Croft JB, Wheaton AG, Perry GS, Chapman DP, Strine TW, et al. Association between perceived insufficient sleep, frequent mental distress, obesity and chronic diseases among US adults, 2009 behavioral risk factor surveillance system. BMC Public Health. 2013 Jan 29;13(1):84.
- Streatfeild J, Smith J, Mansfield D, Pezzullo L, Hillman D. The social and economic cost of sleep disorders. Sleep. 2021 Nov 12;44(11):1–11.
- 105. Reynolds AC, Coenen P, Lechat B, Straker L, Zabatiero J, Maddison KJ, et al. Insomnia and workplace productivity loss among young working adults: a prospective observational study of clinical sleep disorders in a community cohort. Med J Aust. 2023 Jun 25;mja2.52014.
- Astell-Burt T, Feng X, Kolt GS. Does access to neighbourhood green space promote a healthy duration of sleep? Novel findings from a crosssectional study of 259 319 Australians. BMJ Open. 2013 Aug;3(8):e003094.
- Gordon S, Vandelanotte C, Rayward AT, Murawski B, Duncan MJ. Sociodemographic and behavioral correlates of insufficient sleep in Australian adults. Sleep Health. 2019 Feb;5(1):12–7.
- Magee CA, Iverson DC, Caputi P. Factors associated with short and long sleep. Prev Med. 2009 Dec;49(6):461–7.
- 109. Magee CA, Kritharides L, Attia J, Mcelduff P, Banks E. Short and long sleep duration are associated with prevalent cardiovascular disease in Australian adults: Sleep duration and cardiovascular disease. J Sleep Res. 2012 Aug;21(4):441–7.
- 110. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare [Internet]. 2023 [cited 2023 Aug 4]. Determinants of health: Health behaviours - Australia's health performance framework. Available from: https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports-data/australiashealth-performance/australias-health-performanceframework/national/all-

australia/behaviours/health-behaviours

- 111. Albakri U, Drotos E, Meertens R. Sleep Health Promotion Interventions and Their Effectiveness: An Umbrella Review. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2021 May 21;18(11):5533.
- 112. Murawski B, Wade L, Plotnikoff RC, Lubans DR, Duncan MJ. A systematic review and meta-analysis of cognitive and behavioral interventions to improve sleep health in adults without sleep disorders. Sleep Med Rev. 2018 Aug 1;40:160–9.
- 113. Sleep Health Foundation. Good Sleep Habits [Internet]. Sleep Health Foundation; 2011. Available from:

https://www.sleephealthfoundation.org.au/pdfs/Go od-Sleep-Habits.pdf

- 114. Irish LA, Kline CE, Gunn HE, Buysse DJ, Hall MH. The role of sleep hygiene in promoting public health: A review of empirical evidence. Sleep Med Rev. 2015 Aug 1;22:23–36.
- Hale L, Guan S. Screen time and sleep among schoolaged children and adolescents: A systematic literature review. Sleep Med Rev. 2015 Jun 1;21:50– 8.
- Magee CA, Lee JK, Vella SA. Bidirectional relationships between sleep duration and screen time in early childhood. JAMA Pediatr. 2014 May;168(5):465–70.
- 117. Cajochen C. Alerting effects of light. Sleep Med Rev. 2007 Dec 1;11(6):453–64.
- 118. Fisher SP, Foster RG, Peirson SN. The Circadian Control of Sleep. In: Kramer A, Merrow M, editors. Circadian Clocks [Internet]. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg; 2013 [cited 2023 Mar 28]. (Handbook of Experimental Pharmacology; vol. 217). Available from: https://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-3-642-25950-0
- 119. Zhao M, Tuo H, Wang S, Zhao L. The Effects of Dietary Nutrition on Sleep and Sleep Disorders. Mediators Inflamm. 2020 Jun 25;2020:3142874.
- St-Onge MP, Mikic A, Pietrolungo CE. Effects of Diet on Sleep Quality. Adv Nutr. 2016 Sep 7;7(5):938–49.
- 121. Ikonte CJ, Mun JG, Reider CA, Grant RW, Mitmesser SH. Micronutrient Inadequacy in Short Sleep: Analysis of the NHANES 2005-2016. Nutrients. 2019 Oct 1;11(10):2335.
- 122. Godos J, Grosso G, Castellano S, Galvano F, Caraci F, Ferri R. Association between diet and sleep quality: A systematic review. Sleep Med Rev. 2021 Jun 1;57:101430.
- 123. Binks H, Vincent GE, Irwin C, Heidke P, Vandelanotte C, Williams SL, et al. Associations between sleep and lifestyle behaviours among Australian nursing students: A cross-sectional study. Collegian. 2021 Feb 1;28(1):97–105.
- Koob GF, Colrain IM. Alcohol use disorder and sleep disturbances: a feed-forward allostatic framework. Neuropsychopharmacology. 2020 Jan;45(1):141–65.
- Meyrel M, Rolland B, Geoffroy PA. Alterations in circadian rhythms following alcohol use: A systematic review. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry. 2020 Apr 20;99:109831.
- 126. Brower KJ, Aldrich MS, Hall JM. Polysomnographic and subjective sleep predictors of alcoholic relapse. Alcohol Clin Exp Res. 1998 Nov;22(8):1864–71.
- 127. Drummond SP, Gillin JC, Smith TL, DeModena A. The sleep of abstinent pure primary alcoholic patients: natural course and relationship to relapse. Alcohol Clin Exp Res. 1998 Nov;22(8):1796–802.
- 128. Watson EJ, Coates AM, Kohler M, Banks S. Caffeine Consumption and Sleep Quality in Australian Adults. Nutrients. 2016 Aug;8(8):479.
- 129. Clark I, Landolt HP. Coffee, caffeine, and sleep: A systematic review of epidemiological studies and randomized controlled trials. Sleep Med Rev. 2017 Feb 1;31:70–8.
- 130. Gardiner C, Weakley J, Burke LM, Roach GD, Sargent C, Maniar N, et al. The effect of caffeine on

subsequent sleep: A systematic review and metaanalysis. Sleep Med Rev. 2023 Jun 1;69:101764.

- Burke TM, Markwald RR, McHill AW, Chinoy ED, Snider JA, Bessman SC, et al. Effects of caffeine on the human circadian clock in vivo and in vitro. Sci Transl Med. 2015 Sep 16;7(305):305ra146.
- Purani H, Friedrichsen S, Allen AM. Sleep quality in cigarette smokers: Associations with smoking-related outcomes and exercise. Addict Behav. 2019 Mar 1;90:71–6.
- 133. Liao Y, Xie L, Chen X, Kelly BC, Qi C, Pan C, et al. Sleep quality in cigarette smokers and nonsmokers: findings from the general population in central China. BMC Public Health. 2019 Jun 24;19(1):808.
- Duncan MJ, Oftedal S, Rebar AL, Murawski B, Short CE, Rayward AT, et al. Patterns of physical activity, sitting time, and sleep in Australian adults: A latent class analysis. Sleep Health. 2020 Dec;6(6):828–34.
- Kline CE. The bidirectional relationship between exercise and sleep: Implications for exercise adherence and sleep improvement. Am J Lifestyle Med. 2014;8(6):375–9.
- Simpson L, McArdle N, Eastwood PR, Ward KL, Cooper MN, Wilson AC, et al. Physical Inactivity Is Associated with Moderate-Severe Obstructive Sleep Apnea. J Clin Sleep Med JCSM Off Publ Am Acad Sleep Med. 2015 Oct 15;11(10):1091–9.
- 137. Vancampfort D, Stubbs B, Firth J, Hagemann N, Myin-Germeys I, Rintala A, et al. Sedentary behaviour and sleep problems among 42,489 community-dwelling adults in six low- and middle-income countries. J Sleep Res. 2018 Dec;27(6):e12714.
- 138. Liang YY, Feng H, Chen Y, Jin X, Xue H, Zhou M, et al. Joint association of physical activity and sleep duration with risk of all-cause and cause-specific mortality: a population-based cohort study using accelerometry. Eur J Prev Cardiol. 2023 Mar 29;zwad060.
- 139. Yoong SL, Chai LK, Williams CM, Wiggers J, Finch M, Wolfenden L. Systematic review and meta-analysis of interventions targeting sleep and their impact on child body mass index, diet, and physical activity. Obes Silver Spring Md. 2016 May;24(5):1140–7.
- 140. Agostini A, Lushington K, Kohler M, Dorrian J. Associations between self-reported sleep measures and dietary behaviours in a large sample of Australian school students (n = 28,010). J Sleep Res. 2018 Oct;27(5):e12682.
- Zuraikat FM, Wood RA, Barragán R, St-Onge MP. Sleep and Diet: Mounting Evidence of a Cyclical Relationship. Annu Rev Nutr. 2021 Oct 11;41:309–32.
- 142. Huang BH, Duncan MJ, Cistulli PA, Nassar N, Hamer M, Stamatakis E. Sleep and physical activity in relation to all-cause, cardiovascular disease and cancer mortality risk. Br J Sports Med. 2022 Jul 1;56(13):718–24.
- 143. Saidi O, Peyrel P, Del Sordo G, Gabriel B, Maso F, Doré É, et al. Is it wiser to train in the afternoon or the early evening to sleep better? The role of chronotype in young adolescent athletes. Sleep. 2023 Jul 11;46(7):zsad099.
- Saner NJ, Lee MJC, Kuang J, Pitchford NW, Roach GD, Garnham A, et al. Exercise mitigates sleep-lossinduced changes in glucose tolerance, mitochondrial

function, sarcoplasmic protein synthesis, and diurnal rhythms. Mol Metab. 2021 Jan;43:101110.

- Papatriantafyllou E, Efthymiou D, Zoumbaneas E, Popescu CA, Vassilopoulou E. Sleep Deprivation: Effects on Weight Loss and Weight Loss Maintenance. Nutrients. 2022 Apr 8;14(8):1549.
- Meader N, King K, Moe-Byrne T, Wright K, Graham H, Petticrew M, et al. A systematic review on the clustering and co-occurrence of multiple risk behaviours. BMC Public Health. 2016 Jul 29;16(1):657.
- 147. Prendergast KB, Schofield GM, Mackay LM. Associations between lifestyle behaviours and optimal wellbeing in a diverse sample of New Zealand adults. BMC Public Health. 2016 Jan 22;16:62.
- 148. Rayward AT, Duncan MJ, Brown WJ, Plotnikoff RC, Burton NW. A cross-sectional cluster analysis of the combined association of physical activity and sleep with sociodemographic and health characteristics in mid-aged and older adults. Maturitas. 2017 Aug 1;102:56–61.
- 149. Melaku YA, Reynolds AC, Appleton S, Sweetman A, Shi Z, Vakulin A, et al. High-quality and antiinflammatory diets and a healthy lifestyle are associated with lower sleep apnea risk. J Clin Sleep Med JCSM Off Publ Am Acad Sleep Med. 2022 Jun 1;18(6):1667–79.
- Bin YS, Marshall NS, Glozier N. The burden of insomnia on individual function and healthcare consumption in Australia. Aust N Z J Public Health. 2012 Oct;36(5):462–8.
- Hirotsu C, Tufik S, Andersen ML. Interactions between sleep, stress, and metabolism: From physiological to pathological conditions. Sleep Sci. 2015 Nov 1;8(3):143–52.
- Itani O, Jike M, Watanabe N, Kaneita Y. Short sleep duration and health outcomes: a systematic review, meta-analysis, and meta-regression. Sleep Med. 2017 Apr;32:246–56.
- Jike M, Itani O, Watanabe N, Buysse DJ, Kaneita Y. Long sleep duration and health outcomes: A systematic review, meta-analysis and metaregression. Sleep Med Rev. 2018 Jun;39:25–36.
- Freeman D, Sheaves B, Waite F, Harvey AG, Harrison PJ. Sleep disturbance and psychiatric disorders. Lancet Psychiatry. 2020 Jul 1;7(7):628–37.
- Frohnhofen H. Pain and sleep: A bidirectional relationship. Z Gerontol Geriatr. 2018 Dec;51(8):871– 4.
- Ohayon MM. Relationship between chronic painful physical condition and insomnia. J Psychiatr Res. 2005 Mar 1;39(2):151–9.
- 157. Palm A, Janson C, Lindberg E. The impact of obesity and weight gain on development of sleep problems in a population-based sample. Sleep Med. 2015 May 1;16(5):593–7.
- Wilkins R. The Household, Income and Labour Dynamics in Australia Survey: Selected Findings from Waves 1 to 14. Melbourne: Melbourne Institute of Applied Economic and Social Research; 2016. (HILDA).
- 159. Fernandez-Mendoza J, Vgontzas AN, Kritikou I, Calhoun SL, Liao D, Bixler EO. Natural History of Excessive Daytime Sleepiness: Role of Obesity,

Weight Loss, Depression, and Sleep Propensity. Sleep. 2015 Mar 1;38(3):351–60.

- Hayes BL, Vabistsevits M, Martin RM, Lawlor DA, Richmond RC, Robinson T. Establishing causal relationships between sleep and adiposity traits using Mendelian randomization. Obesity. 2023;31(3):861–70.
- Vgontzas AN, Bixler EO, Basta M. Obesity and Sleep: A Bidirectional Association? Sleep. 2010 May 1;33(5):573–4.
- Hamilton GS, Joosten SA. Obstructive sleep apnoea and obesity. 2017;
- Kalmbach DA, Anderson JR, Drake CL. The impact of stress on sleep: Pathogenic sleep reactivity as a vulnerability to insomnia and circadian disorders. J Sleep Res. 2018;27(6):e12710.
- Scott AJ, Webb TL, Martyn-St James M, Rowse G, Weich S. Improving sleep quality leads to better mental health: A meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. Sleep Med Rev. 2021 Dec 1;60:101556.
- Hertenstein E, Feige B, Gmeiner T, Kienzler C, Spiegelhalder K, Johann A, et al. Insomnia as a predictor of mental disorders: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Sleep Med Rev. 2019 Feb;43:96– 105.
- 166. Staner L. Comorbidity of insomnia and depression. Sleep Med Rev. 2010 Feb;14(1):35–46.
- Nutt D, Wilson S, Paterson L. Sleep disorders as core symptoms of depression. Dialogues Clin Neurosci. 2008 Sep;10(3):329–36.
- 168. Sweetman A, Zwar N, Grivell N, Lovato N, Lack L. A step-by-step model for a brief behavioural treatment for insomnia in Australian general practice. Aust J Gen Pract [Internet]. 2021 May [cited 2023 Jul 28];50(5). Available from: https://www1.racgp.org.au/ajgp/2021/may/behavio ural-treatment-for-insomnia-in-australian-g
- 169. Thase ME. Depression and sleep: pathophysiology and treatment. Dialogues Clin Neurosci. 2022;8(2):217–26.
- 170. Baglioni C, Battagliese G, Feige B, Spiegelhalder K, Nissen C, Voderholzer U, et al. Insomnia as a predictor of depression: A meta-analytic evaluation of longitudinal epidemiological studies. J Affect Disord. 2011 Dec 1;135(1):10–9.
- Sweetman A, Lack L, Van Ryswyk E, Vakulin A, Reed RL, Battersby MW, et al. Co-occurring depression and insomnia in Australian primary care: recent scientific evidence. Med J Aust. 2021;215(5):230–6.
- Fang H, Tu S, Sheng J, Shao A. Depression in sleep disturbance: A review on a bidirectional relationship, mechanisms and treatment. J Cell Mol Med. 2019;23(4):2324–32.
- Boland EM, Goldschmied JR, Gehrman PR. Does insomnia treatment prevent depression? Sleep. 2023 Jun 1;46(6):zsad104.
- 174. Gebara MA, Siripong N, DiNapoli EA, Maree RD, Germain A, Reynolds CF, et al. Effect of insomnia treatments on depression: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Depress Anxiety. 2018 Aug;35(8):717– 31.
- 175. Peppard PE, Szklo-Coxe M, Hla KM, Young T. Longitudinal association of sleep-related breathing

disorder and depression. Arch Intern Med. 2006 Sep 18;166(16):1709–15.

- McEvoy RD, Antic NA, Heeley E, Luo Y, Ou Q, Zhang X, et al. CPAP for Prevention of Cardiovascular Events in Obstructive Sleep Apnea. N Engl J Med. 2016 Sep 8;375(10):919–31.
- 177. Brüdern J, Hallensleben N, Höller I, Spangenberg L, Forkmann T, Rath D, et al. Sleep disturbances predict active suicidal ideation the next day: an ecological momentary assessment study. BMC Psychiatry. 2022 Jan 27;22(1):65.
- Liu RT, Steele SJ, Hamilton JL, Do QBP, Furbish K, Burke TA, et al. Sleep and suicide: A systematic review and meta-analysis of longitudinal studies. Clin Psychol Rev. 2020 Nov 1;81:101895.
- 179. Porras-Segovia A, Pérez-Rodríguez MM, López-Esteban P, Courtet P, Barrigón M ML, López-Castromán J, et al. Contribution of sleep deprivation to suicidal behaviour: A systematic review. Sleep Med Rev. 2019 Apr 1;44:37–47.
- Goodwin RD, Marusic A. Association Between Short Sleep and Suicidal Ideation and Suicide Attempt Among Adults in the General Population. Sleep. 2008 Aug 1;31(8):1097–101.
- Bernert RA, Joiner TE. Sleep disturbances and suicide risk: A review of the literature. Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat. 2007 Dec;3(6):735–43.
- 182. Perlis ML, Grandner MA, Chakravorty S, Bernert RA, Brown GK, Thase ME. Suicide and sleep: Is it a bad thing to be awake when reason sleeps? Sleep Med Rev. 2016 Oct;29:101–7.
- Tubbs AS, Fernandez FX, Grandner MA, Perlis ML, Klerman EB. The Mind After Midnight: Nocturnal Wakefulness, Behavioral Dysregulation, and Psychopathology. Front Netw Physiol [Internet]. 2022 [cited 2023 Mar 29];1. Available from: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fnetp. 2021.830338
- Baiden P, Tadeo SK, Tonui BC, Seastrunk JD, Boateng GO. Association between insufficient sleep and suicidal ideation among adolescents. Psychiatry Res. 2020 May 1;287:112579.
- 185. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare [Internet]. 2023 [cited 2023 Mar 16]. Suicide among young people. Available from: https://www.aihw.gov.au/suicide-self-harmmonitoring/data/populations-age-groups/suicideamong-young-people
- Mansfield DR, Wasgewatta S, Reynolds A, Grandner MA, Tubbs AS, King K, et al. Nocturnal Wakefulness and Suicide Risk in the Australian Population. J Clin Psychiatry. 2022 Jun 22;83(4):21m14275.
- Connor J, Norton R, Ameratunga S, Robinson E, Civil I, Dunn R, et al. Driver sleepiness and risk of serious injury to car occupants: population based case control study. BMJ. 2002 May 11;324(7346):1125.
- 188. Grier T, Dinkeloo E, Reynolds M, Jones BH. Sleep duration and musculoskeletal injury incidence in physically active men and women: A study of U.S. Army Special Operation Forces soldiers. Sleep Health. 2020 Jun 1;6(3):344–9.
- 189. Dobrosielski DA, Sweeney L, Lisman PJ. The Association Between Poor Sleep and the Incidence of Sport and Physical Training-Related Injuries in Adult

Athletic Populations: A Systematic Review. Sports Med Auckl NZ. 2021 Apr;51(4):777–93.

- 190. Metse AP, Bowman JA. Prevalence of self-reported suboptimal sleep in Australia and receipt of sleep care: results from the 2017 National Social Survey. Sleep Health. 2020 Feb;6(1):100–9.
- 191. Jehan S, Zizi F, Pandi-Perumal SR, Myers AK, Auguste E, Jean-Louis G, et al. Shift work and sleep: medical implications and management. Sleep Med Disord Int J [Internet]. 2017 Oct 6 [cited 2022 Dec 20];1(2). Available from: https://medcraveonline.com/SMDIJ/shift-work-and-sleep-medical-implications-and-management.html
- Australian Institute of Health and Welfare [Internet].
 2022 [cited 2023 Sep 5]. Health literacy. Available from: https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/australiashealth/health-literacy
- 193. Australian Government Department of Health. National Preventive Health Strategy 2021–2030 [Internet]. Australian Government Department of Health and Aged Care; 2021 Dec [cited 2022 Dec 14]. Available from: https://www.health.gov.au/resources/publications/ national-preventive-health-strategy-2021-2030?language=en
- 194. Li JJ, Appleton SL, Wittert GA, Vakulin A, McEvoy RD, Antic NA, et al. The Relationship between Functional Health Literacy and Obstructive Sleep Apnea and its Related Risk Factors and Comorbidities in a Population Cohort of Men. Sleep. 2014 Mar 1;37(3):571–8.
- 195. Bathory E, Tomopoulos S, Rothman R, Sanders L, Perrin EM, Mendelsohn A, et al. Infant Sleep and Parent Health Literacy. Acad Pediatr. 2016 Aug 1;16(6):550–7.
- Caddick ZA, Gregory K, Arsintescu L, Flynn-Evans EE. A review of the environmental parameters necessary for an optimal sleep environment. Build Environ. 2018 Mar 15;132:11–20.
- Troynikov O, Watson CG, Nawaz N. Sleep environments and sleep physiology: A review. J Therm Biol. 2018 Dec 1;78:192–203.
- 198. Šmotek M, Fárková E, Manková D, Kopřivová J. Evening and night exposure to screens of media devices and its association with subjectively perceived sleep: Should "light hygiene" be given more attention? Sleep Health. 2020 Aug 1;6(4):498– 505.
- 199. Swinburn B, Egger G, Raza F. Dissecting obesogenic environments: the development and application of a framework for identifying and prioritizing environmental interventions for obesity. Prev Med. 1999 Dec;29(6 Pt 1):563–70.
- Nakashima M, Morikawa Y, Sakurai M, Nakamura K, Miura K, Ishizaki M, et al. Association between long working hours and sleep problems in white-collar workers. J Sleep Res. 2011;20(1pt1):110–6.
- Christian TJ. Trade-Offs Between Commuting Time and Health-Related Activities. J Urban Health. 2012 Oct 1;89(5):746–57.
- Andersen LL, Garde AH. Sleep problems and computer use during work and leisure: Crosssectional study among 7800 adults. Chronobiol Int. 2015 Nov 26;32(10):1367–72.

- Johnson DA, Billings ME, Hale L. Environmental Determinants of Insufficient Sleep and Sleep Disorders: Implications for Population Health. Curr Epidemiol Rep. 2018 Jun 1;5(2):61–9.
- 204. Billings ME, Hale L, Johnson DA. Physical and Social Environment Relationship With Sleep Health and Disorders. Chest. 2020 May;157(5):1304–12.
- Hill VM, Rebar AL, Ferguson SA, Shriane AE, Vincent GE. Go to bed! A systematic review and meta-analysis of bedtime procrastination correlates and sleep outcomes. Sleep Med Rev. 2022 Dec;66:101697.
- 206. Kroese FM, Nauts S, Kamphorst BA, Anderson JH, de Ridder DTD. Chapter 5 - Bedtime Procrastination: A Behavioral Perspective on Sleep Insufficiency. In: Sirois FM, Pychyl TA, editors. Procrastination, Health, and Well-Being [Internet]. San Diego: Academic Press; 2016 [cited 2023 Mar 29]. p. 93–119. Available from:

https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ B9780128028629000050

- 207. Suh S, Cho N, Jeoung S, An H. Developing a Psychological Intervention for Decreasing Bedtime Procrastination: The BED-PRO Study. Behav Sleep Med. 2022 Nov 2;20(6):659–73.
- 208. Rubin R. Matters of the Mind—Bedtime Procrastination, Relaxation-Induced Anxiety, Lonely Tweeters. JAMA. 2020 Jan 7;323(1):15–6.
- 209. Starkman E. WebMD. 2022 [cited 2023 Mar 29]. What Is Revenge Bedtime Procrastination? Available from: https://www.webmd.com/sleepdisorders/revenge-bedtime-procrastination
- Grandner MA, Williams NJ, Knutson KL, Roberts D, Jean-Louis G. Sleep disparity, race/ethnicity, and socioeconomic position. Sleep Med. 2016 Feb;18:7– 18.
- Slopen N, Williams DR. Discrimination, Other Psychosocial Stressors, and Self-Reported Sleep Duration and Difficulties. Sleep. 2014 Jan 1;37(1):147–56.
- 212. Piccolo RS, Yang M, Bliwise DL, Yaggi HK, Araujo AB. Racial and socioeconomic disparities in sleep and chronic disease: results of a longitudinal investigation. Ethn Dis. 2013;23(4):499–507.
- Schofield DJ, Shrestha RN, Callander EJ. Access to general practitioner services amongst underserved Australians: a microsimulation study. Hum Resour Health. 2012 Jan 22;10(1):1.
- Blunden S, Yiallourou S, Fatima Y. Sleep health and its implications in First Nation Australians: A systematic review. Lancet Reg Health – West Pac [Internet].
 2022 Apr 1 [cited 2023 Jul 14];21. Available from: https://www.thelancet.com/journals/lanwpc/article /PIIS2666-6065(22)00005-0/fulltext
- Paine SJ, Gander PH. Explaining ethnic inequities in sleep duration: a cross-sectional survey of Māori and non-Māori adults in New Zealand. Sleep Health. 2016 Jun 1;2(2):109–15.
- Arber S, Venn S. Caregiving at night: Understanding the impact on carers. J Aging Stud. 2011 Apr 1;25(2):155–65.
- DePasquale N, Sliwinski MJ, Zarit SH, Buxton OM, Almeida DM. Unpaid Caregiving Roles and Sleep Among Women Working in Nursing Homes: A Longitudinal Study. The Gerontologist. 2019 May;59(3):474–85.

- 218. Toomingas A, Mathiassen SE, Tornqvist EW. Occupational Physiology. CRC Press; 2011. 313 p.
- 219. Gurubhagavatula I, Barger LK, Barnes CM, Basner M, Boivin DB, Dawson D, et al. Guiding principles for determining work shift duration and addressing the effects of work shift duration on performance, safety, and health: guidance from the American Academy of Sleep Medicine and the Sleep Research Society. J Clin Sleep Med. 2021 Nov;17(11):2283–306.
- 220. Queensland WH and S. Fatigue [Internet]. Workplace Health and Safety Queensland; 2020 [cited 2023 Mar 29]. Available from: https://www.worksafe.qld.gov.au/safety-andprevention/mental-health/Psychosocialhazards/fatigue
- 221. Safe Work Australia. Guide for managing the risk of fatigue at work [Internet]. Safe Work Australia; 2013 [cited 2023 Mar 29]. Available from: https://www.safeworkaustralia.gov.au/system/files/ documents/1702/managing-the-risk-of-fatigue.pdf
- 222. International Labour Organization. Non-standard employment around the world: Understanding challenges, shaping prospects [Internet]. 2016 Nov [cited 2023 Mar 30]. Available from: http://www.ilo.org/global/publications/books/WCM S_534326/lang--en/index.htm
- 223. Kecklund G, Axelsson J. Health consequences of shift work and insufficient sleep. BMJ. 2016 Nov 1;355:i5210.
- 224. National Toxicology Program. NTP Cancer Hazard Assessment Report on Night Shift Work and Light at Night [Internet]. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services; 2021 Apr [cited 2023 Jul 20]. Available from: https://ntp.niehs.nih.gov/whatwestudy/assessment s/cancer/completed/shiftwork/abstract
- Shriane AE, Ferguson SA, Jay SM, Vincent GE. Sleep hygiene in shift workers: A systematic literature review. Sleep Med Rev. 2020 Oct;53:101336.
- 226. Thorpy M. Understanding and diagnosing shift work disorder. Postgrad Med. 2011 Sep;123(5):96–105.
- 227. Reynolds AC, Ferguson SA, Appleton SL, Crowther ME, Melaku YA, Gill TK, et al. Prevalence of Probable Shift Work Disorder in Non-Standard Work Schedules and Associations with Sleep, Health and Safety Outcomes: A Cross-Sectional Analysis. Nat Sci Sleep. 2021 May 31;13:683–93.
- 228. Evans-Whipp T, Gasser C. Are children and adolescents getting enough sleep? Melbourne: Australian Institute of Family Studies; 2019 Dec. (Growing up in Australia. The Longitudinal Study of Australian Children (LSAC)). Report No.: 2018.
- 229. Matricciani L, Paquet C, Galland B, Short M, Olds T. Children's sleep and health: A meta-review. Sleep Med Rev. 2019 Aug 1;46:136–50.
- Chaput JP, Dutil C. Lack of sleep as a contributor to obesity in adolescents: impacts on eating and activity behaviors. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act. 2016 Dec;13(1):103.
- Au R, Carskadon M, Millman R, Wolfson A, Braverman PK, Adelman WP, et al. School Start Times for Adolescents. Pediatrics. 2014 Sep 1;134(3):642–9.
- 232. Chaput JP, Gariépy G, Pendharkar SR, Ayas NT, Samuels C, Vallières A, et al. National strategy on the integration of sleep and circadian rhythms into public

health research and policies: Report from the Canadian Sleep and Circadian Network. Sleep Health. 2022 Oct;8(5):551–63.

- Troxel WM, Wolfson AR. The intersection between sleep science and policy: introduction to the special issue on school start times. Sleep Health. 2017 Dec;3(6):419–22.
- 234. Karlamangla S. California Becomes First State to Move Back School Start Times. The New York Times [Internet]. 2022 Jul 13 [cited 2023 Feb 3]; Available from:

https://www.nytimes.com/2022/07/13/us/california -later-school-start-times.html

- 235. NSW Government DE. DE International. [cited 2023 Jul 26]. School life. Available from: https://www.deinternational.nsw.edu.au/schoollife-in-nsw/school-life
- 236. Blunden S, Fatima Y, Yiallourou S. Sleep Health in Indigneous Australians: A review on the state of Indigenous Sleep Health in Australia [Internet]. Australia: The Australasian Sleep Association Indigenous Sleep Health Working Party; 2020 Jun [cited 2023 Jul 14]. Available from: https://www.sleep.org.au/Public/News/Articles/Feb /Report.aspx
- 237. Australian Longitudinal Study on Women's Health. Australian Longitudinal Study on Women's Health. Sleep Health Awareness in Australia Submission 114. Canberra: Parliament of the Commonwealth of Australia; 2018 Oct.
- Mindell JA, Cook RA, Nikolovski J. Sleep patterns and sleep disturbances across pregnancy. Sleep Med. 2015 Apr 1;16(4):483–8.
- 239. Zerón-Rugerio MF, Longo-Silva G, Hernáez Á, Ortega-Regules AE, Cambras T, Izquierdo-Pulido M. The Elapsed Time between Dinner and the Midpoint of Sleep Is Associated with Adiposity in Young Women. Nutrients. 2020 Feb 5;12(2):410.
- Facco FL, Grobman WA, Reid KJ, Parker CB, Hunter SM, Silver RM, et al. Objectively measured short sleep duration and later sleep midpoint in pregnancy are associated with a higher risk of gestational diabetes. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2017 Oct;217(4):447.e1-447.e13.
- McCowan LME, Thompson JMD, Cronin RS, Li M, Stacey T, Stone PR, et al. Going to sleep in the supine position is a modifiable risk factor for late pregnancy stillbirth; Findings from the New Zealand multicentre stillbirth case-control study. PLOS ONE. 2017 Jun 13;12(6):e0179396.
- 242. Wang C, Hou J, Li A, Kong W. Trajectory of Perinatal Depressive Symptoms from the Second Trimester to Three Months Postpartum and Its Association with Sleep Quality. Int J Womens Health. 2023;15:711–23.
- 243. Steinweg K, Nippita T, Cistulli PA, Bin YS. Maternal and neonatal outcomes associated with restless legs syndrome in pregnancy: A systematic review. Sleep Med Rev. 2020 Dec;54:101359.
- Bin YS, Cistulli PA, Ford JB. Population-Based Study of Sleep Apnea in Pregnancy and Maternal and Infant Outcomes. J Clin Sleep Med JCSM Off Publ Am Acad Sleep Med. 2016 Jun 15;12(6):871–7.
- 245. Creti L, Libman E, Rizzo D, Fichten CS, Bailes S, Tran DL, et al. Sleep in the Postpartum: Characteristics of

First-Time, Healthy Mothers. Sleep Disord. 2017;2017:8520358.

- 246. Dørheim SK, Bondevik GT, Eberhard-Gran M, Bjorvatn B. Sleep and Depression in Postpartum Women: A Population-Based Study. Sleep. 2009 Jul 1;32(7):847–55.
- 247. Shaver JL, Woods NF. Sleep and menopause: a narrative review. Menopause. 2015 Aug;22(8):899.
- 248. Ameratunga D, Goldin J, Hickey M. Sleep disturbance in menopause. Intern Med J. 2012;42(7):742–7.
- Xu Q, Lang CP. Examining the relationship between subjective sleep disturbance and menopause: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Menopause. 2014 Dec;21(12):1301–18.
- Caretto M, Giannini A, Simoncini T. An integrated approach to diagnosing and managing sleep disorders in menopausal women. Maturitas. 2019 Oct 1;128:1–3.
- 251. Perger E, Mattaliano P, Lombardi C. Menopause and Sleep Apnea. Maturitas. 2019 Jun 1;124:35–8.
- 252. Baker FC, de Zambotti M, Colrain IM, Bei B. Sleep problems during the menopausal transition: prevalence, impact, and management challenges. Nat Sci Sleep. 2018 Feb;Volume 10:73–95.
- 253. McCarthy CE. Sleep Disturbance, Sleep Disorders and Co-Morbidities in the Care of the Older Person. Med Sci. 2021 Jun;9(2):31.
- 254. Healthdirect Australia. Sleep [Internet]. Healthdirect Australia; 2023 [cited 2023 Feb 9]. Available from: https://www.healthdirect.gov.au/sleep
- Better Health Channel. Better Health Channel. Department of Health & Human Services; 2019 [cited 2023 Feb 9]. Sleep. Available from: http://www.betterhealth.vic.gov.au/health/conditio nsandtreatments/sleep
- 256. Okely AD, Ghersi D, Loughran SP, Cliff DP, Shilton T, Jones RA, et al. A collaborative approach to adopting/adapting guidelines. The Australian 24hour movement guidelines for children (5-12 years) and young people (13-17 years): An integration of physical activity, sedentary behaviour, and sleep. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act. 2022 Jan 6;19(1):2.
- 257. Tapia-Serrano MA, Sevil-Serrano J, Sánchez-Miguel PA, López-Gil JF, Tremblay MS, García-Hermoso A. Prevalence of meeting 24-Hour Movement Guidelines from pre-school to adolescence: A systematic review and meta-analysis including 387,437 participants and 23 countries. J Sport Health Sci. 2022 Jul;11(4):427–37.
- 258. Australian Government Department of Health. Budget 2022-23 Preventive Health - National Preventive Health Strategy [Internet]. Australian Government Department of Health; 2022. Available from:

https://www.health.gov.au/sites/default/files/docu ments/2022/03/budget-2022-23-nationalpreventive-health-strategy.pdf

259. Australian Government. Government Response -Bedtime Reading Inquiry into Sleep Health Awareness in Australia [Internet]. Australian Government; 2023 [cited 2023 Aug 30]. Available from:

https://www.aph.gov.au/sitecore/content/Home/Parliamentary_Business/Committees/House/Health_A

ged_Care_and_Sport/SleepHealthAwareness/Additi onal_Documents

- 260. Royal Australian College of General Practitioners. Guidelines for preventive activities in general practice [Internet]. East Melbourne, VIC: RACGP; 2016 [cited 2023 Feb 10]. Report No.: 9th edn. Available from: https://www.racgp.org.au/getattachment/1ad1a26f -9c8b-4e3c-b45b-3237272b3a04/Guidelines-forpreventive-activities-in-general-practice.aspx
- 261. Fair Work Ombudsman. Fairwork. 2023 [cited 2023 Mar 24]. National Employment Standards - Fair Work Ombudsman. Available from: https://www.fairwork.gov.au/employmentconditions/national-employment-standards
- 262. Australian Government Fair Work Ombudsman. Maximum weekly hours and the National Employment Standards [Internet]. Australian Government Fair Work Ombudsman; 2017 [cited 2023 Jan 12]. Available from: https://www.fairwork.gov.au/sites/default/files/mig ration/723/Maximum-weekly-hours.pdf
- Long H, Scott H, Lack L. Sleepy, tired, drowsy, and fatigue have different meanings for a university student sample. J Clin Sleep Med. 2022 May;18(5):1235–41.
- Seedhouse E, Brickhouse A, Szathmary K, Williams ED. Fatigue. In: Human Factors in Air Transport [Internet]. Springer, Cham; 2020. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-13848-6 2
- 265. Fourie C, Holmes A, Hilditch C, Bourgeois-Bougrine S, Jackson P. What Can We Learn From Small Operators That Have Implemented Fatigue Risk Management Systems (FRMS)? 2010;
- 266. International Civil Aviation Organization. International Civil Aviation Organization. [cited 2023 Jul 26]. Fatigue Management Approaches. Available from:

https://www.icao.int/safety/fatiguemanagement/Pages/FM-Approaches.aspx

- Civil Aviation Safety Authority. Civil Aviation Order
 48.1 Fatigue Management plain english guide December 2021. Canberra: Australian Government; 2021.
- 268. Civil Aviation Safety Authority. Transparency Portal. Transparency Portal; 2020 [cited 2023 Jul 26]. First full approval of a fatigue risk management system. Available from: https://www.transparency.gov.au/annualreports/civil-aviation-safety-authority/reportingyear/2019-20-60
- 269. Sprajcer M, Thomas MJW, Sargent C, Crowther ME, Boivin DB, Wong IS, et al. How effective are Fatigue Risk Management Systems (FRMS)? A review. Accid Anal Prev. 2022 Feb;165:106398.
- Hursh SR, Drummond SP. Eliminating the Controlled Napping Policy at CSX Is a Blow to Public Safety. Sleep. 2017 Oct 1;40(10):zsx150.
- 271. Sadeghniiat-Haghighi K, Yazdi Z. Fatigue management in the workplace. Ind Psychiatry J. 2015;24(1):12–7.
- 272. Commonwealth of Australia. National Road Safety Strategy 2021-30 [Internet]. Canberra: Commonwealth of Australia; 2021 [cited 2023 Mar 23] p. 36. Available from:

https://www.roadsafety.gov.au/sites/default/files/d ocuments/National-Road-Safety-Strategy-2021-30.pdf

- 273. Sleep Research Society. SRS position statement supports permanent standard time [Internet]. Sleep Research Society. 2022 [cited 2023 Apr 13]. Available from: https://sleepresearchsociety.org/sleepresearch-society-position-statement-supportsadoption-permanent-standard-time/
- Rishi MA, Ahmed O, Barrantes PJH, Berneking M, Dombrowsky J, Flynn -Evans Erin E., et al. Daylight saving time: an American Academy of Sleep Medicine position statement. J Clin Sleep Med. 2020 Oct 15;16(10):1781–4.
- Malow BA. It is time to abolish the clock change and adopt permanent standard time in the United States: a Sleep Research Society position statement. Sleep. 2022 Dec 1;45(12):zsac236.
- Herber SP, Quis JS, Heineck G. Does the transition into daylight saving time affect students' performance? Econ Educ Rev. 2017 Dec 1;61:130–9.
- Carey RN, Sarma KM. Impact of daylight saving time on road traffic collision risk: a systematic review. BMJ Open. 2017 Jun;7(6):e014319.
- Zhang H, Dahlén T, Khan A, Edgren G, Rzhetsky A. Measurable health effects associated with the daylight saving time shift. PLOS Comput Biol. 2020 Jun 8;16(6):e1007927.
- Manfredini R, Fabbian F, Cappadona R, De Giorgi A, Bravi F, Carradori T, et al. Daylight Saving Time and Acute Myocardial Infarction: A Meta-Analysis. J Clin Med. 2019 Mar 23;8(3):404.
- Harrison Y. The impact of daylight saving time on sleep and related behaviours. Sleep Med Rev. 2013 Aug 1;17(4):285–92.
- Roenneberg T, Wirz-Justice A, Skene DJ, Ancoli-Israel S, Wright KP, Dijk DJ, et al. Why Should We Abolish Daylight Saving Time? J Biol Rhythms. 2019 Jun 1;34(3):227–30.
- 282. Semsarian CR, Woodforde A, Cheung JMY, Rigney G, Blunden S, Cistulli P, et al. The need for sleep and circadian education in Australian high schools: incidental results from a survey of university students. Health Promot J Austr [Internet]. 2022 Jan [cited 2023 Jul 14];33(1). Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/epdf/10.1002/h pja.462
- Wolfson AR, Harkins E, Johnson M, Marco C. Effects of the Young Adolescent Sleep Smart Program on sleep hygiene practices, sleep health efficacy, and behavioral well-being,. Sleep Health. 2015 Sep;1(3):197–204.
- Rigney G, Blunden S, Maher C, Dollman J, Parvazian S, Matricciani L, et al. Can a school-based sleep education programme improve sleep knowledge, hygiene and behaviours using a randomised controlled trial. Sleep Med. 2015 Jun 1;16(6):736–45.
- Blunden S, Rigney G. Lessons Learned from Sleep Education in Schools: A Review of Dos and Don'ts. J Clin Sleep Med. 2015 Jun 15;11(06):671–80.
- AU & NZ Standards SLSC [Internet]. [cited 2023 May 16]. Available from: https://www.slsc.org.au/resources/au-and-nzstandards

- 287. Access Canberra. Light pollution [Internet]. ACT Government; [cited 2023 May 16]. Available from: https://www.accesscanberra.act.gov.au/s/article/lig ht-pollution-tab-overview
- 288. City of Melbourne. City of Melbourne Lighting Guidelines [Internet]. City of Melbourne; Available from:

https://www.melbourne.vic.gov.au/SiteCollectionDo cuments/lighting-guidelines.pdf

- 289. TCG 006: Guidelines to Street Lighting Design Revision B. VicRoads; 2016 Jan.
- 290. National Capital Authority. Outdoor Lighting Policy | National Capital Authority [Internet]. [cited 2023 May 16]. Available from: https://www.nca.gov.au/planning/plans-policiesand-guidelines/outdoor-lighting-policy
- 291. Inquiry into Sleep Health Awareness in Australia: The Impact of Artificial Light at Night on Sleep Health [Internet]. 2018. Available from: https://www.aph.gov.au/DocumentStore.ashx?id=9 7563040-4459-4328-b672-4a1183df46f9&subId=661033
- Inquiry into the effects of light and noise pollution on human health, Lords Committee launched [Internet].
 2023 [cited 2023 Aug 3]. Available from: https://www.parliament.uk/business/lords/mediacentre/house-of-lords-media-notices/2023/january-2023/inquiry-into-the-effects-of-light-and-noisepollution-on-human-health-lords-committeelaunched/
- 293. UK House of Lords Scientific and Technology Committee. The neglected pollutants: the effects of artificial light and noise on human health [Internet]. United Kingdom: UK House of Lords; 2022 Jul. Available from: https://committees.parliament.uk/work/7256/theeffects-of-artificial-light-and-noise-on-humanhealth/
- 294. UK Parliament. UK Parliament. 2023 [cited 2023 Sep 13]. Light and noise pollution remain neglected pollutants despite significant health impacts Lords report warns. Available from: https://www.parliament.uk/business/lords/mediacentre/house-of-lords-media-notices/2023/july-2023/light-and-noise-pollution-remain-neglectedpollutants-despite-significant-health-impacts-lordsreport-warns/
- 295. Charles Perkins Centre. Submission 46 Inquiry into Sleep Health Awareness in Australia [Internet]. Charles Perkins Centre; 2018 [cited 2023 Feb 22]. Available from: https://www.aph.gov.au/Parliamentary_Business/C ommittees/House/Health_Aged_Care_and_Sport/Sl eepHealthAwareness/Submissions
- 296. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Sleep problems as a risk factor for chronic conditions [Internet]. Canberra: Australian Government; 2021 Nov [cited 2023 Mar 29]. Available from: https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/riskfactors/sleep-problems-as-a-risk-factor/summary
- 297. Jackson CL, Ward JB, Johnson DA, Sims M, Wilson J, Redline S. Concordance between self-reported and actigraphy-assessed sleep duration among African-American adults: findings from the Jackson Heart Sleep Study. Sleep. 2020 Mar 12;43(3):zsz246.

- 298. Lauderdale DS, Knutson KL, Yan LL, Liu K, Rathouz PJ. Sleep duration: how well do self-reports reflect objective measures? The CARDIA Sleep Study. Epidemiol Camb Mass. 2008 Nov;19(6):838–45.
- Lauderdale DS, Knutson KL, Yan LL, Liu K, Rathouz PJ. Self-reported and measured sleep duration: how similar are they? Epidemiol Camb Mass. 2008 Nov;19(6):838–45.
- Bartlett DJ, Marshall NS, Williams A, Grunstein RR. Predictors of primary medical care consultation for sleep disorders. Sleep Med. 2008 Dec;9(8):857–64.
- Shepard JW, Buysse DJ, Chesson AL, Dement WC, Goldberg R, Guilleminault C, et al. History of the development of sleep medicine in the United States. J Clin Sleep Med JCSM Off Publ Am Acad Sleep Med. 2005 Jan 15;1(1):61–82.
- Ravyts SG, Dzierzewski JM, Perez E, Donovan EK, Dautovich ND. Sleep Health as Measured by RU SATED: A Psychometric Evaluation. Behav Sleep Med. 2021;19(1):48–56.
- Ibáñez V, Silva J, Cauli O. A survey on sleep assessment methods. PeerJ. 2018;6:e4849.
- Acker JG, Becker-Carus C, Büttner-Teleaga A, Cassel W, Danker-Hopfe H, Dück A, et al. The role of actigraphy in sleep medicine. Somnologie. 2021 Jun 1;25(2):89–98.
- Buysse DJ, Reynolds CF, Monk TH, Berman SR, Kupfer DJ. The Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index: a new instrument for psychiatric practice and research. Psychiatry Res. 1989 May;28(2):193–213.
- Mastin DF, Bryson J, Corwyn R. Assessment of sleep hygiene using the Sleep Hygiene Index. J Behav Med. 2006 Jun;29(3):223–7.
- 307. Harbard E, Allen NB, Trinder J, Bei B. What's Keeping Teenagers Up? Prebedtime Behaviors and Actigraphy-Assessed Sleep Over School and Vacation. J Adolesc Health Off Publ Soc Adolesc Med. 2016 Apr;58(4):426–32.
- Storfer-Isser A, Lebourgeois MK, Harsh J, Tompsett CJ, Redline S. Psychometric properties of the Adolescent Sleep Hygiene Scale. J Sleep Res. 2013 Dec;22(6):707–16.
- Goodlin-Jones BL, Sitnick SL, Tang K, Liu J, Anders TF. The Children's Sleep Habits Questionnaire in toddlers and preschool children. J Dev Behav Pediatr JDBP. 2008 Apr;29(2):82–8.
- 310. ABS Australian Health Survey (AHS), 2011-13 [Internet]. [cited 2023 Sep 14]. Available from: https://meteor.aihw.gov.au/content/481875
- Pirkis J, Macdonald J, English DR. Introducing Ten to Men, the Australian longitudinal study on male health. BMC Public Health. 2016 Oct 31;16(3):1044.
- 45 and Up Study Collaborators. Cohort Profile: The 45 and Up Study. Int J Epidemiol. 2008 Oct 1;37(5):941–7.
- Grant JF, Martin SA, Taylor AW, Wilson DH, Araujo A, Adams RJ, et al. Cohort Profile: The Men Androgen Inflammation Lifestyle Environment and Stress (MAILES) Study. Int J Epidemiol. 2014 Aug 1;43(4):1040–53.
- Matheson MC, Abramson MJ, Allen K, Benke G, Burgess JA, Dowty JG, et al. Cohort Profile: The Tasmanian Longitudinal Health STUDY (TAHS). Int J Epidemiol. 2017 Apr 1;46(2):407–408i.

- 315. The Burden of Obstructive Lung Disease (BOLD) study in Australia | The Medical Journal of Australia [Internet]. [cited 2023 Sep 14]. Available from: https://www.mja.com.au/journal/2013/198/3/burd en-obstructive-lung-disease-bold-study-australia
- 316. Straker LM, Hall GL, Mountain J, Howie EK, White E, McArdle N, et al. Rationale, design and methods for the 22 year follow-up of the Western Australian Pregnancy Cohort (Raine) Study. BMC Public Health. 2015 Jul 14;15:663.
- 317. Marshall NS, Wong KKH, Cullen SRJ, Knuiman MW, Grunstein RR. Sleep apnea and 20-year follow-up for all-cause mortality, stroke, and cancer incidence and mortality in the Busselton Health Study cohort. J Clin Sleep Med JCSM Off Publ Am Acad Sleep Med. 2014 Apr 15;10(4):355–62.
- Australian Institute of Health and Welfare [Internet].
 2023 [cited 2023 Mar 30]. Australian Centre for Monitoring Population Health. Available from: https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports-data/populationhealth-monitoring
- 319. Australian Bureau of Statistics. Intergenerational Health and Mental Health Study (IHMHS) | Australian Bureau of Statistics [Internet]. 2023 [cited 2023 Mar 29]. Available from: https://www.abs.gov.au/about/key-priorities/ihmhs
- 320. Pettit J. Intergenerational Health and Mental Health Study [Internet]. 2021 Feb 17 [cited 2023 Mar 29]; PHAA. Available from: https://www.phaa.net.au/documents/item/5046
- 321. Australian Bureau of Statistics. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. 2023 [cited 2023 Mar 29]. Australian Bureau of Statistics – National Health Survey (NHS). Available from: https://www.aihw.gov.au/australias-disabilitystrategy/technical-resources/datasources/australian-bureau-of-statistics-nationalhealth-su
- 322. Corbett P. Digital Consumer Trends Touch-less, healthier, wiser [Internet]. Technology, Media & Telecommunications | Deloitte Australia. 2021 [cited 2023 Apr 4]. Available from: https://www2.deloitte.com/au/en/blog/technologymedia-telecommunications-blog/2021/digitalconsumer-trends-touch-less-healthier-wiser.html
- 323. Chinoy ED, Cuellar JA, Huwa KE, Jameson JT, Watson CH, Bessman SC, et al. Performance of seven consumer sleep-tracking devices compared with polysomnography. Sleep. 2020 Dec 30;44(5):zsaa291.
- 324. Baron KG, Abbott S, Jao N, Manalo N, Mullen R. Orthosomnia: Are Some Patients Taking the Quantified Self Too Far? J Clin Sleep Med. 2017 Feb 15;13(02):351–4.
- 325. Gavriloff D, Sheaves B, Juss A, Espie CA, Miller CB, Kyle SD. Sham sleep feedback delivered via actigraphy biases daytime symptom reports in people with insomnia: Implications for insomnia disorder and wearable devices. J Sleep Res. 2018 Dec;27(6):e12726.
- 326. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare [Internet]. 2022 [cited 2023 Mar 28]. Primary health care Data development. Available from: https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports-data/healthwelfare-services/primary-health-care/primaryhealth-care-data-development

- 327. Klingman KJ, Jungquist CR, Perlis ML. Introducing the Sleep Disorders Symptom Checklist-25: A Primary Care Friendly and Comprehensive Screener for Sleep Disorders. Sleep Med Res. 2017 Jun 30;8(1):17–25.
- 328. Australian Centre for Asthma Monitoring. About ACAM [Internet]. 2002 [cited 2023 Jun 5]. Available from: https://asthmamonitoring.org/about.htm
- 329. Bin YS, Adams R, Rajaratnam S, Blunden S, Cain S, Young A. Measurement of sleep for Australian Bureau of Statistics consultation on the National Nutrition and Physical Activity Survey (NNPAS). 2021;
- Grandner MA, Jackson NJ, Izci-Balserak B, Gallagher RA, Murray-Bachmann R, Williams NJ, et al. Social and Behavioral Determinants of Perceived Insufficient Sleep. Front Neurol. 2015 Jun 5;6:112.
- 331. National Health and Medical Research Council. Eat for Health. 2021 [cited 2023 Mar 30]. The Australian dietary guidelines. Available from: https://www.eatforhealth.gov.au/guidelines
- 332. Jackson CL, Redline S, Emmons KM. Sleep as a potential fundamental contributor to disparities in cardiovascular health. Annu Rev Public Health. 2015 Mar 18;36:417–40.
- Hale L, Troxel W, Buysse DJ. Sleep Health: An Opportunity for Public Health to Address Health Equity. Annu Rev Public Health. 2020 Apr 2;41(1):81– 99.
- 334. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare [Internet]. 2022 [cited 2023 Sep 28]. Health promotion and health protection. Available from: https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/australiashealth/health-promotion
- 335. Sleep Health Foundation, Australasian Sleep Association. Transforming the Sleep Health of Australians: Pre Budget Submission 2020-21 [Internet]. Sleep Health Foundation and Australasian Sleep Association; 2020. Available from: https://www.sleep.org.au/common/Uploaded%20fil es/Public%20Files/About/Prebudget_Submission-2019-2020_WEB.pdf
- Troy D. Sleep Education. 2020 [cited 2023 Sep 5]. Healthy Sleep Habits. Available from: https://sleepeducation.org/healthy-sleep/healthysleep-habits/
- 337. CDC. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 2022 [cited 2023 Sep 5]. Good Sleep Habits. Available from: https://www.cdc.gov/sleep/about_sleep/sleep_hygi ene.html
- 338. Mayo Clinic. Mayo Clinic. 2022 [cited 2023 Sep 5]. 6 steps to better sleep. Available from: https://www.mayoclinic.org/healthy-lifestyle/adulthealth/in-depth/sleep/art-20048379
- 339. Mawer R. Healthline. 2020 [cited 2023 Sep 5]. 17 Proven Tips to Sleep Better at Night. Available from: https://www.healthline.com/nutrition/17-tips-tosleep-better
- 340. Suni E. Sleep Foundation. 2023 [cited 2023 Sep 5]. The 20 Ultimate Tips for How to Sleep Better. Available from: https://www.sleepfoundation.org/sleephygiene/healthy-sleep-tips
- Smith M, Robinson L. https://www.helpguide.org.
 2023 [cited 2023 Sep 5]. How to Fall Asleep Fast and Sleep Better - HelpGuide.org. Available from:

https://www.helpguide.org/articles/sleep/gettingbetter-sleep.htm

- 342. National Health and Medical Research Council. Australian Government. [cited 2023 Mar 29]. Guidelines | NHMRC. Available from: https://www.nhmrc.gov.au/guidelines
- 343. Australian Government Department of Health and Aged Care. Budget 2022-23: National Preventive Health Strategy. A Budget 2022-23 fact sheet. [Internet]. Canberra, Australia: Australian Government Department of Health and Aged Care; 2022 Mar [cited 2022 Dec 1] p. 4. Available from: https://www.health.gov.au/resources/publications/ budget-2022-23-national-preventive-healthstrategy?language=en
- 344. Matricciani L, Olds T, Williams M. A Review of Evidence for the Claim that Children are Sleeping Less than in the Past. Sleep. 2011 May 1;34(5):651–9.
- Matricciani LA, Olds TS, Blunden S, Rigney G, Williams MT. Never Enough Sleep: A Brief History of Sleep Recommendations for Children. Pediatrics. 2012 Mar 1;129(3):548–56.
- Wells ME, Vaughn BV. Poor Sleep Challenging the Health of a Nation. Neurodiagnostic J. 2012 Sep 1;52(3):233–49.
- 347. Australian Government Department of Health and Aged Care [Internet]. Australian Government Department of Health and Aged Care; 2021 [cited 2023 Mar 28]. Population health data. Available from: https://www.health.gov.au/topics/preventivehealth/population-health-data
- 348. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare [Internet]. 2016 [cited 2023 Jun 5]. Primary health care in Australia. Available from: https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/primary-healthcare/primary-health-care-inaustralia/contents/about-primary-health-care
- 349. Australian Government Department of Health and Aged Care [Internet]. Australian Government Department of Health and Aged Care; 2023 [cited 2023 Jul 26]. About primary care. Available from: https://www.health.gov.au/topics/primarycare/about
- 350. Kidd M. Australia's primary care COVID-19 response. Aust J Gen Pract [Internet]. 2020 Apr 2 [cited 2023 Feb 22];49. Available from: https://www1.racgp.org.au/ajgp/coronavirus/austra lias-primary-care-covid19-response
- 351. Basheti MM, Gordon C, Bawa Z, Grunstein R, Saini B. Sleep health management in community pharmacy: Where are we and where should we be heading? Res Soc Adm Pharm. 2021 Nov 1;17(11):1945–56.
- 352. Basheti MM, Bawa Z, Grunstein R, Grivell N, Saini B, Gordon CJ. Improving sleep health management in primary care: A potential role for community nurses? J Adv Nurs. 2023 Jun;79(6):2236–49.
- 353. Anothaisintawee T, Reutrakul S, Van Cauter E, Thakkinstian A. Sleep disturbances compared to traditional risk factors for diabetes development: Systematic review and meta-analysis. Sleep Med Rev. 2016 Dec;30:11–24.
- 354. Ng R, Sutradhar R, Yao Z, Wodchis WP, Rosella LC. Smoking, drinking, diet and physical activity modifiable lifestyle risk factors and their associations

with age to first chronic disease. Int J Epidemiol. 2020 Feb 1;49(1):113–30.

- 355. Better Health Channel. Regular health checks [Internet]. Department of Health & Human Services; 2023 [cited 2023 Feb 22]. Available from: http://www.betterhealth.vic.gov.au/health/services andsupport/regular-health-checks
- 356. Health assessment for people aged 45 to 49 years who are at risk of developing chronic disease [Internet]. Australian Government Department of Health and Ageing; 2023 [cited 2023 Oct 9]. Available from:

https://www1.health.gov.au/internet/main/publishi ng.nsf/Content/mbsprimarycare_mbsitem701_703_ 705_707

- 357. World Health Organization. Our work: life course [Internet]. [cited 2023 Jul 26]. Available from: https://www.who.int/our-work/life-course
- 358. Australian Government Department of Health and Aged Care [Internet]. Australian Government Department of Health and Aged Care; 2019 [cited 2023 Feb 22]. National Strategic Framework for Chronic Conditions. Available from: https://www.health.gov.au/resources/publications/ national-strategic-framework-for-chronicconditions?language=en
- 359. Jacob CM, Baird J, Barker M, Cooper C, Hanson M. The Importance of a Life Course Approach to Health: Chronic Disease Risk from Preconception through Adolescence and Adulthood. Southampton: University of Southampton; 2017.
- 360. Royal Australian College of General Practitioners. SNAP, smoking, nutrition, alcohol, physical activity (SNAP): a population health guide to behavioural risk factors in general practice. [Internet]. East Melbourne, Vic: RACGP; 2019 Sep [cited 2021 Sep 22]. Available from: https://www.racgp.org.au/download/Documents/G uidelines/snap.pdf
- Royal Australian College of General Practitioners. Healthy Habits [Internet]. 2023 [cited 2023 Mar 26]. Available from: https://healthyhabits.racgp.org.au/
- 362. Royal Australian College of General Practitioners. Putting prevention into practice: Guidelines for the implementation of prevention in the general practice setting. Third edition [Internet]. Royal Australian College of General Practitioners; 2018 [cited 2023 Jul 28]. Available from: https://www.racgp.org.au/clinicalresources/clinical-guidelines/key-racgpguidelines/view-all-racgp-guidelines/greenbook/understanding-the-basics/about-prevention
- National Centre for Sleep Health Services Research. NCSHSR. [cited 2023 Oct 3]. National Centre for Sleep Health Services Research | Adelaide. Available from: https://www.ncshsr.com
- Fuller JM, Wong KK, Krass I, Grunstein R, Saini B. Sleep disorders screening, sleep health awareness, and patient follow-up by community pharmacists in Australia. Patient Educ Couns. 2011 Jun 1;83(3):325– 35.
- Chai-Coetzer CL, Antic NA, McEvoy RD. Identifying and managing sleep disorders in primary care. Lancet Respir Med. 2015 May 1;3(5):337–9.

- K. Pavlova M, Latreille V. Sleep Disorders. Am J Med. 2019 Mar;132(3):292–9.
- 367. Thorpy MJ. Classification of Sleep Disorders. Neurotherapeutics. 2012 Oct 1;9(4):687–701.
- Leung W, Singh I, McWilliams S, Stockler S, Ipsiroglu OS. Iron deficiency and sleep – A scoping review. Sleep Med Rev. 2020 Jun 1;51:101274.
- Zhang M, Zhang W, Tan J, Zhao M, Zhang Q, Lei P. Role of hypothyroidism in obstructive sleep apnea: a meta-analysis. Curr Med Res Opin. 2016 Jun 2;32(6):1059–64.
- Roth P. Comorbid Insomnia: Current Directions and Future Challenges. 2009 Mar 18 [cited 2023 Mar 28];15. Available from: https://www.ajmc.com/view/a228_09feb_roth_s6t os13
- Chaput JP, Shiau J. Routinely assessing patients' sleep health is time well spent. Prev Med Rep. 2019 Jun 1;14:100851.
- 372. Buran MN, Samet JM. Chapter 13 The healthcare environment: a medical and a public health challenge. In: Nieto FJ, Petersen DJ, editors. Foundations of Sleep Health [Internet]. Academic Press; 2022 [cited 2023 Feb 22]. p. 279–97. Available from:

https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ B9780128155011000119

- Chow CM. Sleep Hygiene Practices: Where to Now? Hygiene. 2022 Sep;2(3):146–51.
- The Sleep Health Foundation [Internet]. 2021 [cited 2023 Sep 5]. Melatonin. Available from: https://www.sleephealthfoundation.org.au/melaton in.html
- 375. Schroder CM, Banaschewski T, Fuentes J, Hill CM, Hvolby A, Posserud MB, et al. Pediatric prolongedrelease melatonin for insomnia in children and adolescents with autism spectrum disorders. Expert Opin Pharmacother. 2021 Dec 12;22(18):2445–54.
- Miller CB, Valenti L, Harrison CM, Bartlett DJ, Glozier N, Cross NE, et al. Time Trends in the Family Physician Management of Insomnia: The Australian Experience (2000–2015). J Clin Sleep Med JCSM Off Publ Am Acad Sleep Med. 2017 Jun 15;13(6):785–90.
- 377. Ashkanani FZ, Lindsey L, Rathbone AP. A systematic review and thematic synthesis exploring the role of pharmacists in supporting better sleep health and managing sleep disorders. Int J Pharm Pract. 2023 Apr 1;31(2):153–64.
- Sake FTN, Wong K, Bartlett DJ, Saini B. Integrated primary care insomnia management in Australia. Res Soc Adm Pharm. 2018 Feb 1;14(2):170–9.
- 379. World Health Organization. A toolkit on how to implement social prescribing [Internet]. 2022 [cited 2023 Feb 20]. Available from: https://www.who.int/publications-detailredirect/9789290619765
- 380. HSE. HSE Social Prescribing Framework [Internet]. Health Service Executive; 2021 [cited 2023 Jan 12]. Available from: https://www.hse.ie/eng/about/who/healthwellbein g/our-priority-programmes/mental-health-andwellbeing/social-prescribing/hse-social-prescribingframework.pdf
- The King's Fund. The King's Fund. 2020 [cited 2021 Sep 20]. What is social prescribing? Available from:

https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/socialprescribing

- 382. Conn S, Curtin S. Health coaching as a lifestyle medicine. Aust Joural Gen Pract [Internet]. 2019 Oct 20 [cited 2023 Feb 22];48(10). Available from: https://www1.racgp.org.au/ajgp/2019/october/heal th-coaching-as-a-lifestyle-medicine
- 383. Funnell-Milner L. Health Coaching- What do GPs need to know about hiring a Health and Wellness Coach? [Internet]. Australasian Integrative Medicine Association; 2020 [cited 2023 Mar 28]. Available from: https://www.aima.net.au/wpcontent/uploads/2020/04/Choosing-a-Health-Coach-Linda-Funnell-Milner.pdf
- 384. Australasian Sleep Association. Sleep Health Primary Care Resources. 2023 [cited 2023 Feb 20]. Sleep Health Primary Care Resources: About the authors. Available from: https://www.sleepprimarycareresources.org.au/abo ut
- 385. Australian Government Department of Health and Aged Care [Internet]. Australian Government Department of Health and Aged Care; 2023 [cited 2023 Feb 20]. Better Access initiative. Available from: https://www.health.gov.au/our-work/better-accessinitiative
- 386. Liotta M. NewsGP. 2021 [cited 2023 Feb 22]. newsGP - Does insomnia fall under mental health treatment plans? Available from: https://www1.racgp.org.au/newsgp/clinical/doesinsomnia-fall-under-mental-health-treatment-p
- Spielman AJ, Caruso LS, Glovinsky PB. A Behavioral Perspective on Insomnia Treatment. Psychiatr Clin North Am. 1987 Dec 1;10(4):541–53.
- 388. Khullar A. The Science of Sleep: A paradigm shift in the management of insomnia. 2020 [cited 2023 Jun 2]. How to Properly Diagnose Chronic Insomnia with a View for Successful Treatment. Available from: https://dxlink.ca/CJDX/2020/September/Successful-Treatment.html
- Sweetman A, Lovato N, Haycock J, Lack L. Insomnia treatment. Improved access to effective nondrug options | Medicine Today. Med Today. 2020 Nov;20(11):14–20.
- Australasian Sleep Association. Insomnia Cognitive Behavioural Therapy for Insomnia (CBTi) [Internet].
 2023 [cited 2023 Jul 28]. Available from: https://www.sleepprimarycareresources.org.au/ins omnia/cbti
- 391. Qaseem A, Kansagara D, Forciea MA, Cooke M, Denberg TD. Management of Chronic Insomnia Disorder in Adults: A Clinical Practice Guideline From the American College of Physicians. Ann Intern Med. 2016 Jul 19;165(2):125–33.
- 392. Ree M, Junge M, Cunnington D. Australasian Sleep Association position statement regarding the use of psychological/behavioral treatments in the management of insomnia in adults. Sleep Med. 2017 Aug 1;36:S43–7.
- Riemann D, Baglioni C, Bassetti C, Bjorvatn B, Dolenc Groselj L, Ellis JG, et al. European guideline for the diagnosis and treatment of insomnia. J Sleep Res. 2017;26(6):675–700.
- Australasian Sleep Association. Insomnia Brief Behavioural Therapy for Insomnia (BBTi) [Internet].

2023 [cited 2023 Feb 22]. Available from: https://www.sleepprimarycareresources.org.au/ins omnia/bbti

- 395. Haycock J, Grivell N, Redman A, Saini B, Vakulin A, Lack L, et al. Primary care management of chronic insomnia: a qualitative analysis of the attitudes and experiences of Australian general practitioners. BMC Fam Pract. 2021 Jul 22;22(1):158.
- 396. Services Australia. Services Australia. 2023 [cited 2023 Jul 28]. Better Access initiative - supporting mental health care. Available from: https://www.servicesaustralia.gov.au/better-accessinitiative-supporting-mental-health-care?context=20
- 397. Services Australia. Chronic disease GP Management Plans and Team Care Arrangements - Health professionals - Services Australia [Internet]. 2022 [cited 2023 Feb 22]. Available from: https://www.servicesaustralia.gov.au/chronicdisease-gp-management-plans-and-team-carearrangements?context=20
- 398. Australasian Sleep Association (ASA) Behavioural Management of Sleep Disorders education subcommittee. Australian Psychological Society. 2022 [cited 2023 Jun 5]. Sleep problems in psychological practice. Available from: https://psychology.org.au/formembers/publications/inpsych/2022/vol-44-spring-2022/sleep-problems-in-psychological-practice
- 399. Sweetman A. The year is off to a flying start for the Commonwealth grant program [Internet]. Australasian Sleep Association News. 2023 [cited 2023 Mar 26]. Available from: https://sleep.org.au/Public/Public/News/Articles/M arch/Commonwealth-Grant-program-update.aspx
- 400. Gottlieb DJ, Punjabi NM. Diagnosis and Management of Obstructive Sleep Apnea: A Review. JAMA. 2020 Apr 14;323(14):1389–400.
- 401. Australasian Sleep Association. Sleep Health Primary Care Resources. 2023 [cited 2023 Feb 20]. OSA -Screening. Available from: https://www.sleepprimarycareresources.org.au/osa /screening
- 402. Grivell N, Haycock J, Redman A, Vakulin A, Zwar N, Stocks N, et al. Assessment, referral and management of obstructive sleep apnea by Australian general practitioners: a qualitative analysis. BMC Health Serv Res. 2021 Nov 18;21(1):1248.
- 403. Australasian Sleep Association. OSA Assessment -Questionnaires [Internet]. 2023 [cited 2023 Feb 22]. Available from: https://www.sleepprimarycareresources.org.au/osa /assessment-questionnaires
- Begum M, Gonzalez-Chica D, Bernardo C, Woods A, Stocks N. Trends in the prescription of drugs used for insomnia: an open-cohort study in Australian general practice, 2011–2018. Br J Gen Pract. 2021 Aug 10;71(712):e877–86.
- Meaklim H, Jackson ML, Bartlett D, Saini B, Falloon K, Junge M, et al. Sleep education for healthcare providers: Addressing deficient sleep in Australia and New Zealand. Sleep Health. 2020 Oct 1;6(5):636–50.
- 406. Australian Government The Treasury. Measuring what matters [Internet]. 2023 [cited 2023 Aug 31].

Available from: https://treasury.gov.au/policy-topics/measuring-what-matters

- McNamara S, Nichols T, Dash S, de Courten M, Calder R. Sleep: A Core Pillar of Health and Wellbeing. Improving Population Sleep Health to Reduce Preventable Illness and Injury – A Policy Evidence Review. Melbourne: Australian Health Policy Collaboration, Victoria University; 2023 Sep.
- 408. Ng L, Cunnington D. Management of insomnia in primary care. Aust Prescr [Internet]. 2021 Aug 2 [cited 2023 Jun 7];44(4). Available from: https://www.nps.org.au/australianprescriber/articles/management-of-insomnia-inprimary-care
- 409. Lahat L, Sened I. The politics and policies of sleep? Empirical findings and the policy context. Policy Stud. 2023 May 4;44(3):408–30.
- Jones CB, Lee CJ, Rajaratam SMW. Sleep, law and policy. In: Sleep, Health and Society: From Aetiology to Public Health [Internet]. Oxford: Oxford Academic; 2010. Available from: https://academic.oup.com/book/40391
- 411. Australian Bureau of Statistics. Alcohol consumption, 2020-21 financial year | Australian Bureau of Statistics [Internet]. 2022 [cited 2022 Dec 15]. Available from: https://www.abs.gov.au/statistics/health/healthconditions-and-risks/alcohol-consumption/latestrelease
- 412. Australian Bureau of Statistics. Smoking, 2020-21 financial year | Australian Bureau of Statistics [Internet]. 2022 [cited 2022 Dec 15]. Available from: https://www.abs.gov.au/statistics/health/healthconditions-and-risks/smoking/latest-release
- 413. Australian Bureau of Statistics. Physical activity, 2020-21 financial year | Australian Bureau of Statistics [Internet]. 2022 [cited 2022 Dec 15]. Available from: https://www.abs.gov.au/statistics/health/healthconditions-and-risks/physical-activity/latest-release
- 414. Australian Bureau of Statistics. Dietary behaviour, 2020-21 financial year | Australian Bureau of Statistics [Internet]. 2022 [cited 2022 Dec 15]. Available from: https://www.abs.gov.au/statistics/health/healthconditions-and-risks/dietary-behaviour/latestrelease
- 415. Australian Bureau of Statistics. Apparent Consumption of Selected Foodstuffs, Australia, 2020-21 financial year | Australian Bureau of Statistics [Internet]. 2022 [cited 2022 Dec 15]. Available from: https://www.abs.gov.au/statistics/health/healthconditions-and-risks/apparent-consumptionselected-foodstuffs-australia/latest-release
- 416. Australian Bureau of Statistics. Overweight and obesity, 2017-18 financial year | Australian Bureau of Statistics [Internet]. 2018 [cited 2022 Dec 15]. Available from: https://www.abs.gov.au/statistics/health/health-conditions-and-risks/overweight-and-obesity/latest-release
- 417. Australian Bureau of Statistics. National Study of Mental Health and Wellbeing, 2020-21 | Australian Bureau of Statistics [Internet]. 2022 [cited 2022 Dec 15]. Available from:

https://www.abs.gov.au/statistics/health/mentalhealth/national-study-mental-health-andwellbeing/latest-release

- 418. Australian Bureau of Statistics. Labour Force, Australia, November 2022 | Australian Bureau of Statistics [Internet]. 2022 [cited 2023 Jan 10]. Available from: https://www.abs.gov.au/statistics/labour/employm ent-and-unemployment/labour-forceaustralia/latest-release
- Liu J, Zhang X, Zhao Y, Wang Y. The association between allergic rhinitis and sleep: A systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. Bhatt GC, editor. PLOS ONE. 2020 Feb 13;15(2):e0228533.
- 420. Kocevska D, Lysen TS, Dotinga A, Koopman-Verhoeff ME, Luijk MPCM, Antypa N, et al. Sleep characteristics across the lifespan in 1.1 million people from the Netherlands, United Kingdom and United States: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Nat Hum Behav. 2021 Jan;5(1):113–22.
- 421. National Transport Commission. Assessing fitness to drive for commercial and private vehicle drivers. 2022.
- 422. Stallman HM. Australian Family Physician. The Royal Australian College of General Practitioners; [cited 2022 Dec 14]. Assessment and treatment of sleepwalking in clinical practice. Available from: https://www.racgp.org.au/afp/2017/august/assess ment-and-treatment-of-sleepwalking-in-clinic
- 423. Mitra AK, Bhuiyan AR, Jones EA. Association and Risk Factors for Obstructive Sleep Apnea and Cardiovascular Diseases: A Systematic Review. Diseases. 2021 Dec;9(4):88.
- 424. Han B, Chen WZ, Li YC, Chen J, Zeng ZQ. Sleep and hypertension. Sleep Breath. 2020 Mar 1;24(1):351–6.
- Lo K, Woo B, Wong M, Tam W. Subjective sleep quality, blood pressure, and hypertension: a metaanalysis. J Clin Hypertens. 2018;20(3):592–605.
- 426. Bonmati-Carrion MA, Hild K, Isherwood C, Sweeney SJ, Revell VL, Skene DJ, et al. Relationship between Human Pupillary Light Reflex and Circadian System Status. PLOS ONE. 2016 Sep 16;11(9):e0162476.
- 427. Koren D, O'Sullivan KL, Mokhlesi B. Metabolic and Glycemic Sequelae of Sleep Disturbances in Children and Adults. Curr Diab Rep. 2015 Jan;15(1):562.
- 428. Patel SR, Hu FB. Short Sleep Duration and Weight Gain: A Systematic Review. Obesity. 2008;16(3):643– 53.
- 429. Zhang D, Zhang Z, Li H, Ding K. Excessive Daytime Sleepiness in Depression and Obstructive Sleep Apnea: More Than Just an Overlapping Symptom. Front Psychiatry [Internet]. 2021 [cited 2022 Dec 14];12. Available from: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpsyt. 2021.710435
- Bubu OM, Brannick M, Mortimer J, Umasabor-Bubu O, Sebastião YV, Wen Y, et al. Sleep, Cognitive impairment, and Alzheimer's disease: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Sleep. 2017 Jan 1;40(1):zsw032.
- 431. Gulur DM, Mevcha AM, Drake MJ. Nocturia as a manifestation of systemic disease. BJU Int. 2011;107(5):702–13.

432. Primack C. Obesity and Sleep. Nurs Clin North Am. 2021 Dec 1;56(4):565–72.



Mitchell Institute for Education and Health Policy 300 Queen Street, Melbourne, Victoria 3000 +61 3 9919 1820 info@mitchellinstitute.org.au <u>mitchellinstitute.org.au</u>